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Dear Ms. Marconi

Re: Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Waterloo North Hydro Inc. Application
for leave to amalgamate pursuant to Section 86(1)(c) of the Ontario Energy
Board Act, 1998 and related relief.
OEB File No. EB-2022-0006

We have been retained as counsel to Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. (“KWHI”) and Waterloo North
Hydro Inc. (“WNHI”) (collectively referred to as the “Applicants”) in respect of the enclosed
application to the Ontario Energy Board (the “OEB”) for leave to amalgamate pursuant to Section
86(1)(c) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and related relief (the “Application”).

If the relief sought in the Application is granted, the Applicants intend to amalgamate to form a
consolidated local electricity distribution company with a name that is yet to be determined that
will serve over 157,000 customers in the City of Kitchener, the City of Waterloo, the Township of
Wellesley, the Township of Wilmot, and the Township of Woolwich.

This Application is the culmination of many months of negotiations and agreement between the
Applicants and their respective shareholders. The Application is informed by a four-week public
engagement effort undertaken by National Public Relations. No major community concerns arose
relating to this proposed merger.

The Application follows the Filing Requirements contained in the OEB’s January 19, 2016
Handbook to Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations (the “Handbook™) and
adheres to the principles of the OEB’s March 26, 2015 Report of the Board titled Rate-Making
Associated with Distributor Consolidation (the “Consolidation Policy”).

Relevance and Confidentiality

The Application includes supporting material that is required to be filed pursuant to the Filing
Requirements in the Handbook, including the “final legal documents to be used to implement the
proposed transaction.” In response to this requirement, the Applicants have included the Merger
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Participation Agreement that has been entered into by the Applicants, their respective parent
companies, and their municipal shareholders as Attachment | to the Application (the “MPA?”).

Certain elements of the MPA and the schedules thereto deal with matters that fall entirely outside
of the scope of the OEB’s considerations when assessing the “no harm” test as against the statutory
objectives set out in Section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998. This information is therefore
is not relevant to this Application. As such, certain sections of the MPA and attachments to it have
been redacted given that they are beyond the scope of this proceeding.

In an effort to be as fully transparent as possible, the Applicants have taken a conservative approach
to redactions. There are numerous sections and attachments to the MPA which have not been
redacted which are not relevant for the purpose of the “no harm” test and the OEB’s review of the
Application. The fact that such sections have not been redacted does not constitute an admission
that such sections are relevant.

Much of the information that is being redacted as not relevant is also commercially sensitive
information that would meet the Board’s test for confidential treatment under the OEB’s Practice
Direction on Confidential Filings last revised December 17, 2021 (the “Practice Direction”), due
to the potential harm that could result from the disclosure of the information. For example, the
Applicants have redacted the non-public financial statements of unregulated affiliates engaged in a
competitive business activity on the basis that it is not relevant to the “no harm” test. This same
information is deemed to be presumptively confidential pursuant to Appendix B of the Practice
Direction.

The redactions made to the MPA because of relevance are:

Pinpoint Title and Description Rationale Supporting Redaction

Section 1.1 | Defined Terms The discrete redactions of defined terms and
portions of defined terms in this Section are
not relevant to the Board’s no-harm test. In
addition, the redacted terms are
commercially sensitive as they relate to
names, dates and monetary valuations.

Sections Calculation of adjustments. The discrete redactions of specific

2.5@@)(1)(B) calculations in this Section are not relevant to

& the Board’s no-harm test. In addition, the

2.5(b)(1)(E) specifics of the calculation of adjustments for
the Applicants subsidiaries are commercially
sensitive.

Section Valuations and net balances of the | The discrete redactions of various monetary

2.5(c). Applicants subsidiaries. figures in this Section are not relevant to the

Board’s no-harm test. In addition the
specifics surrounding the valuations and net




BLG

Borden Ladner Gervais

balances of the Applicants subsidiaries are
commercially sensitive.

Section 4.4 | Legal and beneficial ownership of | The discrete redactions of the share structures
the Applicants subsidiaries. in this section are not relevant to the Board’s

no-harm test. In addition, the redacted
portions of this section refer to the beneficial
ownership of the Applicants subsidiaries
which are commercially sensitive in nature.

Sections ETA registration numbers of the | The discrete redactions of ETA registration

4.13(1) & | Applicants numbers in these sections are not relevant to

5.13(i) the Board’s no-harm test. In addition, the
specifics surrounding the Applicants ETA
registration numbers are commercially
sensitive in nature.

Sections Indebtedness, liabilities  or | The discrete redactions of monetary figures

4.15 & 5.15 | obligations owed to third parties. | in these sections are not relevant to the
Board’s no-harm test. In addition, the
redacted portions of the sections refer to
specific  monetary values that are
commercially sensitive in nature.

Section Legal and beneficial ownership of | The discrete redactions of share structures in

5.4(i), the Applicants subsidiaries. this section are not relevant to the Board’s
no-harm test. In addition, the redacted

Section portion of this section refers to the beneficial

5.4(9), ownership of the Applicants subsidiaries

) which is commercially sensitive in nature.

Section

5.4(h)

Sections Independent contractor | The discrete redactions of monetary figures

engagements. in these sections are not relevant to the

6.1(a)(ii)(A)
&

6.2(a)(ii)(A)

Board’s no-harm test. In addition, the
redaction portion of these sections refer to
monetary values which are commercially
sensitive.

Sections
84, 85 &
8.7(a)

Indemnities, limitations and time
limitations for indemnity claims.

The discrete redactions of monetary figures
and time periods in Sections 8.4 and 8.7(a),
and the redaction of Section 8.5 in its entirety
due to specifics surrounding indemnities are
not relevant to the Board’s no-harm test. The
redactions are commercially sensitive in that
they relate to monetary values, the
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Applicants indemnities and time periods
which are commercially sensitive.

Schedule Form of Shareholders Agreement | This schedule has been redacted in its

1.1 entirety as it is not relevant to the Board’s no-
harm test. The form of Agreement speaks to
the specific allocation of risk among the
various shareholders, which is commercially
sensitive.

Schedule Ilustrative example of | This schedule has been redacted in its

2.6(A)(IV) | Adjustments entirety as it is not relevant to the Board’s no-
harm test. In addition, the redactions are
commercially sensitive in that the schedule
provides illustrative examples of financial
adjustments of the Applicants.

Schedule Class A and B Special Share | The redactions of these sections of this

2.6(B), Redemption ~ Processes  and | schedule have been redacted as they discuss

section B.3 | Redemption Amounts. special share redemption processes which are

&  section not relevant to the Board’s no-harm test. The

C3 redactions are also commercially sensitive in
that they discuss the procedures surrounding
the redemption of the Class A and B Special
Shares of the Applicants.

Schedule KW Disclosure Schedule See below.

4.1

Schedule Waterloo  North  Disclosure | See below.

4.2 Schedule

Those redactions made because they are commercially sensitive are as described below. The
Applicants hereby request confidential treatment of these sections of the Application pursuant to
the Rules and the Practice Direction for the reasons stated.

MPA: Schedule 4.1 has been redacted in its entirety with the following three exceptions. Sub-
schedules 4.4 and 4.12 have been filed as Attachment M to the Application pursuant to Section
2.2.4 of the Filing Requirements for Consolidation Applications. The financial statements of KPC
in sub-schedule 4.12 have been redacted in their entirety as they are not relevant to the Board’s no-
harm test, and are commercially sensitive. Sub-schedule 4.10 contains information surrounding the
current corporate directors, which is readily available to the public with the exception of the discrete
redactions to the list of directors for KESI. The balance of the redacted information is not relevant
to the matters at issue in the Application. In addition, public release could cause harm to the
Applicants or their affiliates. These redactions are consistent with those in EB-2021-0280.
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Schedule 5.1 has been redacted in its entirety with the following three exceptions. Sub-schedule
5.4(j) is similar to the figure that is being filed as Attachment G pursuant to Section 2.2.2 of the
Filing Requirements for Consolidated Applications. Sub-schedule 5.10(b) contains information
surrounding the current corporate directors, which is readily available to the public, with the
exception of the discrete redactions to the list of the directors of Alliance Metering Solutions Inc.
Sub-schedule 5.12 are already being filed as Attachment N to the Application pursuant to Section
2.2.4 of the Filing Requirements for Consolidation Applications, with the exception of the initial
list of attachments and the financial statements of Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation. The
balance of the redacted information is not relevant to the matters at issue in the Application. In
addition, public release could cause harm to the Applicants or their affiliates. These redactions are
also consistent with those in EB-2021-0280.

The Applicants’ approach to redactions have been guided by the OEB’s Decision on Confidentiality
dated January 18, 2022 in EB-2021-0280 as well as the approach to relevance and confidentiality
that was used in EB-2018-0236.

All of the redactions are found in the MPA and its schedules. Since all of the redactions relate to
relevance, no additional materials are required to be filed at this time.

The Applicants further confirm that the evidence filed in support of the Application does not include
any personal information as defined in the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act
that is not otherwise redacted in accordance with rule 9A.01 of the Ontario Energy Board’s Rules
of Practice and Procedure and in accordance with Section 10 of the OEB’s Practice Direction on
Confidential Filings.

Yours Truly,

BORDEN LADNER GERVAIS LLP

Vellre.
(/
John Vellone

ljv
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1. Administrative

1.1  Application Overview

This is an application (“Application”) to the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB” or the “Board”)
for the approvals and relief necessary to effect the amalgamation of Kitchener-Wilmot
Hydro Inc. (“KWHI”) and Waterloo North Hydro Inc. (“WNHI") (collectively referred to as
the “Applicants” or the “Parties”) to form a new single local distribution company (“LDC”)
(referred to as “LDC MergeCo”) that will serve over 157,000 customers. The LDC
amalgamation is referred to in the Application as the “Proposed Transaction” or

“merger” further described in Section 3.1.

The Application is a culmination of many months of negotiations and agreement among
the Applicants, as defined below, and their shareholders and is reflective of the terms of

the merger approved by the five municipalities:

(i) The Corporation of the City of Kitchener;

(i) The Corporation of the Township of Wilmot;

(iif) The Corporation of the City of Waterloo;

(iv) The Corporation of the Township of Wellesley; and

(v) The Corporation of the Township of Woolwich.

This Application follows the Filing Requirements contained in the Board’s January 19,
2016 Handbook to Electricity Distributor and Transmitter Consolidations (the
“Handbook”) and adheres to the principles of the OEB’s March 26, 2015 Report of the
Board titled Rate-Making Associated with Distributor Consolidation (the “Consolidation
Policy”). The mapping of the Application’s contents to the Handbook’s Filing
Requirements is provided in Attachment A.

The details of the approvals and additional orders being sought through this Application

are provided in Section 3.2 below. The Applicants are requesting a written hearing.
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Upon completion of the Proposed Transaction, the share percentage ownership of the
holding company of LDC MergeCo will be as follows:

e The Corporation of the City of Kitchener — 53.39%

e The Corporation of the Township of Wilmot — 4.49%

e The Corporation of the City of Waterloo — 30.83%

e The Corporation of the Township of Woolwich — 8.51%
e The Corporation of the Township of Wellesley — 2.78%

The licensed service area of LDC MergeCo will be comprised of the current service areas
of KWHI and WNHI. This will result in a large contiguous service area within the Region
of Waterloo. A combined service area map is provided as Attachment B.

LDC MergeCo will adopt a new corporate name and brand which, over time, will replace

the current brand names: Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Waterloo North Hydro Inc.

A public engagement effort was launched on October 6, 2021, which ran for four weeks.
The holding companies retained the services of NATIONAL Public Relations (NATIONAL
PR) to assist with the public engagement, which included an online public information
meeting held on October 19, 2021, print advertisements, social media posts and the
launch of a dedicated microsite (www.connectinglocalpower.com). The microsite
provided details on the proposed merger, including a copy of the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU), frequently asked questions and the site was able to receive

guestions from the community.

At the conclusion of the dedicated public engagement period, NATIONAL PR wrote a
report (Attachment R) summarizing the input received. The overall conclusion can be
found on page 3, which reads: “All communications and public engagement activities
have been met with relatively positive community feedback, as well as fair and factual
media coverage. Based on interactions and questions received during the four-week
public engagement effort, we conclude that there are no major community concerns

related to this proposed merger.”


https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.connectinglocalpower.com%2F&data=04%7C01%7Capande%40wnhydro.com%7C564280a004b2425fe30908d9e1987711%7C5d214f318c2a48e89dedad7517e66f22%7C0%7C0%7C637788867205473288%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=h9x1NpOGdMjE7ldoWUk7YC8a%2Fbby7cLSUhGVlJwLRos%3D&reserved=0
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A key objective for the Proposed Transaction is ensuring levels of customer service,
safety and reliability that either meet or exceed existing levels, while maintaining stable,
competitive distribution rates. The Proposed Transaction will positively impact customers

and provide the following customer benefits:

e Stable distribution rates over the course of the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period,
as provided under the Price Cap Incentive Regulation (“PCIR”) methodology;

e A larger, local and municipally owned utility that will deliver cost synergies and
operational efficiencies; and,

e A larger utility that will have the capacity to modernize and adapt to future changes
in Ontario’s electricity sector, with the ability to dedicate resources to invest in

innovation and new technologies that address the needs of customers.

The merger of KWHI and WNHI demonstrates the benefits of voluntary consolidation
within the electricity sector in Ontario. The Proposed Transaction supports the OEB’s
Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity Distributors and the focus on
performance-based outcomes. This merger will promote the achievement of customer
focus, operational effectiveness, public policy responsiveness, and financial
performance. The merger will also promote a key element of the framework, which is to

focus on continuous improvement and increased efficiency in the distribution sector.
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1.2 Name of Applicants and Authorized Representatives

Applicant 1: Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
301 Victoria Street South
Kitchener ON N2G 4L2
Authorized Representative: Margaret Nanninga, MBA, CPA, CGA
VP Finance & CFO
Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
301 Victoria Street South
Kitchener ON N2G 4L2
519.749.6177

Email: mnanninga@kwhydro.ca

Applicant 2: Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
526 Country Squire Road
Waterloo ON N2J 4G8
Authorized Representative: Albert Singh, MBA, CPA, CGA
VP Finance & CFO
Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
526 Country Squire Road
Waterloo ON N2J 4G8
519.888.5542

Email: asingh@wnhydro.com
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Applicant 3: Kitchener Power Corp.
301 Victoria Street South
Kitchener ON N2G 4L2
Authorized Representative: Jerry Van Ooteghem, P. Eng.
President & CEO
Kitchener Power Corp.
301 Victoria Street South
Kitchener ON N2G 4L2
519.749.6180

Email: jvanooteghem@kwhydro.ca

Applicant 4: Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation
526 Country Squire Road
Waterloo ON N2J 4G8
Authorized Representative: Rene Gatien, P. Eng., MBA
President & CEO
Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation
526 Country Squire Road
Waterloo ON N2J 4G8
519.888.5544

Email: rgatien@wnhydro.com
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1.3 Counsel to the Applicant(s) and Authorized Representative

Applicant’s Legal Representative: Borden Ladner Gervais LLP
Bay Adelaide Centre, East Tower
22 Adelaide Street West
Toronto, ON, Canada

M5H 4E3
Primary Legal Contact: John A.D. Vellone

Telephone: 416.367.6730
Facsimile: 416.367.6749

Email: jvellone@blg.com

1.4  Description of Transaction

The Proposed Transaction involves the amalgamation of Kitchener Power Corp. (*KPC”)
and Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation (*WNHHC”) (the current holding
companies of the regulated utilities KWHI and WNHI) to form “Merged Holdco”.
Immediately following the amalgamation of Merged Holdco, KWHI and WNHI (the

regulated utilities) will amalgamate to form LDC MergeCo.

The Proposed Transaction will result in the Corporation of the City of Kitchener, the
Corporation of the Township of Wilmot, the Corporation of the City of Waterloo, the
Corporation of the Township of Woolwich, and the Corporation of the Township of
Wellesley collectively owning 100% of Merged Holdco, which in turn will own 100% of
LDC MergeCo.


mailto:jvellone@blg.com
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Subject to OEB approval, the Proposed Transaction is expected to occur on the first
business day of the second calendar month following the later of the date the OEB issues
its approval of the Application and the date the Competition Bureau issues its Competition
Act approval of the Proposed Transaction (collectively the “Approvals”) or if the
Approvals are received after August 31, 2022, the Proposed Transaction is expected to
occur on January 1, 2023.

This Application adheres to the principles of the Handbook and the Consolidation Policy.

The Consolidation Policy provides Board policy pronouncements pertaining to ratemaking

for associated distributor consolidation transactions. These include:

(1) an extension to the rate rebasing deferral period for a period of up to ten years

after the close of the transaction;

(2) a requirement for use of an earning sharing mechanism (“ESM”) where an

applicant seeks a deferral period greater than five years and up to ten years;

(3) utilization of the incremental capital investment module (“ICM”) by the

consolidating entity during the deferred rebasing period; and

(4) clarifications as to which incentive plan would apply to distributors who are party
to a merger, amalgamation, acquisition, and divestiture (“MAADS”) transaction
during any deferred rebasing period.

The Applicants have considered the intent and rely on these reports in both supporting

the merger and amalgamation of KWHI and WNHI and in developing this Application.
Section 3 provides a detailed description of the Proposed Transaction.
1.5 Certificates of Evidence

Please see Attachment C for the Certificates of Evidence from each of the Applicants.
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2. Description of the Business of the Parties to the Transaction

2.1  Description of the Business

Filing Reauirement: Describe the business of each of the parties to the proposed

transaction, including each of their electricity sector affiliates engaged in, or providing
goods or services to anyone engaged in, the generation, transmission, distribution or

retailing of electricity.

2.1.1 KWHI

KWHI is a municipally-owned electricity distribution company that provides electricity
distribution and related services to approximately 99,000 customers in the City of
Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot.

KWHI is 100% owned by KPC. KPC is a holding company owned 92.25% by the City of
Kitchener and 7.75% by the Township of Wilmot.

KWHI is dedicated to its local community and makes its decisions with customers as its
top priority. Below are the corporate mission and vision statements and the core values

shared by all KWHI employees:

Mission (this is who we are) - We care for our customers, community,
employees and stakeholders and provide value through the distribution of

safe, efficient and reliable power.

Vision (this is who we want to be) - Empowered by a dedicated and responsive
team, we will be the preferred energy provider and trusted partner for our

community.

Core Values - Financial responsibility, Safety, Customer Focus,
Communication, Accountability, Trust

KWHI has no electricity (generation, transmission or distribution) sector affiliates.
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2.1.2 WNHI

WNHI is a municipally-owned electricity distribution company that provides electricity
distribution and related services to approximately 58,000 customers within the City of

Waterloo, the Township of Woolwich and the Township of Wellesley.

WNHI is 100% owned by WNHHC. WNHHC is a holding company owned 73.2% by the
City of Waterloo, 20.2% by the Township of Woolwich and 6.6% by the Township of
Wellesley.

WNHI's Purpose, Mission and Vision define the organization and guide strategic planning:

Purpose — Why we exist (the anchor of why we were created) - Delivering
electricity efficiently to our customers

Mission — What business are we in (may change over time but still anchored to
purpose) - To be of service to our customers by delivering electricity to

homes and businesses in our communities —reliably, safely, 24 x 7.

Vision — What we want to be like in the future - Our vision is to be the flexible,
sustainable distribution platform for connecting consumers and producers

of electricity and be the trusted energy advisor of choice for our customers.

Core Values - Respect, Safety and Environmental Stewardship, Service,
Commitment to Excellence, Teamwork and Collaboration, and Responsible

and Accountable

WNHI has a Unit Sub-Metering Provider electricity affiliate — Alliance Metering Solutions.

See section 2.5 for a description.

KWHI and WNHI’'s mission, vision and core values align very closely to the performance
outcomes identified by the OEB on its Scorecard that each LDC should strive to achieve
— Customer Focus, Operational Effectiveness, Public Policy Responsiveness, and

Financial Performance.
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2.2 Service Area

Filing Reguirement: Describe the geographic territory served by each of the parties to

the proposed transaction, including each of their affiliates, if applicable, noting whether
service area boundaries are contiguous or if not the relative distance between service

boundaries.

2.2.1 KWHI Service Area

KWHI’s service territory covers the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot with a
combined service area of 425 square kilometres that is one-third urban and two-thirds
rural. KWHI provides electrical distribution services to more than 99,000 residential and
commercial customers in its service area. It encompasses more than 23,000 poles,
approximately 1,000 km of overhead lines and 985 km of underground distribution

system.
A map of KWHI's distribution service territory is provided in Attachment B.

KWHI’s neighbouring utilities include Energy+, HONI and WNHI.

2.2.2 WNHI Service Area

WNHI's service territory covers the City of Waterloo, the Township of Wellesley, and the
Township of Woolwich with a combined contiguous service area of 683 square kilometres
that is ten percent urban and ninety percent rural. WNHI provides electrical distribution
services to more than 58,000 residential and commercial customers in its service area. It
encompasses more than 21,000 poles, approximately 1,100 km of overhead lines and

580 km of underground distribution system.
A map of WNHI's distribution service territory is provided in Attachment B.
WNHI's neighbouring utilities include Energy+, KWHI, and HONI.

KWHI and WNHI share a border in their current service territories. The new LDC MergeCo

will have a contiguous service area.
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2.3 Customer Information

Filing Reguirement: Describe the customers, including the number of customers in each

class, served by each of the parties to the proposed transaction.

Table 1 and Table 2 below summarize the total number of metered customers and

unmetered customers served by the Applicants as of December 31, 2020.

Table 1 - Customers by Rate Class

Customers by Rate Class KWHI WNHI

Residential 89,926 51,821
GS <50 kW 8,134 5,863
GS > 50 kW 965 753
Large User 1 1
Embedded Distributor 1 1
Total (Stand Alone) 99,027 58,439
Combined Total 157,466

Table 2 - Connections by Rate Class

Connections by Rate Class KWHI WNHI

Unmetered Scattered Load 913 537
Street Lighting 25,355 14,867
Total (Stand Alone) 26,268 15,404
Combined Total 41,672

2.4  Geographic Service Area

Filing Reauirement: Describe the proposed geographic service area of each of the

parties after completion of the proposed transaction.

See Section 2.2 above and the Applicant’s distribution licenses included as Attachment
D and E for a detailed description of each of the parties’ service territories. The proposed
service territory of LDC MergeCo represents the combination of the above-described

KWHI and WNHI service territories as shown in Attachment B.



Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
MAADs Application

EB-2022-0006

Filed: January 31, 2022

Page 16 of 58

Consistent with the nature of KWHI's and WNHI's service territory, LDC MergeCo’s
service territory will remain contiguous.

2.5 Corporate Relationship

Filing Requirement: Provide a corporate chart describing the relationship between each

of the parties to the proposed transaction and each of their respective affiliates.

See Attachment F for KPC’s corporate chart and Attachment G for WNHHC's corporate

chart.
KWHI

KWHlI is incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act and is 100% owned
by Kitchener Power Corp. KPC is a holding company that is owned 92.25% by The
Corporation of the City of Kitchener and 7.75% by The Corporation of the Township of
Wilmot.

KWHI is affiliated with Kitchener Energy Solutions Inc. (KESI). KESI is 100% owned by
KPC and provides non-regulated energy services, including streetlight maintenance.
KWHI provides certain corporate services, including accounting and the coordination of

materials relating to streetlight maintenance to KESI.

KPC also owns a 33.3% interest in Grand River Energy Solutions Corp. (GRE). GRE is a
generation and renewable energy solutions company who is focused on serving its’
customers with distributed energy resource solutions by tapping into the benefits of clean
energy technologies such as solar, combined heat and power, energy storage and electric
vehicle integration. The other owners of GRE are Energy+ (33.3%) and WNHHC (33.3%).
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WNHI

WNHI is incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act and is 100% owned
by Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation. WNHHC is a holding company that is
owned 73.2% by The Corporation of the City of Waterloo, 20.2% by The Corporation of
the Township of Woolwich, and 6.6% by The Corporation of the Township of Wellesley.

WNHI is affiliated with Alliance Metering Solutions Inc. (AMS). AMS is 100% owned by
WNHHC and is licensed by the OEB to provide electricity sub-metering services in the
province of Ontario. WNHI provides certain corporate services including accounting,

billing, customer service and meter maintenance to AMS.
WNHHC owns 33.3% of GRE.

WNHHC also owns 23.7% of Eyedro Green Solutions Inc. (Eyedro). Eyedro is a non-
regulated privately owned company with a focus on affordable energy management

products.

After the merger, Merged Holdco will have a 66.6% stake in GRE. There are currently no

shared service agreements between GRE and KWHI or WNHI.
2.6  Net Metering Threshold

Filing Requirement: If the proposed transaction involves the consolidation of two or

more distributors, please indicate the current net metering thresholds of the utilities
involved in the proposed transaction. The OEB will, in the absence of exceptional
circumstances, add together the kW threshold amounts allocated to the individual utilities
and assign the sum to the new or remaining utility. Applicants must indicate if there are
any special circumstances that may warrant the OEB using a different methodology to

determine the net metering threshold for the new or remaining utility.
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The most recent (2020) net metering thresholds of KWHI and WNHI and the summation
for the proposed combined entity are provided in Table 3. There are no special
circumstances to the Applicants’ knowledge that would warrant the OEB using a different

methodology to determine the net metering threshold for each utility.

Table 3 — Net Metering Threshold

Average Net Metering

System Peak | Threshold -
Utility (kW) 1% Rule (kW)
KWHI 347,643 3,476
WNHI 283,039 2,830
Combined Total 630,681 6,307
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3. Description of the Proposed Transaction

3.1 Proposed Transaction

Filing Requirement: Provide a detailed description of the proposed transaction.

On January 12, 2022, The Corporation of the City of Kitchener, The Corporation of the
Township of Wilmot, The Corporation of the City of Waterloo, The Corporation of the
Township of Woolwich, and The Corporation of the Township of Wellesley (collectively
the “Shareholders”), Kitchener Power Corp., Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc., Kitchener
Energy Services Inc., Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation, Waterloo North Hydro
Inc., and Alliance Metering Solutions Inc. approved and entered into a Merger
Participation Agreement (the “MPA”) (Attachment I) the effect of which, subject to OEB
and Competition Act approval, is the amalgamation of KPC and WNHHC to create
Merged Holdco, the amalgamation of KWHI and WNHI to create the LDC MergeCo, and
the shareholders intend to continue with AMS and KESI as separate corporations wholly
owned by the Merged Holdco (collectively, the “Proposed Transaction”), as further

detailed below.
The MPA currently contemplates the closing of the transaction on the later of:

0] the first business day of the second calendar month following receipt of OEB
approval and Competition Act approval; or

(i) if the OEB approval and Competition Act approval are received less than 14
days prior to the end of the applicable calendar month, the closing date will be
the first business day of the subsequent calendar month; or

(i)  if the OEB approval and Competition act approval are received after August 31,
2022, the closing date will be January 1, 2023.

3.1.1 Holdco Amalgamation

KPC and WNHHC will amalgamate on the closing date to form Merged Holdco, which will

continue as a corporation amalgamated under the laws of Ontario.
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Merged Holdco will issue fully paid and non-assessable Common Shares and Special
Shares in the capital of Merged Holdco upon completion of the Merged Holdco merger in

accordance with the terms of the MPA and as summarized in Table 4.

Table 4 - Equity and Voting Percentage Interest

Party Merged Holdco Equity & Voting %
Gity of Kitchener 0,225 Class A Spocal Shares 53.30%
Township of Wilmot 77:@&2522?22;%;215 4.49%
ciy o wateon
Township of Woolwich 210286552 sCsOngq;:ciSaTaSrﬁZres 8.51%
Township of Wellesley 665222522?233?&213 2.78%

3.1.2 LDC MergeCo Amalgamation

Following the merger of KPC and WNHHC, KWHI and WNHI will merge on the closing
date to form LDC MergeCo, which will continue as a corporation amalgamated under the
laws of Ontario and shall file articles of amalgamation giving effect to the amalgamation
in accordance with the Ontario Business Corporations Act (OBCA). LDC MergeCo will
be wholly owned by Merged Holdco following the completion of the Proposed

Transaction.
3.2 Leave Being Sought

Filing Requirement: Provide a clear statement on the leave being sought by the

applicant, referencing the particular section or sections of the Ontario Energy Board Act,
1998.

The Applicants hereby apply to the Board for the following Order and Approvals:

1) Leave for Merged Holdco to acquire control of KWHI and WNHI pursuant to
section 86(2)(b) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 (the “OEB Act”);



2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
MAADs Application

EB-2022-0006

Filed: January 31, 2022

Page 21 of 58

Leave to amalgamate KWHI and WNHI to form LDC MergeCo pursuant to
section 86(1)(c) of the OEB Act;

The issuance of a Distribution License to LDC MergeCo pursuant to section 60
of the OEB Act and the cancellation of the Distribution Licenses of KWHI (ED-
2002-0573) and WNHI (ED-2002-0575) pursuant to section 77(5) of the OEB
Act upon the issuance of the Distribution License to LDC MergeCo;

Leave to transfer the rate orders of KWHI and WNHI to LDC MergeCo pursuant
to section 18 of the OEB Act, which would include the continuation of related
distribution rates and low voltage rates associated with Embedded Distributors;
Leave for LDC MergeCo to track costs to the existing regulatory and deferral
and variance accounts currently approved by the Board for each service area
and to seek disposition of their balances at a future date; and

Leave for LDC MergeCo to track the grossed-up PILs impact of the variance
between the unsmoothed accelerated depreciation approach agreed to by
WNHI in its 2021 Cost of Service Settlement Proposal (EB-2020-0059), and
the effective PILs impact of the phase-out/elimination of the accelerated CCA
anticipated to begin after 2023 and until LDC MergeCo’s rebasing. The
differences, if any, would be included in DVA Account 1592, PILS and Tax
Variances Sub-Account CCA Changes for the WNHI service area only.

Leave to defer rebasing for 10 years following closing of the Proposed
Transaction (the “10-year Deferred Rebasing Period”), following which LDC
MergeCo intends to prepare a rate harmonization proposal that will harmonize
the rates in the KWHI rate zone with the WNHI rate zone over a further 10 years
following the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period (the “Rate Harmonization
Period”). This is set out in Section 9.3 of the MPA attached as Attachment | to
this Application.
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8) Leave pursuant to Section 78 of the OEB Act to maintain two separate
distribution rate zones: one for the KWHI service area and one for the WNHI
service area for both the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period and the Rate
Harmonization Period (the “Special Request”) further to Section 9.3 of the
MPA.

The Applicants acknowledge that in accordance with the Handbook distributors are
typically not required to file details of their rate-setting plans, including any proposals for
rate harmonization, as part of this Application because these issues will be addressed at

the time of rate rebasing of the consolidated entity.

KWHI and WNHI respectfully request that this Application be heard by way of a written

hearing.
3.3 Consideration

Filing Requirement: Provide details of the consideration (e.g. cash, assets, shares) to

be given and received by each of the parties to the proposed transaction.

The Proposed Transaction involves the exchange and issuance of shares. Ownership of
the voting shares of Merged Holdco is set out in Section 3.1 above. The only cash
exchange arising from the merger that may be necessary will occur in the form of typical
post-closing adjustments, which are described in the MPA. These post-closing

adjustments will have no impact on the ownership of the voting shares of Merged Holdco.
3.4 Legal Documents

Filing Requirement: Provide all final legal documents to be used to implement the

proposed transaction.

A copy of the MPA that governs and contemplates all the steps of the Proposed

Transaction is provided as Attachment I. As the MPA contains:

(1) personal information;
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(i) confidential information, as this term is understood pursuant to the Board’s
Practice Direction on Confidential Filings; or

(i) is not relevant for the purposes of this Application and the “No Harm” test,

a redacted version of the MPA has been filed for inclusion on the public record. An
unredacted version of the MPA is being filed with the Board together with a request by
the Applicants for confidential treatment of the redacted sections in accordance with the

Board Practice Direction on Confidential Filings.
3.5 Resolutions

Filing Requirement: Provide a copy of appropriate resolutions by parties such as parent

companies, municipal council/s, or any other entities that are required to approve a
proposed transaction confirming that all these parties have approved the proposed

transaction.

Copies of all relevant Board of Directors’ and Municipal Councils’ resolutions are included
as Attachment J.

4. Impact of the Proposed Transaction

Filing Requirement: In reviewing an application, the OEB will apply the no harm test as
outlined in the Handbook. Applicants are required to provide the following evidence to
demonstrate the impact of the proposed transaction with respect to the OEB'’s first two

statutory objectives.

4.1 Objective 1 — Protect consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy,

reliability, and quality of electricity service.
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4.1.1 Consumer Impact

Filing Requirement: Indicate the impact the proposed transaction will have on

consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity

service.
The proposed transaction is expected to benefit and protect customers as follows:

e Over the course of the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period, customers in the KWHI
and WNHI service areas will benefit from stable distribution rates, as provided
under PCIR, that are projected to increase at less than the rate of inflation over the
10 years following the merger and are lower than what they would have been on
a stand-alone basis in the absence of the Proposed Transaction;

e Real cost synergies and operational efficiencies, as well as economies of scale
over a larger customer base, will result in a lower future cost structure after the 10-
year Deferred Rebasing Period. Customers will benefit from the sustained
synergies from the merger, which will lower distribution rates at the next rebasing
application, in comparison to the stand-alone basis;

e LDC MergeCo is committed to maintaining the highest quality, reliability, and
adequacy of electricity service across both service areas;

e Customers will benefit from a larger, local and publicly owned utility that will have
the capacity to modernize and adapt to significant changes in Ontario’s electricity
sector; and

e Customers will benefit by LDC MergeCo having additional resources to invest in
innovation and new technologies that address their needs.
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4.1.1.1 Price

The Proposed Transaction is expected to deliver distribution rate savings to customers in
the two service territories. LDC MergeCo plans to file an annual PCIR application with
two distribution rate zones (the previous KWHI and WNHI service territories) during the
10-year Deferred Rebasing Period. Under the PCIR, customers are expected to receive
a distribution rate increase that is less than inflation over this period. In the absence of
the Proposed Transaction, under the stand-alone basis, both KWHI and WNHI would
rebase their distribution rates under the Cost of Service methodology during the 10-year
Deferred Rebasing Period (KWHI in 2025 and 2030 and WNHI in 2026 and 2031). Without
the benefit of the projected costs savings and synergies realized from the Proposed
Transaction, as outlined below, projected rate increases under the stand-alone basis are

expected to be greater than under the PCIR.

Following the Cost-of-Service application in 2032, LDC MergeCo proposes to maintain
two separate distribution rate zones and gradually harmonize distribution rates to
customers in both rate zones over a ten-year period (referred to herein as the Rate
Harmonization Period). The Applicants intend to propose in 2032 a plan to harmonize
distribution rates, since the phase-in of distribution rates is intended to minimize rate and
bill impacts to customers in the former KWHI service territory. Customer rates will be
carefully harmonized to ensure that all customers benefit from the merger as compared

to where they would have been had the LDCs operated in status quo.
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4.1.1.2 Adequacy, Reliability and Quality of Electricity Service

The Handbook provides that in considering the impact of a proposed transaction on the
quality and reliability of electricity service, and whether the “no harm” test has been met,
the OEB will be informed by the metrics provided by the distributor in its annual reporting
to the OEB and published in its annual scorecard. The OEB’s Report of the Board:
Electricity Distribution Systems Reliability Measures and Expectations, issued on August
25, 2015 (the “Reliability Report”), additionally sets out the OEB’s expectations on the
level of reliability performance by distributors. In the Reliability Report, the OEB notes that
continuous improvement will be demonstrated by a distributor’s ability to deliver improved
reliability performance without an increase in costs, or to maintain the same level of

performance at a reduced cost.

Ensuring levels of customer service, safety, and reliability that either meet or exceed
existing levels for each of KWHI and WNHI, while maintaining stable, competitive
distribution rates, is a key objective for the Proposed Transaction.

LDC MergeCo is committed to maintaining and enhancing the quality, reliability, and
adequacy of electricity service for its customers across both service areas. LDC MergeCo
will continue the strong culture of customer service that is currently provided by KWHI
and WNHI. LDC MergeCo will aim to maintain or improve existing service levels while
adopting best practices and achieving efficiencies in its operations. LDC MergeCo will
continue to focus on reliability, bill accuracy, first call resolution, responsiveness to
customers’ needs and concerns, and general customer service. Additionally, LDC
MergeCo will incorporate feedback from customers to set its performance targets.

LDC MergeCo will maintain two dedicated operations centres servicing a larger territory:

0] 301 Victoria Street South (Kitchener, Ontario) Operations Centre; and
(i) 526 Country Squire Road (Waterloo, Ontario) Operations Centre.

These Operations Centres will continue to be used for providing engineering, construction

and maintenance, material handling and logistics, fleet, and metering services.
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The Operations staff that currently respond to outages and power quality issues will
continue to service the larger territory of LDC MergeCo. It is expected that LDC MergeCo
will maintain or improve existing response times, as overall staffing levels are not
expected to change in this area. In fact, during large-scale outages, LDC MergeCo will
have the ability to draw upon a much larger number of Operations staff for storm
restoration efforts. In addition to Operations staff, LDC MergeCo expects to maintain a
customer service presence at both Operations Centres where customers can visit to pay

bills or meet with staff to set up accounts or resolve problems.

The Proposed Transaction provides an opportunity for LDC MergeCo to review and
implement standardized operational and safety practices aligned to best practices. The
adoption of standardized policies and procedures will ensure a consistent experience for
businesses, developers, and contractors who currently operate in the service areas, and
most notably will eliminate the confusion of having two local distribution companies
servicing the cities of Kitchener and Waterloo and surrounding areas. Standardized
processes for the expansion of the distribution system are expected to facilitate economic

growth, as developers will be serviced by one utility.

Customers will also benefit from being served by a larger utility that will have expanded
resources, including people and technology to improve system reliability and power

guality, as well as the monitoring and reporting of these performance indicators.
SAIDI/SAFI

The System Average Interruption Duration Index (“SAIDI”), the average outage duration
for each customer served, is commonly used as a reliability indicator for electricity utilities.
The System Average Interruption Frequency Index (“SAIFI”), the average number of

interruptions that a customer would experience, is also a key reliability indicator.
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LDC MergeCo is expected to maintain and/or improve upon the five-year average
reliability indices and the OEB Customer Service Standard metrics for customers. Each
of the service areas has unique distribution system characteristics and has capital and
maintenance plans based on sound asset management strategies that address specific

needs, including addressing reliability issues.
The five-year historical reliability metrics for KWHI and WNHI are provided in Table 5.

Table 5 — SAIDI and SAIFI

2016 = 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020
SAIDI
KWHI 1.11 0.92 0.70 1.02 0.53
WNHI 0.71 0.76 0.92 0.85 0.80
SAIFI
KWHI 1.11 1.03 0.97 1.05 0.92
WNHI 1.15 1.50 1.32 1.29 1.02

The 2020 Scorecards for KWHI and WNHI are Included as Attachments K and L

respectively.

4.1.2 Cost Structure Analysis

Filing Requirement: Provide a year over year comparative cost structure analysis for

the proposed transaction, comparing the costs of the utilities post transaction and in the
absence of the transaction.

As the Board notes in the Handbook, a simple comparison of current rates between
consolidating distributors does not reveal the potential for lower-cost delivery. For these
reasons, the OEB will assess the underlying cost structures of the consolidating utilities
and consider the impact of a transaction on the cost structure of consolidating entities

both now and in the future.
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To demonstrate “no harm” to customers with respect to price, the Applicants must provide
evidence that it is reasonably expected that the underlying cost structure to serve

customers following the LDC merger will be no higher than it otherwise would have been.

LDC MergeCo will be focused on reducing operating expenditures, and estimates that

these savings will be realized primarily through costs synergies in the following areas:

e Optimization and reduction of staffing levels, expected to be achieved primarily
through planned retirements; and natural attrition;

e Reduction in corporate governance costs, with the consolidation of two boards of
directors into a single board of directors;

e Reduction in information technology costs, such as hardware and software
maintenance fees as a result of combining key information systems and reducing
third party support costs;

e Reduction in future regulatory costs and audits associated with fulfilling regulatory
requirements, including the preparation and filing of regulatory applications,
including Cost of Service applications; and

e Reduction in overall financing and prudential costs as a result of a strong credit

profile and capital structure of LDC MergeCo.

4.1.2.1 Operating, Maintenance and Administrative Savings

The Applicants estimate that the Proposed Transaction will result in annual Operating,
Maintenance and Administrative (“OM&A”) cost savings of approximately $3.7MM by year
11 after the Transaction close. These cost savings are further summarized below in Table

6. Table 7 shows the OM&A cost per customer for the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period.

As outlined in Section 4.2.2, incremental OM&A integration and implementation costs are
expected to be approximately $4.3MM. These incremental costs will be funded through

the annual OM&A savings generated.
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To recover the incremental integration and implementation costs associated with the
Proposed Transaction, the Applicants are relying on the synergistic efficiencies and cost
savings over the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period. This approach is consistent with the

Consolidation Policy.
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($000's)

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032
KWHI $ 20501 |$ 21025|$% 21562 |$ 22113 |$ 22677 |$ 23257 |$% 23851 |$ 24460 |$ 25084 |$% 25725 |% 26,382
WNHI $ 15890 |9% 16,234 |$ 16586 |$ 16945|$% 17312 |$ 17687 |$ 18070 | $ 18461 |$ 18,861 |$ 19270 |$ 19,687
Total (Stand-Alone) $ 36391 |$% 37259 |$% 38147 |$ 39057 |% 39989 (% 40943 |$ 41920 |$ 42921 |$ 43946 |$ 44995 | $ 46,069
MergeCo $ 36089 |$% 35720 $% 35009 $ 35856 |% 36,724 |$ 37613 |$ 38523 |$ 39456 |$ 40411 |$ 41390 | $ 42,392
Net Costs / (Synergies) $ (302) $ (1538)|$ (3139 $ (3201)$ (3265)|$ (3331)$ (3397)$ (3.465)|$ (3535)|$ (3605)|$ (3.677)

Table 7 - Projected OM&A Cost per Customer

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032
KWHI $ 207 1 $ 208 | $ 210 | $ 2111 $ 213 | $ 2141 $ 216 | $ 218 | $ 219 | $ 2211 $ 222
WNHI $ 272 1 $ 274 | $ 276 | $ 278 | $ 281 | $ 283 | $ 285 | $ 288 | $ 290 | $ 292 | $ 295
Total (Stand-Alone) $ 231 | $ 233 | $ 234 | $ 236 [ $ 238 | $ 240 | $ 241 | $ 243 | $ 245 | $ 247 | $ 249
MergeCo $ 229 | $ 223 | $ 215 | $ 217 1 $ 218 | $ 220 $ 222 1'$ 223 | $ 2251 $ 2271 $ 229
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4.1.2.2 Capital Expenditures

Net cost savings related to capital investments over the 10-year Deferred Rebasing
Period are not expected to be material and therefore have not been included within the
analysis of the Proposed Transaction. It is expected such adjustments would relate
primarily to the General Plant investment category, with the planned “distribution system”
investments remaining consistent with each community’s needs without the Proposed

Transaction.

Certain long-term planned capital investments included in the capital plans of KWHI and

WNHI may be avoided or reduced as part of the Proposed Transaction.

Subject to further evaluation and due diligence to be undertaken by the integration

planning teams, examples of avoided or reduced capital investments may include:

e Future upgrades to two separate Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) systems;
e Future upgrades to two separate websites; and

e Consolidation of other network and cyber security infrastructure.
Other areas for potential capital expenditure synergies in the future include:

e Optimization of the vehicle fleet, including the size of the fleet required and the
standardization of vehicles; and
e Consolidation and optimization of inventory levels and increased purchasing

power of a larger entity.

LDC MergeCo anticipates that cash flow savings from the avoidance of capital
investments identified above will be required to fund the information system technology
integration and implementation costs during the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period.

As a result, the annual capital investments under the Proposed Transaction are forecast
to be the same as the sum of the individual capital plans under a stand-alone basis. Total
gross and net capital expenditures over the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period are
summarized in Tables 8 and 9.
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Table 8 - Projected Gross Capital Expenditures — LDC MergeCo

($000's)
KWHI $ 25835 |$% 26442 |$ 27,112 |$ 27654 |$ 28207 ($ 28,771 |$ 29347 |$ 29933 (% 30532 |$ 31,143 |$ 31,766
WNHI $ 20945 |% 20636 |$ 20,203 |$ 20,227 |$ 20,632 |$ 21045|$ 21465 |$% 21895|$ 22333 |$% 22,779 | $ 23,235
MergeCo $ 46,780 |$ 47079 |$ 47315($ 47881 |$ 48839 |$ 49816 (% 50812 |$ 51828 % 52,865|$% 53,922 |$ 55,001

Table 9 - Projected Net Capital Expenditures — LDC MergeCo

($000’s)

KWHI $ 22330 |$ 23088 |$ 23805 |$% 24431 |$ 25028 |$ 25615 |$ 26376 |$ 27,066 |$ 27,767 |$ 28481 |$ 29,207
WNHI $ 19128 |$ 19059 |$ 18410 |$ 18448 |$ 19037 |$ 19464 |$ 19899 |$ 20344 |$ 20,797 |$ 21259 | $ 21,731
MergeCo $ 41458 |$ 42,147 |$ 42215|$ 42879 |$ 44065|$ 45079 |$ 46,275 |$ 47,409 |$ 48564 |$ 49,740 | $ 50,938
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Any net capital cost savings achieved during the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period will
ultimately benefit customers through lower depreciation and amortization expense and

return on rate base in the years following rebasing.

4.1.2.3 Distribution Revenue Trend

Figure 1 illustrates the customer benefits of the Proposed Transaction in terms of LDC
MergeCo distribution revenue requirement. Benefits to customers versus the stand-alone
basis begin to accrue in 2025, via the avoided incremental revenues associated with a
planned KWHI COS in 2025 and a planned WNHI COS in 2026. Going forward from that
year, the gap between the total stand-alone scenario revenues and LDC MergeCo
scenario revenues widens over time with further avoided COS increases. Following the
end of the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period, the net cost savings achieved through the
Proposed Transaction are passed on to customers in the form of lower distribution
revenue requirements and customer rates. The revenue requirement under the stand-
alone basis is the combined revenue requirement of KWHI and WNHI in the absence of

the Proposed Transaction.

Figure 1 - Distribution Revenue Trend
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Overall, the Proposed Transaction is expected to deliver lower distribution costs to LDC
MergeCo customers of approximately 3.1% through the 10-year Deferred Rebasing

Period and 4.5% following the transfer of the merger benefits to customers in year 11.

Figures 2 and 3 illustrate the distribution revenue per customer for each of KWHI and
WNHI under the stand-alone basis compared to the Proposed Transaction. The
distribution revenue per customer in each of the KWHI and WNHI service areas is
expected to be lower as a result of the amalgamation compared to the stand-alone basis,

and clearly demonstrates a benefit to customers in both service areas.

Figure 2 — KWHI Distribution Revenue per Customer
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Figure 3 — WNHI Distribution Revenue per Customer
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The Applicants note that the long-term forecasts for total revenue in year 11, following
rate rebasing, have been developed based on currently reasonable inflation and growth
assumptions (as well as projections for the sustained productivity savings). The forecast
assumptions do not consider changes such as, but not limited to:

0] higher than expected inflation levels;

(i) mandatory regulatory or government policy changes requiring material cost
increases; or

(i) other items which could normally place upwards pressure on the costs of LDC
MergeCo.

In most cases, changes of this nature would place similar cost pressures on the
Applicants in the stand-alone scenario; however, the Proposed Transaction may increase
LDC MergeCo’s ability to address such changes.
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In summary, under the Proposed Transaction, a sustainable reduction to the underlying
cost structure of LDC MergeCo will be achieved through annual OM&A cost reductions
of approximately $3.7MM or 8% lower costs at the time of rebasing as compared to the
stand-alone basis, in addition to any avoided capital costs that would be achieved through
the Proposed Transaction. These underlying cost reductions will be passed through to
customers at rebasing following the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period.

4.1.3 OM&A Cost per Customer

Filing Requirement: Provide a comparison of the OM&A cost per customer per year

between the consolidating distributors.

Table 10 provides a comparison of the OM&A Cost per Customer for each of KWHI and
WNHI based on the OEB’s 2020 Electricity Distributors Yearbook.

Table 10 — OM&A Cost per Customer — 2020

OM&A # OM&A Cost per ECHCIITEL Y
($000°s) | Customers * Customer VY CREs B

Customer
KWHI $ 21,730 99,026 | $ 219.43 | $ 519
WNH $ 14,453 58,438 | $ 24732 | $ 797
Ontario Average $ 32444 | $ 832

*# of Customers includes Residential, GS<, GS> and Large Users

Annually, the OEB benchmarks Ontario electricity distributors in terms of cost
performance. Each distributor is assigned to one of five cohorts, with the best cost
performers assigned to Cohort 1 and the worst to Cohort 5. The rankings are based on
an annual report by the Pacific Economics Group, which uses econometric modelling to

generate total cost benchmarking in order to rank the cost efficiency of each distributor.

On August 27, 2021, the OEB released the 2020 Benchmarking results. KWHI continued
to be ranked in Cohort 2 and WNHI continued to be ranked in Cohort 3.
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4.1.4 Change of Control

Filing Requirement: Confirm whether the proposed transaction will cause a change of

control of any of the transmission or distribution system assets, at any time, during or by
the end of the transaction.

Under the Proposed Transaction, LDC MergeCo will be wholly owned by Merged Holdco.
This entity will in turn be owned collectively by the Municipalities of Kitchener, Waterloo,
Wellesley, Wilmot and Woolwich by the percentage amounts set out above in Section

3.1. The Post-Proposed Transaction corporate chart is available in Attachment H.

4.1.5 System Operations

Filing Requirement: Describe how the distribution or transmission systems within the

service areas will be operated.

During the merger evaluation process, the Applicants identified key merger objectives

and principles for the Proposed Transaction:

e Customer Service
0 To provide value to customers through increased efficiencies and strong
customer service
o0 To preserve local focus
0 To continue to be highly responsive to the needs of customers
o0 Create opportunities for innovation for the benefit of customers
e Employees
o0 Fair and equitable treatment for employees
o Follow a strong set of core values, including workplace safety, high
customer service standards and improved productivity
o Consistent and transparent two-way communication
e Community
o Local focus facilitating economic development and needs in the

communities of the combined service territory
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o0 Building and maintaining sustainable infrastructure
0 Maintaining a local presence
e Continued responsible and sound governance
e Financial Strength
0 Achieve operating efficiencies and synergies to enhance shareholder value

and mitigate rate increases for customers.

To achieve these objectives, the Applicants recognize that there must be a focus on
optimizing operational processes, on ensuring sufficient levels of skilled employees and
on providing services in a manner that is responsive to customers’ interests and

preferences.

LDC MergeCo will ensure levels of customer service, safety, and reliability that either
meet or exceed existing levels for each of KWHI and WNHI while maintaining stable,

competitive distribution rates.

Service Area

LDC MergeCo service area will encompass the cities of Kitchener, Waterloo, and the
townships of Wellesley, Wilmot and Woolwich. LDC MergeCo will be a contiguous area
and combining resources will lead to improved restoration times in outage situations and

improved service quality indicators.

Employees

KWHI and WNHI regard their employees as valuable resources. The success of the
merger will be the result of the engagement and efforts of its workers. LDC MergeCo is
committed to treating employees fairly and creating opportunities for employees. KWHI
and WNHI recognize the institutional and specialized knowledge that their employees
have, and the importance of retention. Through transitional planning and integration, the
consolidated business functions will be maintained with well-trained and knowledgeable
staff. Reductions to achieve cost savings will be accomplished primarily through

retirements, natural attrition through the transition period.
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KWHI and WNHI regard their employees as valuable resources. The success of the
merger will be the result of the engagement and efforts of its workers. LDC MergeCo is
committed to treating employees fairly and creating opportunities for employees. KWHI
and WNHI recognize the institutional and specialized knowledge that their employees
have, and the importance of retention. Through transitional planning and integration, the
consolidated business functions will be maintained with well-trained and knowledgeable
staff. Reductions to achieve cost savings will be accomplished primarily through
retirements, natural attrition and not filling some vacant positions through the transition

period.

The current head office locations and operations centres of KWHI and WNHI are close to
each other, and any staff impacts from work relocations are expected to be minimal.
Relocation of operations staff will be minimized given the plan to maintain two operation

centres.

Operation Centres

KWHI and WNHI will maintain service centres in both service areas into the future to
maintain and enhance current customer service levels. The focus will be to maintain the
current community relationships and the excellent customer service available in both

territories. Response times for outages and emergencies are expected to be enhanced.

LDC MergeCo will have two service centres, 301 Victoria Street South in Kitchener, and
526 Country Squire Road in Waterloo. These operation centres will continue to be used
for providing construction and maintenance facilities, material handling and logistics, fleet
and metering services. Most operations staff will remain in the communities that they
currently serve. In a period of a large-scale outage in the service area, LDC MergeCo
will have the ability to draw on a much larger number of operations staff for restoration

efforts.
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Customer Service

Customer service is expected to continue with counter service in both service territories.
LDC MergeCo is committed to continuing the strong culture of customer service across
both of its service territories. LDC MergeCo is targeting to improve on existing service
levels while adopting best practices and achieving efficiencies in its operations. The focus
will continue to be on billing accuracy, first contact resolution and other customer service
metrics. Performance targets for customer service will be set using surveys, feedback

received from customers, OEB standards and benchmarking data.

Control Room

LDC MergeCo is committed to maintaining and enhancing the quality, reliability and
adequacy of electricity service for its customers across both service territories. LDC
MergeCo plans to transition to a single centralized 24/7 control room with adequate
staffing levels. With a consolidated control room, LDC MergeCo expects to improve
reliability and quality of service by minimizing the duration of outages.

Engineering Services

Engineering services is expected to continue to be provided in both locations to continue
to provide support to field staff and local customer service and to respond to expected
customer growth in each service territory.

Information System Technology

The Applicants are committed to ensuring a stable, secure information technology
infrastructure environment to sustain the operations of the LDC MergeCo, while at the
same time maximizing operating synergies. There will be an integration of enterprise
security to address cyber security risks informed by best practices and the OEB’s Cyber

Security Framework.
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It is also expected that the costs of fully implementing all of the required components of
the Cyber Security Framework will be lower under the Proposed Transaction through the
sharing of costs under a single entity for initiatives such as policy and procedure
development, staff training programs, specialized cyber security software and third-party

monitoring and auditing.

KWHI and WNHI currently utilize two different systems for Customer Information (CIS)
and Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP). Combining to a common platform will result in

lower costs for customers by not maintaining duplicate systems.

4.2 Objective 2 — Promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness and

facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry.

4.2.1 Efficiencies

Filing Requirement: Indicate the impact that the proposed transaction will have on

economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness (in the distribution or transmission of
electricity), identifying the various aspects of utility operations where the applicant expects

sustained operational efficiencies (both quantitative and qualitative).

The Applicants have estimated total OM&A savings, net of transition costs, of
approximately $28.8MM over the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period. The sustained
OM&A savings are estimated to be approximately $3.5MM to $3.7MM per vyear,
commencing in year five after the Transaction close and beyond, driven principally by the

integration of back-office and centralized functions.

As described previously in Section 4.1.2.1, LDC MergeCo will be focused on reducing
operating expenditures, and estimates that these savings will be realized primarily

through costs synergies in the following areas:

e Optimization and reduction of staffing levels, expected to be achieved through
planned retirements, and natural attrition;
e Reduction in corporate governance costs, with the consolidation of two boards of

directors into a single board of directors;
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e Reduction in information technology costs, such as hardware and software
maintenance fees as a result of combining key information systems and reducing
third party support costs;

e Reduction in future regulatory costs and audits associated with fulfilling regulatory
requirements, including the preparation and filing of regulatory applications,
including COS applications;

e Elimination of duplicate and/or overlapping third-party administrative services such
as legal, auditing, banking, and consulting services; and

e Reduction in overall financing costs as a result of a strong credit profile and capital
structure of LDC MergeCo.

These operating savings will benefit customers through lower rates than on a stand-alone

basis, as well as provide local and community benefits.

The merger of KWHI and WNHI demonstrates the benefits of voluntary consolidation
within the electricity sector in Ontario. The Proposed Transaction supports the OEB’s
Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity Distributors, and the focus on
performance-based outcomes. This merger will promote the achievement of customer
focus, operational effectiveness, public policy responsiveness, and financial
performance. As well, it will promote a key element of the framework, which is the focus

on continuous improvement and increased efficiency in the distribution sector.

4.2.2 Incremental Costs

Filing Requirements: Identify all incremental costs that the parties to the proposed

transaction expect to incur which may include incremental transaction costs (e.g. legal,
regulatory), incremental merged costs (e.g. employee severances), and incremental
ongoing costs (e.g. purchase and maintenance of new IT systems). Explain how the
consolidated entity intends to finance these costs.

The Applicants have and will incur incremental costs in respect of the Proposed

Transaction, including transaction costs and integration and implementation costs.
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Transaction costs include, but are not limited to:

e Due diligence on the part of all parties;

e Negotiating the terms of the Proposed Transaction, MPA, and related agreements;

e All regulatory, legal and statutory reviews to receive necessary regulatory
approvals; and

e Third-party financial and independent expert valuation services.

The Applicants engaged joint legal and financial advisors to facilitate the Proposed
Transaction. Each of the shareholders of KWHI and WNHI retained its own independent
legal and financial advisors. The transaction costs are borne by each of the Applicants
and are not recoverable from customers through electricity distribution rates. In addition,
such costs will not be carried over as costs to LDC MergeCo and are not included in the

integration and implementation costs summarized below.
Integration and implementation costs include, but are not limited to:

() Human resources related costs, including transition planning and execution,
incremental staffing costs related to implementing the integration plans, and
employee training costs associated with systems, processes, and policies;

(ii) Integration of system software, hardware and standardizations;

(iif) Legal and regulatory costs associated with the Application and the LDC merger;

(iv) Brand development and implementation, which includes the development of a new
corporate name and logo, as well as associated changes to operating and physical
assets (e.g. signage, stationery, facilities, fleet, etc.); and

(v) Communication costs associated with the development and execution of customer

and other stakeholder communications at various stages of transition.
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The total integration and OM&A implementation costs are estimated at approximately
$4.3MM. These costs will be financed through the anticipated productivity savings
expected from the merger during the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period. These costs will
not be included in the LDC MergeCo’s revenue requirement and will not be funded by
customers. The 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period will allow LDC MergeCo to retain
synergy savings to offset these costs and provide shareholder incentives to undertake

the merger while protecting the interests of customers.

4.2.3 Valuation

Filing Requirements: Provide a valuation of any assets or shares that will be transferred

in the proposed transaction. Describe how this value was determined.

In MAADs applications involving LDC acquisitions, the OEB considers whether the
purchase price premium to be paid will have an adverse impact on the financial viability
of the acquirer distributor. This consideration is not relevant to the Proposed Transaction
since the merger of KWHI and WNHI involves the exchange of existing shares for new
shares in the merged entity, LDC MergeCo. The financing of the transaction costs and
incremental integration costs to implement the Proposed Transaction will be self-financed

through synergy savings.

Accordingly, the Proposed Transaction is predominantly a non-cash transaction involving
the issuance of shares. The only consideration which may be necessary will occur in the
form of the issuance and redemption of non-voting special shares of Merged Holdco
arising from typical post-closing adjustments, as described in the MPA (Attachment ).
The redemption of the non-voting special shares will have no impact on the ownership of
the voting shares of Merged Holdco or LDC MergeCo.

4.2.4 Financial Viability

Filing Reqguirements: If the price paid as part of the proposed transaction is more than

the book value of the assets of the selling utility, provide details as to why this price will

not have an adverse effect on the financial viability of the acquiring utility.
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The Proposed Transaction is primarily a non-cash transaction and as such, there is no
adverse effect on the financial viability of the Applicants.

The Applicants have reviewed the proposed merger of the LDCs, including the amount of
debt that will be outstanding by LDC MergeCo at the time of closing, as well as its longer-
term financing requirements. LDC MergeCo is targeting a long-term A-range rating, which
is consistent with the Canadian utility practice for rate-regulated entities. WNHI is

currently rated by DBRS Limited and has maintained an A/Low credit rating.

The OEB'’s ratemaking policy effectively establishes an appropriate capital structure for
Ontario LDCs. This “deemed” structure comprises 60% debt and 40% equity in support
of the regulated assets or rate base of an LDC. At these levels of debt and equity and
corresponding rate recovery of financial capital, the rate-making policy effectively

supports an A-range credit rating.

The Applicants have assumed that the ongoing sustainment and growth requirements of
the electricity distribution system are provided in a manner consistent with the long-term
forecasts of the utilities. KWHI and WNHI have long-term capital plans based on detailed

asset condition assessments, growth estimates, and sound engineering principles.

Table 11 summarizes the debt-to-total capital ratio of KWHI and WNHI as at December
31, 2020, as well as a Pro-forma for LDC MergeCo as at December 31, 2020, and at the

end of year 1 following the closing of the Proposed Transaction:

Table 11 — Debt-to-Total Capital Ratio

LDC MergeCo

Date KWHI  WNHI
(Pro-Forma)
December 31, 2020 32% 53% 42%
On Closing 40%

Year 1 Post Closing 39%
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4.2.5 Financing of the Transaction

Filing Reqguirements: Provide details of the financing of the proposed transaction.

The Proposed Transaction involves the issuance of shares in Merged Holdco and the
legal amalgamation of KWHI and WNHI to form LDC MergeCo. Incremental financing is

not required to affect the amalgamation of Merged Holdco or LDC MergeCo.

In addition, the Applicants expect to work with a financial institution on the longer-term
financing plan for LDC MergeCo, including a proposal for a $45MM revolving line of credit,
which combines the existing lines of credit of KWHI ($30MM) and WNHI ($15MM) and
provides the incremental capacity to fund working capital and for general corporate

purposes.

4.2.6 Financial Statements

Filing Reguirement: Provide financial statements (including balance sheet, income

statement, and cash flow statement) of the parties to the proposed transaction for the

past two most recent years.

Attachments M and N contain the 2019 and 2020 audited annual financial statements for
KWHI and WNHI respectively.

4.2.7 Pro Forma Financial Statements

Filing Requirement: Provide pro forma financial statements for each of the parties (or if

an amalgamation, the consolidated entity) for the first full year following the completion of
the proposed transaction.

Attachment O contains the pro forma financial statements for LDC MergeCo, for the first
full year following the completion of the proposed transaction.

4.3 Objective 3 — Promote electricity conservation and demand management in

a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario
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LDC MergeCo will comply with electricity conservation and demand management (CDM)
in @ manner consistent with the 2021 CDM Guidelines (EB-2021-0106) and administered
by the Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO) under the provincial 2021-2024
CDM Framework.

LDC MergeCo will also comply in other activities related to CDM:

e Planning work to assess potential opportunities for distribution rate-funded CDM
activities to meet system needs, in advance of proposing specific CDM activities;

e Support to a distributor's customers for conservation and energy efficiency
programs delivered by IESO or other organizations; and

e Green Button implementation, use and enhancement.

To help customers with energy efficiency, energy planning and demand management,
KWHI and WNHI have Key Accounts employees that play a large role in assisting
customers with energy efficiency, energy planning and general customer communication
and education throughout the service territories. Although the government has cut the
decentralized CDM program, there is a need for energy efficiency and demand
management on the grid which will in turn help all customers with cost savings. It is
expected that LDC MergeCo will continue to promote energy efficiency through its Key
Accounts employees.

4.4  Objective 4 — To facilitate innovation in the energy sector

LDC MergeCo will help the communities it serves to thrive in the years ahead while
adapting to Ontario’s changing utility sector. LDC MergeCo will have more resources to

invest in new technologies such as:
0 Managing smart home and energy data
0 Automated restoration of power outages
0 Local renewable generation

0 Supporting the electrification of transportation
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It is expected that LDC MergeCo will support greater investments in new technologies
and services that will boost capacity for collective climate action. The larger customer
base will help municipalities achieve their climate goals. As a result of the merger there
will be more resources to invest in technologies that will help our communities transition

to a lower carbon economy.

These investments are not to the sole benefit of the electricity sector, but to the benefit of

society as a whole.

5. Rate Considerations for Consolidation Application

5.1 Deferred Rate Rebasing

Filing Reguirement: Indicate a specific deferred rate-rebasing period that has been

chosen.

The Applicants have chosen and are requesting a Deferred Rebasing Period for LDC
MergeCo of ten years from the date of closing, which is targeted for no later than January
1, 2023.

Accordingly:

e LDC MergeCo would maintain PCIR for each of the KWHI and WNHI service
territories until the end of the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period;

e LDC MergeCo would maintain Specific Service Charges for each of the KWHI and
WNHI service territories at the interim;

e All existing and future rate riders approved for KWHI and WNHI shall continue as
per the existing and approved rate schedules until expiry; and

e During the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period, LDC MergeCo may apply for rate
adjustments using the Board’s ICM mechanism as may be necessary and in

accordance with applicable Board policies with respect to eligibility and use of ICM.



Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
MAADs Application

EB-2022-0006

Filed: January 31, 2022

Page 50 of 58

Under the Proposed Transaction, LDC MergeCo plans to file an annual PCIR application
with two rate zones during the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period.

5.2  Earnings Sharing Mechanism

Filing Requirements: Confirm that the ESM will be as required by the 2015 Report and

the Handbook. If the applicant’s proposed ESM is different from the ESM set out in the
2015 Report, the applicant must provide evidence to demonstrate the benefit to the

customers of the acquired distributor.

The Applicants confirm that the proposed ESM will be as required by the 2015 Report
and Handbook and is consistent with the Board’s Consolidation Policy, which states:

“Consolidating entities may also apply for an extended rate rebasing deferral
period of up to 10 years. For the extended period (i.e. - the period between year 5
and year 10), the OEB will require the consolidating entity to implement an
earnings sharing mechanism. The earnings share split shall be a 50:50 sharing
with customers where the return on equity for the consolidated distributor is greater
than 300 basis points above the allowed rate of return for the consolidated
distributor.” (Consolidation Policy, pg. 4)

In accordance with the Consolidation Policy, the Applicants propose that any earnings in
excess of 300 basis points above the Board’'s established regulated rate of return
(“Regulated ROE"), for the consolidated entity for the years 6 through 10 post-merger will

be shared on a 50:50 basis between LDC MergeCo and its customers.

The Applicants propose calculating the ESM consistent with the Board’s current
established regulated ROE model applied for regulatory purposes under the Board’'s
Reporting and Record-Keeping Requirements (“RRRS”), as it exists now. This is an
important consideration as it is the baseline used for the business case undertaken in
support of the Proposed Transaction. Under this methodology, Regulated ROE is
calculated by dividing the current year’s Adjusted Regulatory Net Income by the Deemed

Equity component of Rate Base.
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The Applicants expect that the computation of the Adjusted Regulatory Net Income will
continue to exclude any revenue and expenses that are not otherwise included for

regulatory purposes. Exclusions would include, but are not limited to:

e The impact of regulatory assets/liabilities including the Lost Revenue Adjustment

Mechanism;

e Changes in taxes/PILS to which Account 1592 applies, which will be shared
through Account 1592 rather than through earnings sharing;

e Other non-rate regulated revenue and expenses applicable to each of the
Applicants;

e Earnings from Conservation and Demand Management (CDM) programs funded
by the IESO or other third parties; and

e Non-LEAP donations.
5.3 Incremental Capital Investments During the Deferral Period

The Applicants do not need to address an ICM in this Application, however, if
circumstances prevail where LDC MergeCo requires an ICM, a request will be
incorporated as part of a future incentive rate-setting mechanism application as per the
OEB issued “Report of the Board, New Policy Options for Funding of Capital Investments:
The Advanced Capital Module” (“September 2014 Report”) on September 18, 2014.

The September 2014 Report clarified that the opportunity for requests for review and
approvals of incremental capital during an incentive rate-setting (“IR”) term will be
maintained for projects that were unanticipated at the time of the development of a
distributors’ system plan, and/or for projects anticipated for which sufficient rationale was
not available at the time of the system plan to establish need and prudence.
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As per the September 2014 Report, “The Board is of the view that the availability of the
incremental capital funding during the IR term should no longer be limited to non-
discretionary projects. Any discrete project (discretionary or otherwise) adequately
supported in the DSP (Distribution System Plan) is eligible for ACM funding subject to
capital funding availability flowing from the formula results. The approach shall apply
going forward to new projects proposed as ICMs during the Price Cap IR term.”
(September 2014 Report, pg. 15)

To encourage consolidations, the Handbook explicitly extended the availability of an ICM
for any prudent discrete capital projects for consolidating distributors that are on either
PCIR or Annual Incentive Regulation Index. Currently, the rates for both KWHI and WNHI

are set in accordance with PCIR.
5.4 Rate Harmonization Period

Following the 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period in 2032, the Applicants are requesting
two separate distribution rate zones be maintained for up to 10 years. For that period a
Rate Harmonization Plan will be proposed to allow for a gradual harmonization of
distribution rates. The municipal shareholders who are signatories to the MPA support
and have agreed to this Rate Harmonization Period as a reasonable and principled
approach to protecting customers by ensuring, over the long term, that distribution rates
will be no higher because of the LDC merger when compared to the status quo if no
merger were to take place. Specifically, the eventual phase-in of distribution rates in the
rate harmonization period is intended to minimize the rate and bill impacts to legacy KWHI

customers.

Although a rate harmonization plan is not required to be filed at this time, distribution rates

for 2022 for each of the Applicants is presented in Table 12.
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Table 12 - Distribution Revenue 2022

$ Difference -

Rate Class kWh kW KWHI WNHI KWHI - WNHI
Residential 750 $ 2366 | $ 3371 | $ 10.05
GS<50 2,000 $ 56.75 | $ 7031 | $ 13.56
GS>50 100,000 250| $ 143431 | $ 153811 | $ 103.80

LDC MergeCo will allocate savings arising from the Proposed Transaction proportionately

to the legacy service territories and reduce WNHI residential rates gradually to match

KWHI residential rates.

As described in Section 4.1.2, the Proposed Transaction is expected to result in annual
net cost savings of approximately $3.7MM by year 11, after the close of the Proposed

Transaction.

Customers will directly benefit as these savings would be passed on to customers in the
form of lower distribution revenue requirement and customer rates following the 10-year
Deferred Rebasing Period. Based on these estimated net cost savings, LDC MergeCo
distribution rates would be no greater than what they would have otherwise been in the

absence of the Proposed Transaction.

The timing and approach to the future harmonization of rates will be carefully considered

to ensure that there is no harm to customers.

6. Other Related Matters

Filing Requirements: Applicants have, in previous consolidation applications, made the
following additional requests to the OEB which have formed part of the OEB’s

determination of a consolidation application:
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6.1  Application for Electricity Distribution Licence

The Applicants will seek an Order from the Board to cancel the existing Electricity
Distribution Licenses of KWHI (ED-2002-0573) and WNHI (ED-2002-0575) upon the
issuance of the new license for LDC MergeCo. The KWHI and WNHI Licences are

attached as Attachment D and E, respectively.

The Applicants will seek an Order from the Board to create a new Electricity Distribution
Licence for LDC MergeCo. An application for a new Electricity Distribution Licence is

included as part of the MAADs Application.

A draft version of LDC MergeCo Proposed Electricity Distribution Licence Service Area is
attached as Attachment P. If the Proposed Transaction is approved, an application for an
Electricity Distribution Licence for LDC MergeCo will be filed with the OEB.

This is consistent with the approach taken in EB-2018-0236.
6.2 Transfer of Rate Orders and Extension of Existing Rate Riders

The Applicants seek an Order from the Board transferring the existing Rate Orders (and
any future Rate Orders received prior to the Board’s approval for this Application) of KWHI
(EB-2021-0038) and WNHI (EB-2021-0062) to LDC MergeCo. The existing 2022 rate
riders for KWHI and WNHI are attached as Attachment Q.

The Applicants propose that all customer service classifications, inclusive of all existing

Embedded Distributor Service Classifications be transferred to LDC MergeCo.

The Applicants are not proposing any new rate riders or changes to existing rate riders

as a result of the Proposed Transaction.
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6.3  Approval to continue to track costs to the deferral and variance accounts

currently approved by the OEB

The Applicants request that LDC MergeCo be granted approval to continue to track costs
to the existing regulatory and deferral and variance accounts currently approved by the
Board for KWHI and WNHI. KWHI's deferral and variance accounts will be held separately
from WNHI's deferral and variance accounts during the 10-year Deferred Rebasing
Period and the Applicants will seek disposition at a later date in accordance with OEB
policy.

The OEB’s Report of the Board on Electricity Distributors’ Deferral and Variance Account
Review Report dated July 31, 2009 (“EDDVAR”) provides that under the PCIR, the
distributor’'s Group 1 audited account balances will be reviewed and disposed of if the
pre-set disposition threshold is met. Pursuant to the letter update to EDDVAR dated July
25, 2014, distributors may seek to dispose of Group 1 balances that do not exceed the
threshold. The Applicants will comply with this policy during the 10-year Deferred
Rebasing Period and will propose disposition of the former KWHI and WNHI Group 1

balances consistent with this policy.

As described in Section 3.2, the Applicants seek approval to continue the use of DVA
Account 1592, PILS and Tax Variances Sub-Account CCA Changes for the WNHI service
area to track the grossed-up PILs impact, of the variance between the CCA unsmoothing
approach adopted by WNHI in its Settlement Proposal, and the effective PILs impact of
the phase-out/elimination of the accelerated CCA anticipated to begin after 2023 and until
LDC MergeCo’s rebasing.

As described in Section 5.2, the Applicants request approval to establish and use a
regulatory account to track costs associated with the proposed ESM, which is proposed
to be active in the deferral period years six through ten as part of this Application. If
approval is granted, the Applicants will submit a Draft Accounting Order for the Board’s

approval either as a condition of this Application’s approval or as a subsequent filing.
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6.4  Accounting Standards

The Applicants currently prepare their financial statements under International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). LDC MergeCo will also prepare its financial statements
under IFRS. The Applicants utilize Modified International Financial Reporting Standards
(“MIFRS”) for regulatory reporting purposes, consistent with OEB policy, and therefore,
LDC MergeCo will also utilize MIFRS.

6.5 Approval to Use Specific Service Charges

The Applicant’s Specific Service Charges are identified in Table 13 presented below. The
charges for KWHI and WNHI vary due to the fact that the Applicants independently
applied for their respective Specific Service Charges as part of their most recent cost of
service rate applications. These applications were filed in accordance with the Board’s
Filing Requirements for Electricity Transmission and Distribution Applications, and the

Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook; and were approved by the Board.
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Table 13 - Specific Service Charges

Specific Service Charges KWHI WNHI

Customer Administration

Easement letter $ 15.00
Duplicate invoices for previous billing $ 15.00
Income tax letter $ 15.00
Returned cheque (plus bank charges) $ 15.00]| $ 15.00
Account set up charge/change of occupancy

charge (plus credit agency costs if $ 20.00| $ 30.00
applicable)

Meter dispute charge plus Measurement Canada $ 3000]| $ 30.00

fees (if meter found correct)

Non-Payment of Account

Late payment - per month - (effective annual
rate 19.56% per annum or 0.04896% 1.50% 1.50%
compounded daily rate)

Reconnection at meter - during regular hours $ 65.00| $ 65.00
Reconnection at meter - after regular hours $ 185.00( $ 185.00
Reconnection at pole - during regular hours $ 95.00
Other

Meter removal without authorization $ 355.00

Service call - after regular hours $ 105.00

Specific charge for access to the power

poles - $/pole/year (with the exception of $ 3476 $ 34.76

wireless attachments) - Approved on an
Interim Basis

Owner Requested
Disconnection/Reconnection at Meter —
During Regular Hours

130.00

Owner Requested
Disconnection/Reconnection at Meter —
After Regular Hours

335.00

Owner Requested
Disconnection/Reconnection at
Pole/Transformer — During Regular Hours

310.00

Owner Requested
Disconnection/Reconnection at
Pole/Transformer — After Regular Hours

685.00
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LDC MergeCo has selected a 10-year Deferred Rebasing Period in the Application with
the individual rate zones for the two predecessor LDCs. However, LDC MergeCo may
propose to file a change in rates to Specific Service Charges under s.78 of the OEB Act

prior to the next rebasing.

7. Conclusion

The Applicants believe that this Application clearly demonstrates that the Proposed
Transaction will result in no harm to customers and will also produce material benefits to
customers through the generation of synergies, which will be structural and lasting.
Customers will also benefit from a smaller increase in distribution rates over the 10-year
Deferred Rebasing Period because of the Proposed Transaction as opposed to the status

guo scenario which would otherwise have involved at least two COS rate applications.

The Applicants also believe that circumstances are currently appropriate to proceed with
the Proposed Transaction given the similarities in corporate cultures, which prioritize high-

guality service to customers and operational effectiveness.

The Proposed Transaction accomplishes the objectives of consolidation as articulated by
the Commission on the Reform of Ontario’s Public Services, the Distribution Sector
Review Panel and the Premiers Advisory Council on Government Assets. Each
recommended a reduction in the number of local distribution companies in Ontario and
has endorsed consolidation under the belief that consolidation will achieve efficiencies
and generate benefits for customers. This Application demonstrates that these expected
results will be achieved. Accordingly, for the reasons stated above, approval for the

Proposed Transaction from the Board is sought.
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Handbook Filing Requirement Application
Reference Reference
21 The Index
2.2 The Application
2.2.1 Administrative 1

] Legal name of the applicant or applicants 1.2

] Details of the authorized representative of the applicant/s, including the name, phone and fax numbers, and 1.2
email and delivery addresses

] Legal name of the other party or parties to the transaction, if not an applicant 1.3

] Details of the authorized representative of the other party or parties to the transaction, including the name, 1.3
phone and fax numbers, and email and delivery addresses

] Brief description of the nature of the transaction for which approval of the OEB is sought by the applicant or 14
applicants

2.2.2 Description of the Business of the Parties to the Transaction 2

] Describe the business of each of the parties to the proposed transaction, including each of their electricity 2.1
sector affiliates engaged in, or providing goods or services to anyone engaged in, the generation,
transmission, distribution or retailing of electricity.

M Describe the geographic territory served by each of the parties to the proposed transaction, including each of 2.2
their affiliates, if applicable, noting whether service area boundaries are contiguous or if not the relative
distance between service boundaries.

] Describe the customers, including the number of customers in each class, served by each of the parties to the 2.3
proposed transaction.




Handbook Application

Filing Requirement

Reference Reference
] Describe the proposed geographic service area of each of the parties after completion of the proposed 2.4
transaction.
] Provide a corporate chart describing the relationship between each of the parties to the proposed transaction 2.5
and each of their respective affiliates.
] If the proposed transaction involves the consolidation of two or more distributors, please indicate the current 2.6

net metering thresholds of the utilities involved in the proposed transaction. The OEB will, in the absence of
exceptional circumstances, add together the kW threshold amounts allocated to the individual utilities and
assign the sum to the new or remaining utility. Applicants must indicate if there are any special circumstances
that may warrant the OEB using a different methodology to determine the net metering threshold for the new
or remaining utility.

223 Description of the Proposed Transaction 3
] Provide a detailed description of the proposed transaction. 3.1
M Provide a clear statement on the leave being sought by the applicant, referencing the particular section or 3.2

sections of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.
M Provide details of the consideration (e.g. cash, assets, shares) to be given and received by each of the parties 3.3
to the proposed transaction.
] Provide all final legal documents to be used to implement the proposed transaction. 3.4
] Provide a copy of appropriate resolutions by parties such as parent companies, municipal council/s, or any 3.5

other entities that are required to approve a proposed transaction confirming that all these parties have
approved the proposed transaction.

224 Impact of the Proposed Transaction 4
Objective 1 — Protect consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity 4.1
service:

] Indicate the impact the proposed transaction will have on consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, 411
reliability and quality of electricity service.
] Provide a year over year comparative cost structure analysis for the proposed transaction, comparing the costs 4.1.2

of the utilities post transaction and in the absence of the transaction.
] Provide a comparison of the OM&A cost per customer per year between the consolidating distributors. 4.1.3




Handbook Application

Filing Requirement

Reference Reference

] Confirm whether the proposed transaction will cause a change of control of any of the transmission or 414
distribution system assets, at any time, during or by the end of the transaction.

] Describe how the distribution or transmission systems within the service areas will be operated. 415
Objective 2 — Promote economic efficiency and cost effectiveness and to facilitate the maintenance of a 4.2
financially viable electricity industry:

] Indicate the impact that the proposed transaction will have on economic efficiency and cost effectiveness (in 421

the distribution or transmission of electricity), identifying the various aspects of utility operations where the
applicant expects sustained operational efficiencies (both quantitative and qualitative)

] Identify all incremental costs that the parties to the proposed transaction expect to incur which may include 422
incremental transaction costs (e.g. legal, regulatory), incremental merged costs (e.g. employee severances),
and incremental on-going costs (e.g. purchase and maintenance of new IT systems). Explain how the
consolidated entity intends to finance these costs.

] Provide a valuation of any assets or shares that will be transferred in the proposed transaction. Describe how 4.2.3
this value was determined.
] If the price paid as part of the proposed transaction is more than the book value of the assets of the selling 424

utility, provide details as to why this price will not have an adverse effect on the financial viability of the
acquiring utility.

] Provide details of the financing of the proposed transaction. 425

] Provide financial statements (including balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement) of the 426
parties to the proposed transaction for the past two most recent years.

] Provide pro forma financial statements for each of the parties (or if an amalgamation, the consolidated entity) 4.2.7

for the first full year following the completion of the proposed transaction.



Handbook Application

Filing Requirement

Reference Reference
2.2.5 Rate considerations for consolidation applications 5
] Indicate a specific deferred rate rebasing period that has been chosen. 5.1
For deferred rebasing periods greater than five years:
] Confirm that the ESM will be as required by the 2015 Report and the Handbook. If the applicant’s proposed 5.2

ESM is different from the ESM set out in the 2015 Report, the applicant must provide evidence to demonstrate
the benefit to the customers of the acquired distributor

] If the applicant’s proposed ESM is different from the ESM set out in the 2015 Report, the applicant must 5.2
provide evidence to demonstrate the benefit to the customers of the acquired distributor.

] Incremental capital investments during the deferral period 5.3

2.2.6 Other Related Matters 6

] Application for Electricity Distribution Licence 6.1

] Transfer of rate order and licence or the extension of existing rate riders 6.2

] Approval to continue to track costs to the deferral and variance accounts currently approved by the OEB 6.3

] Approval to use different accounting standards for financial reporting following the closing of the proposed 6.4
transaction

] Approval to use specific charges 6.5
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Certification of Evidence

The undersigned, President and Chief Executive Officer of Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.,
in my capacity as an officer of that corporation without personal liability, hereby certify, to
the best of my knowledge, as at the date of certification, that the evidence in the
Application is accurate, consistent and complete.

U L,

Jerry Van Ooteghem, P. Eng.
President and CEO
Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.




Certification of Evidence

The undersigned, President and Chief Executive Officer of Waterloo North Hydro Inc., in
my capacity as an officer of that corporation without personal liability, hereby certify, to
the best of my knowledge, as at the date of certification, that the evidence in the
Application is accurate, consistent and complete.

) Ll
\Qu W ﬂ’

Rene Gatien, P. Eng., MBA, ICD.D
President and CEO
Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
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Ontario

Electricity Distribution Licence
ED-2002-0573

Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.

Valid Until

December 17, 2023

Original Signed By

Brian Hewson
Vice President, Consumer Protection and Industry Performance
Ontario Energy Board

Date of Issuance: December 18, 2003
Date of Amendment: December 17, 2020

Ontario Energy Board Commission de I'énergie de I'Ontario
P.O. Box 2319 C.P. 2319

2300 Yonge Street 2300, rue Yonge

27th. Floor 27e étage

Toronto, ON M4P 1E4 Toronto ON M4P 1E4
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Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
Electricity Distribution Licence ED-2002-0573

1 Definitions
In this Licence:

“Accounting Procedures Handbook” means the handbook, approved by the Board which
specifies the accounting records, accounting principles and accounting separation standards
to be followed by the Licensee;

“Act” means the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.0O. 1998, c. 15, Schedule B;

“Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters” means the
code, approved by the Board which, among other things, establishes the standards and
conditions for the interaction between electricity distributors or transmitters and their
respective affiliated companies;

“distribution services” means services related to the distribution of electricity and the
services the Board has required distributors to carry out, including the sales of electricity to
consumers under section 29 of the Act, for which a charge or rate has been established in
the Rate Order;

“Distribution System Code” means the code approved by the Board which, among other
things, establishes the obligations of the distributor with respect to the services and terms of
service to be offered to customers and retailers and provides minimum, technical operating
standards of distribution systems;

“Electricity Act” means the Electricity Act, 1998, S.0. 1998, c. 15, Schedule A;

“IESO” means the Independent Electricity System Operator;

“Licensee” means Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.

“Market Rules” means the rules made under section 32 of the Electricity Act;

“OPA” means the Ontario Power Authority;

“Performance Standards” means the performance targets for the distribution and
connection activities of the Licensee as established by the Board in accordance with section

83 of the Act;

“Rate Order” means an Order or Orders of the Board establishing rates the Licensee is
permitted to charge;

“regulation” means a regulation made under the Act or the Electricity Act;

“Retail Settlement Code” means the code approved by the Board which, among other
things, establishes a distributor’s obligations and responsibilities associated with financial
settlement among retailers and consumers and provides for tracking and facilitating
consumer transfers among competitive retailers;
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“service area” with respect to a distributor, means the area in which the distributor is
authorized by its licence to distribute electricity;

“Standard Supply Service Code” means the code approved by the Board which, among
other things, establishes the minimum conditions that a distributor must meet in carrying out
its obligations to sell electricity under section 29 of the Electricity Act;

“wholesaler’ means a person that purchases electricity or ancillary services in the IESO
administered markets or directly from a generator or, a person who sells electricity or
ancillary services through the IESO-administered markets or directly to another person other
than a consumer.

Interpretation

In this Licence, words and phrases shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Act or the
Electricity Act. Words or phrases importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.
Headings are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of the Licence. Any
reference to a document or a provision of a document includes an amendment or supplement to,
or a replacement of, that document or that provision of that document. In the computation of time
under this Licence, where there is a reference to a number of days between two events, they
shall be counted by excluding the day on which the first event happens and including the day on
which the second event happens and where the time for doing an act expires on a holiday, the
act may be done on the next day that is not a holiday.

Authorization

The Licensee is authorized, under Part V of the Act and subject to the terms and conditions set
out in this Licence:

a) to own and operate a distribution system in the service area described in Schedule 1 of
this Licence;
b) to retail electricity for the purposes of fulfilling its obligation under section 29 of the

Electricity Act in the manner specified in Schedule 2 of this Licence; and

c) to act as a wholesaler for the purposes of fulfilling its obligations under the Retail
Settlement Code or under section 29 of the Electricity Act.

Obligation to Comply with Legislation, Regulations and Market Rules

The Licensee shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Act and the Electricity Act and
regulations under these Acts, except where the Licensee has been exempted from such
compliance by regulation.

The Licensee shall comply with all applicable Market Rules.

Obligation to Comply with Codes

The Licensee shall at all times comply with the following Codes (collectively the “Codes”)
approved by the Board, except where the Licensee has been specifically exempted from such
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compliance by the Board. Any exemptions granted to the licensee are set out in Schedule 3 of
this Licence. The following Codes apply to this Licence:

a) the Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters;
b) the Distribution System Code;
c) the Retail Settlement Code; and
d) the Standard Supply Service Code.
5.2 The Licensee shall:

a) make a copy of the Codes available for inspection by members of the public at its head
office and regional offices during normal business hours; and

b) provide a copy of the Codes to any person who requests it. The Licensee may impose a
fair and reasonable charge for the cost of providing copies.

6 Obligation to Provide Non-discriminatory Access

6.1 The Licensee shall, upon the request of a consumer, generator or retailer, provide such
consumer, generator or retailer with access to the Licensee’s distribution system and shall
convey electricity on behalf of such consumer, generator or retailer in accordance with the terms
of this Licence.

7 Obligation to Connect

71 The Licensee shall connect a building to its distribution system if:
a) the building lies along any of the lines of the distributor’s distribution system; and
b) the owner, occupant or other person in charge of the building requests the connection in
writing.
7.2 The Licensee shall make an offer to connect a building to its distribution system if:
a) the building is within the Licensee’s service area as described in Schedule 1; and
b) the owner, occupant or other person in charge of the building requests the connection in
writing.

7.3 The terms of such connection or offer to connect shall be fair and reasonable and made in
accordance with the Distribution System Code, and the Licensee’s Rate Order as approved by
the Board.

7.4 The Licensee shall not refuse to connect or refuse to make an offer to connect unless it is
permitted to do so by the Act or a regulation or any Codes to which the Licensee is obligated to
comply with as a condition of this Licence.
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8 Obligation to Sell Electricity

8.1 The Licensee shall fulfill its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act to sell electricity in
accordance with the requirements established in the Standard Supply Service Code, the Retail
Settlement Code and the Licensee’s Rate Order as approved by the Board.

9 Obligation to Maintain System Integrity

9.1 The Licensee shall maintain its distribution system in accordance with the standards established
in the Distribution System Code and Market Rules, and have regard to any other recognized
industry operating or planning standards adopted by the Board.

10 Market Power Mitigation Rebates

10.1  The Licensee shall comply with the pass through of Ontario Power Generation rebate conditions
set out in Appendix A of this Licence.

11 Distribution Rates

11.1 The Licensee shall not charge for connection to the distribution system, the distribution of
electricity or the retailing of electricity to meet its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act
except in accordance with a Rate Order of the Board.

12 Separation of Business Activities

12.1 The Licensee shall keep financial records associated with distributing electricity separate from its
financial records associated with transmitting electricity or other activities in accordance with the
Accounting Procedures Handbook and as otherwise required by the Board.

13 Expansion of Distribution System

13.1  The Licensee shall not construct, expand or reinforce an electricity distribution system or make an
interconnection except in accordance with the Act and Regulations, the Distribution System Code
and applicable provisions of the Market Rules.

13.2  In order to ensure and maintain system integrity or reliable and adequate capacity and supply of
electricity, the Board may order the Licensee to expand or reinforce its distribution system in
accordance with Market Rules and the Distribution System Code, or in such a manner as the
Board may determine.

14 Provision of Information to the Board

14.1 The Licensee shall maintain records of and provide, in the manner and form determined by the
Board, such information as the Board may require from time to time.

14.2  Without limiting the generality of paragraph 14.1, the Licensee shall notify the Board of any
material change in circumstances that adversely affects or is likely to adversely affect the
business, operations or assets of the Licensee as soon as practicable, but in any event no more
than twenty (20) days past the date upon which such change occurs.
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15 Restrictions on Provision of Information

15.1

15.2

15.3

15.4

15.5

The Licensee shall not use information regarding a consumer, retailer, wholesaler or generator
obtained for one purpose for any other purpose without the written consent of the consumer,
retailer, wholesaler or generator.

The Licensee shall not disclose information regarding a consumer, retailer, wholesaler or
generator to any other party without the written consent of the consumer, retailer, wholesaler or
generator, except where such information is required to be disclosed:

a) to comply with any legislative or regulatory requirements, including the conditions of this
Licence;

b) for billing, settlement or market operations purposes;

c) for law enforcement purposes; or

d) to a debt collection agency for the processing of past due accounts of the consumer,

retailer, wholesaler or generator.

The Licensee may disclose information regarding consumers, retailers, wholesalers or generators
where the information has been sufficiently aggregated such that their particular information
cannot reasonably be identified.

The Licensee shall inform consumers, retailers, wholesalers and generators of the conditions
under which their information may be released to a third party without their consent.

If the Licensee discloses information under this section, the Licensee shall ensure that the
information provided will not be used for any other purpose except the purpose for which it was
disclosed.

16 Customer Complaint and Dispute Resolution

16.1

The Licensee shall:

a) have a process for resolving disputes with customers that deals with disputes in a fair,
reasonable and timely manner;

b) publish information which will make its customers aware of and help them to use its
dispute resolution process;

c) make a copy of the dispute resolution process available for inspection by members of the
public at each of the Licensee’s premises during normal business hours;

d) give or send free of charge a copy of the process to any person who reasonably requests
it; and
e) subscribe to and refer unresolved complaints to an independent third party complaints

resolution service provider selected by the Board. This condition will become effective on
a date to be determined by the Board. The Board will provide reasonable notice to the
Licensee of the date this condition becomes effective.

5
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17 Term of Licence

17.1 This Licence shall take effect on December 18, 2003 and expire on December 17, 2023. The
term of this Licence may be extended by the Board.

18 Fees and Assessments

18.1 The Licensee shall pay all fees charged and amounts assessed by the Board.

19 Communication

19.1  The Licensee shall designate a person that will act as a primary contact with the Board on
matters related to this Licence. The Licensee shall notify the Board promptly should the contact
details change.

19.2  All official communication relating to this Licence shall be in writing.

19.3  All written communication is to be regarded as having been given by the sender and received by
the addressee:

a) when delivered in person to the addressee by hand, by registered mail or by courier;

b) ten (10) business days after the date of posting if the communication is sent by regular
mail; and

c) when received by facsimile transmission by the addressee, according to the sender’s

transmission report.
20 Copies of the Licence
201 The Licensee shall:

a) make a copy of this Licence available for inspection by members of the public at its head
office and regional offices during normal business hours; and

b) provide a copy of this Licence to any person who requests it. The Licensee may impose a
fair and reasonable charge for the cost of providing copies.

21 Conservation and Demand Management
[Intentionally left blank]

22 Pole Attachments

221 The Licensee shall provide access to its distribution poles to all Canadian carriers, as defined by
the Telecommunications Act, and to all cable companies that operate in the Province of Ontario.
For each attachment, with the exception of wireless attachments, the Licensee shall charge the

rate approved by the Board and included in the Licensee’s tariff.

22.2 The Licensee shall:
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a) annually report the net revenue, and the calculations used to determine that net revenue,
earned from allowing wireless attachments to its poles. Net revenues will be
accumulated in a deferral account approved by the Board;

b) credit that net revenue against its revenue requirement subject to Board approval in rate
proceedings; and

c) provide access for wireless attachments to its poles on commercial terms normally found
in a competitive market.

23 Administration of COVID-19 Energy Support Program
23.1 For the purposes of paragraphs 23.1 to 23.8:

“Application Form” means the form of application for CEAP approved by the Board, including the use of
that form by telephone

“CEAP” means the COVID-19 Energy Assistance Program as described in the Board’s Decision and
Order dated June 16, 2020

“CEAP-eligible account” means an account in the Licensee’s residential class that meets all of the
following criteria:

(a) the account was in good standing (i.e. all amounts on account of electricity charges that were
payable were fully paid) on March 17, 2020, and the account was not enrolled in an arrears
payment for amounts owing prior to March 17, 2020

(b) complete payment on account of electricity charges has not been made on at least two
electricity bills issued since March 17, 2020, and the account has an Overdue Balance on the
date of receipt of the Application Form for the account including where the account is enrolled
in an arrears payment agreement for amounts incurred following March 17, 2020,

(c) the account has not received funding under the Low-income Energy Assistance Program or
the Ontario Electricity Support Program in 2020; and

(d) the account holder has provided a complete Application Form and has declared, through the
Application Form, that they or their spouse or common-law partner that resides in the same
residence:

o are unemployed on the date that they provide their completed Application Form to the
Licensee

o have received Employment Insurance or the Canada Emergency Response Benefit since
March 17, 2020

“Overdue Balance” means the amount by which the account holder’s balance is past due in respect of
Electricity Charges at the time the Application Form is received by the Licensee. Amounts that may be on
the bill but are not yet past due are not part of the Overdue Balance.
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“electricity charges” means:
(a) charges that appear under the sub-headings “Electricity”, “Delivery”, and “Regulatory
Charges” as described in Ontario Regulation 275/04 (Information on Invoices to Certain
Classes of Consumers of Electricity) made under the Act, and all applicable taxes on those
charges;

(b) where applicable, charges prescribed by regulations under section 25.33 of the Electricity Act
and all applicable taxes on those charges

(c) Board-approved specific service charges, including late payment charges, and such other
charges and applicable taxes associated with the consumption of electricity as may be
required by law to be included on the bill issued to the customer or as may be designated by
the Board for the purposes of this definition, but not including security deposits, amounts
owed by a customer pursuant to a billing adjustment, or amounts under an arrears payment
agreement entered into prior to March 17, 2020; and

(d) any financial assistance provided for under the Ontario Rebate for Electricity Consumers Act,
2016

23.2  The Licensee shall start to accept Application Forms as of July 13, 2020.

23.3 The Licensee shall:

(a) Make copies of the Application Form available on its web site and to any customer on
request.

(b) Process all complete Application Forms in the order in which they are received.

(c) Accept Application Forms by e-mail or mail, and may also allow the Application Form to be

completed online or by telephone, provided that where Application Forms are completed by
telephone the call must be recorded and must document confirmation of all information
requested on the Application Form, including consent and the applicant’s declaration of
eligibility.

(d) Process each complete Application Form within 10 business days of receipt.

23.4  The Licensee shall provide a credit to a CEAP-eligible account in an amount equal to half of the
Overdue Balance for the account:

(a) to a maximum of $230, where the Application Form declares that the account is for a
residence that mainly uses electric heating or in which an eligible medical device is used

(b) to a maximum of or $115, in all other cases.
23.5 The credit must be applied on the next bill issued to the CEAP-eligible account after the

processing of the Application Form for the account as set out in paragraph 12.3(d), where
feasible, and in any event no later than on the following bill.
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Despite paragraph 23.4:

The Licensee is not required to provide a credit to a CEAP-eligible account if the total amount
of CEAP funding available to the Licensee as specified by the Board has been expended;
and

The Licensee shall not provide a credit to a CEAP-eligible account more than once.

Reimbursement for credits provided by the Licensee to CEAP-eligible accounts, up to the total
referred to in paragraph 23.5(a), are recoverable from the Independent Electricity System
Operator. The Licensee shall provide information in such form and manner, and within such time,
as the IESO may reasonably require, in respect of requests for reimbursement. The Licensee
shall not seek reimbursement from the Independent Electricity System Operator for any amount
above the total referred to in paragraph 23.5(a) or on account of any costs relating to the
administration of CEAP.

The Licensee shall keep the following records for two years, and make them available to the
Board upon request:

Copies of all Application Forms received, including recordings of calls where the Application
Form is provided by telephone, and copies of any communications with customers about
CEAP.

A record of all Application Forms that were accepted as complete and a credit was provided
to CEAP-eligible accounts, and a record of all Application Forms that were denied

A record of the credit provided to each CEAP-eligible account, as well as the total amount of
credits provided to all CEAP-eligible accounts.

The Licensee shall report to the Board, as soon as practicable, the date on which to total amount
of CEAP funding referred to in paragraph 23.5(a) has been expended.

Paragraphs 23.1 to 23.8 govern over any provisions of the Distribution System Code or the
Standard Supply Service Code in the event of any inconsistency.

24 Administration of COVID-19 Energy Support Program — Small Business

241

For the purposes of paragraphs 24.1 to 24.8:

“Application Form” means the form of application for CEAP-SB approved by the Board, including the use
of that form by telephone

“CEAP-SB” means the COVID-19 Energy Assistance Program — Small Business as described in the
Board’s Decision and Order dated August 7, 2020

“CEAP-SB eligible account” means an account for premises in the Licensee’s GS<50 class (for electricity
distributors) / relevant commercial class and whose annual usage is less than 150,000 kWh (for USMPs)
that meets all of the following criteria:
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the account holder has a registered business number or charitable registration number for the
business or registered charity operating out of the premises,

the account was in good standing (i.e. all amounts on account of electricity charges that were
payable were fully paid) on March 17, 2020, and the account was not enrolled in an arrears
payment agreement for amounts owing prior to March 17, 2020,

complete payment on account of electricity charges has not been made on at least two
electricity bills issued since March 17, 2020, and the account has an Overdue Balance on the
date of receipt of the Application Form for the account including where the account is enrolled
in an arrears payment agreement for amounts incurred following March 17, 2020,

the account holder has confirmed in the Application Form that it is not applying for a CEAP-
SB credit for another location or electricity account anywhere in the Province of Ontario for
the same small business or registered charity,

the account holder has provided a complete Application Form and has declared, through the
Application Form, that their small business or registered charity’s premises was required to
close to the public for regular operations for at least 15 days as a result of a government
order or inability to comply with public health recommendations.

Note that the Licensee is only required to verify the information in items (b), (c), and (e) above.

“electricity charges” means:

a)

d)

charges that appear under the sub-headings “Electricity”, “Delivery”, and “Regulatory
Charges” as described in Ontario Regulation 275/04 (Information on Invoices to Certain
Classes of Consumers of Electricity) made under the Act, and all applicable taxes on those
charges;

where applicable, charges prescribed by regulations under section 25.33 of the Electricity Act
and all applicable taxes on those charges

Board-approved specific service charges, including late payment charges, and such other
charges and applicable taxes associated with the consumption of electricity as may be
required by law to be included on the bill issued to the customer or as may be designated by
the Board for the purposes of this definition, but not including security deposits, amounts
owed by a customer pursuant to a billing adjustment, or amounts under a payment
agreement entered into prior to March 17, 2020; and

any financial assistance provided for under the Ontario Rebate for Electricity Consumers Act,
2016; and

“Overdue Balance” means the amount by which the account holder’s balance is past due in respect of
Electricity Charges at the time the Application Form is received by the Licensee. Amounts that may be on
the bill but are not yet past due are not part of the Overdue Balance.

242

The Licensee shall start to accept Application Forms as of August 31, 2020.

10



243

245

24.6

247

a)

Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
Electricity Distribution Licence ED-2002-0573

The Licensee shall:

Make copies of the Application Form available on its web site and to any customer on
request.

Process all complete Application Forms in the order in which they are received.

Accept Application Forms by e-mail or mail, and may also allow the Application Form to be
completed online or by telephone, provided that where Application Forms are completed by
telephone the call must be recorded and must document confirmation of all information
requested on the Application Form, including consent and the applicant’s declaration of
eligibility.

Process each complete Application Form within 10 business days of receipt.

The Licensee shall provide a credit to a CEAP-SB eligible account up to the amount of the
Overdue Balance for the account:

to a maximum of $850, where the Application Form declares that the account is for small
business or registered charity premises that primarily uses electricity for heating; or

to a maximum of or $425, in all other cases.

The credit must be applied on the next bill issued to the CEAP-SB eligible account after the
processing of the Application Form for the account as set out in paragraph 24.3(d), where
feasible, and in any event no later than on the following bill.

Despite paragraph 24.4:

The Licensee is not required to provide a credit to a CEAP-SB eligible account if the total
amount of CEAP-SB funding available to the Licensee as specified by the Board has been
expended; and

The Licensee shall not provide a credit to a CEAP-SB eligible account more than once.

Reimbursement for credits provided by the Licensee to CEAP-SB eligible accounts, up to the total
referred to in paragraph 24.5(a), are recoverable from the Independent Electricity System
Operator. The Licensee shall provide information in such form and manner, and within such time,
as the IESO may reasonably require, in respect of requests for reimbursement. The Licensee
shall not seek reimbursement from the Independent Electricity System Operator for any amount
above the total referred to in paragraph 24.5(a) or on account of any costs relating to the
administration of CEAP-SB.

The Licensee shall keep the following records for two years, and make them available to the
Board upon request:

Copies of all Application Forms received, including recordings of calls where the Application
Form is provided by telephone, and copies of any communications with customers about
CEAP-SB.

11
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A record of all Application Forms that were accepted as complete and a credit was provided
to CEAP-SB eligible accounts, and a record of all Application Forms that were denied.

A record of the credit provided to each CEAP-SB eligible account, as well as the total amount
of credits provided to all CEAP-SB eligible accounts.

The Licensee shall report to the Board, as soon as practicable, the date on which the total
amount of CEAP-SB funding referred to in paragraph 24.5(a) has been expended.

Paragraphs 24.1 to 24.8 govern over any provisions of the Distribution System Code or the
Standard Supply Service Code in the event of any inconsistency.

12
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SCHEDULE 1 DEFINITION OF DISTRIBUTION SERVICE AREA

This Schedule specifies the area in which the Licensee is authorized to distribute and sell electricity in
accordance with paragraph 8.1 of this Licence.

1. The City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot as of January 1, 1991.
2. The customers in the Township of Blandford-Blenheim located at:
o 965880, 966070, 966104, 966178, 966182, 966248, 966426, 966484, 966558, 966568,

966584, 966608, 966616, 966654, 966750, 966780, 966800, 966858, 966956, 966980
(three customers), 967022, 967092, 967192, 967244, 967268, 967324, 967372, 967376
(two customers), 967418, 967470, 967520, 967530, 967590, 967610, 967638 (two
customers), 967672, and 967720 Oxford-Waterloo Road

3033 and 3063 Trussler Road

776928 and 776949 Blandford Road

816911 Oxford Road 22

856910 River Road

896941 Washington Road

3. The customers in the Township of North Easthope located at:

1466 and 1478 (two customers) Line 34

4104, 4184 (two customers) and 4426 Wilmot-Easthope Road

4010, 4086, 4526 (two customers), 4576, 4582, 4596 Perth Road 99

4264 Perth Road 101

4714 (two customers), 4888, 4906, 4920, 4930, 4994, 5076 (two customers) Perth Road
103

. 1481 Perth Line 43

4, The customers in the Township of South Easthope located at:

1481, 1483 and 1559 Line 34
3976 Perth Road 100

3880 and 3976 Perth Road 101
3940 Perth Road

5. The customers in the Township of Zorra East located at:

e 756795, 756819, 756871, 756907, 756893, 756995, 757119, 757161 and 757165 (two
customers) Oxford Road 5

13
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SCHEDULE 2 PROVISION OF STANDARD SUPPLY SERVICE

This Schedule specifies the manner in which the Licensee is authorized to retail electricity for the
purposes of fulfilling its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act.

1. The Licensee is authorized to retail electricity directly to consumers within its service area in

accordance with paragraph 8.1 of this Licence, any applicable exemptions to this Licence, and at
the rates set out in the Rate Orders.

14
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SCHEDULE 3 LIST OF CODE EXEMPTIONS

This Schedule specifies any specific Code requirements from which the Licensee has been exempted.

1.

Licensee is exempt from the requirements of section 2.5.3 of the Standard Supply Service Code
with respect to the price for small volume/residential consumers, subject to the Licensee offering
an equal billing plan as described in its application for exemption from Fixed Reference Price, and
meeting all other undertakings and material representations contained in the application and the
materials filed in connection with it.

The Licensee is exempt from the requirement to implement time-of-use pricing as of the
mandatory date for RPP General Service under 50 kW customers with eligible time-of-use meters
with improper time-alignment of the consumption intervals as required under the Standard Supply
Service Code for Electricity Distributors. The mandatory time-of-use pricing date exemption
expires on January 31, 2012.

Licensee is exempt from the requirements of section 4.2.4A of the Distribution System Code. This
exemption takes effect on March 1, 2020 and expires on April 30, 2021.

Licensee is exempt from the requirements of section 2.6.2 of the Standard Supply Service Code.
This exemption takes effect on March 1, 2020 and expires on April 30, 2021.

15



Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
Electricity Distribution Licence ED-2002-0573

APPENDIX A

MARKET POWER MITIGATION REBATES

1. Definitions and Interpretations
In this Licence

“‘embedded distributor” means a distributor who is not a market participant and to whom a host
distributor distributes electricity;

“embedded generator” means a generator who is not a market participant and whose generation
facility is connected to a distribution system of a distributor, but does not include a generator who
consumes more electricity than it generates;

“host distributor” means a distributor who is a market participant and who distributes electricity to
another distributor who is not a market participant.

In this Licence, a reference to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO includes interim
payments made by the IESO.

2. Information Given to IESO

a Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor, the distributor shall provide
the IESO, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified by the
IESO, with information in respect of the volumes of electricity withdrawn by the distributor from
the IESO-controlled grid during the rebate period and distributed by the distributor in the
distributor’s service area to:

i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail
Settlement Code has been implemented; and

i consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed
price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

b  Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor which relates to electricity
consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the embedded distributor shall provide
the host distributor, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified
in the Retail Settlement Code, with the volumes of electricity distributed during the rebate period
by the embedded distributor’s host distributor to the embedded distributor net of any electricity
distributed to the embedded distributor which is attributable to embedded generation and
distributed by the embedded distributor in the embedded distributor’s service area to:

i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail
Settlement Code has been implemented; and

i consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed
price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

¢ Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor which relates to electricity
16
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consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the host distributor shall provide the
IESO, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified by the
IESO, with the information provided to the host distributor by the embedded distributor in
accordance with section 2.

The IESO may issue instructions or directions providing for any information to be given under this
section. The IESO shall rely on the information provided to it by distributors and there shall be no
opportunity to correct any such information or provide any additional information and all amounts
paid shall be final and binding and not subject to any adjustment.

For the purposes of attributing electricity distributed to an embedded distributor to embedded
generation, the volume of electricity distributed by a host distributor to an embedded distributor
shall be deemed to consist of electricity withdrawn from the IESO-controlled grid or supplied to
the host distributor by an embedded generator in the same proportion as the total volume of
electricity withdrawn from the IESO-controlled grid by the distributor in the rebate period bears to
the total volume of electricity supplied to the distributor by embedded generators during the
rebate period.

Pass Through of Rebate

A distributor shall promptly pass through, with the next regular bill or settlement statement after
the rebate amount is received, any rebate received from the IESO, together with interest at the
Prime Rate, calculated and accrued daily, on such amount from the date of receipt, to:

a retailers who serve one or more consumers in the distributor’s service area where a service
transaction request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented;

b consumers who are not receiving the fixed price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the
Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and who are not served by a retailer where a service
transaction request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented; and

¢ embedded distributors to whom the distributor distributes electricity.

The amounts paid out to the recipients listed above shall be based on energy consumed and
calculated in accordance with the rules set out in the Retail Settlement Code. These payments
may be made by way of set off at the option of the distributor.

If requested in writing by OPGI, the distributor shall ensure that all rebates are identified as
coming from OPGI in the following form on or with each applicable bill or settlement statement:

“ONTARIO POWER GENERATION INC. rebate”

Any rebate amount which cannot be distributed as provided above or which is returned by a
retailer to the distributor in accordance with its licence shall be promptly returned to the host
distributor or IESO as applicable, together with interest at the Prime Rate, calculated and accrued
daily, on such amount from the date of receipt.

Nothing shall preclude an agreement whereby a consumer assigns the benefit of a rebate
payment to a retailer or another party.

17
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Pending pass-through or return to the IESO of any rebate received, the distributor shall hold the

funds received in trust for the beneficiaries thereof in a segregated account.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION INC. REBATES

For the payments that relate to the period from May 1, 2006 to April 30, 2009, the rules set out below
shall apply.

1. Definitions and Interpretations

In this Licence

“‘embedded distributor” means a distributor who is not a market participant and to whom a host
distributor distributes electricity;

“‘embedded generator’” means a generator who is not a market participant and whose generation
facility is connected to a distribution system of a distributor, but does not include a generator who
consumes more electricity than it generates;

“host distributor” means a distributor who is a market participant and who distributes electricity to
another distributor who is not a market participant.

In this Licence, a reference to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO includes interim
payments made by the IESO.

2. Information Given to IESO

a

Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor, the distributor shall provide
the IESO, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified by the
IESO, with information in respect of the volumes of electricity withdrawn by the distributor from
the IESO-controlled grid during the rebate period and distributed by the distributor in the
distributor’s service area to:

i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail
Settlement Code has been implemented and the consumer is not receiving the prices
established under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998; and

i consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed
price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor which relates to electricity
consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the embedded distributor shall provide
the host distributor, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified
in the Retail Settlement Code, with the volumes of electricity distributed during the rebate period
by the embedded distributor’s host distributor to the embedded distributor net of any electricity
distributed to the embedded distributor which is attributable to embedded generation and
distributed by the embedded distributor in the embedded distributor’s service area to:
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i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail
Settlement Code has been implemented; and

i consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed
price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IESO to a distributor which relates to electricity
consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the host distributor shall provide the
IESO, in the form specified by the IESO and before the expiry of the period specified by the
IESO, with the information provided to the host distributor by the embedded distributor in
accordance with section 2.

The IESO may issue instructions or directions providing for any information to be given under this
section. The IESO shall rely on the information provided to it by distributors and there shall be no
opportunity to correct any such information or provide any additional information and all amounts
paid shall be final and binding and not subject to any adjustment.

For the purposes of attributing electricity distributed to an embedded distributor to embedded
generation, the volume of electricity distributed by a host distributor to an embedded distributor
shall be deemed to consist of electricity withdrawn from the IESO-controlled grid or supplied to
the host distributor by an embedded generator in the same proportion as the total volume of
electricity withdrawn from the IESO-controlled grid by the distributor in the rebate period bears to
the total volume of electricity supplied to the distributor by embedded generators during the
rebate period.

Pass Through of Rebate

A distributor shall promptly pass through, with the next regular bill or settlement statement after
the rebate amount is received, any rebate received from the IESO, together with interest at the
Prime Rate, calculated and accrued daily, on such amount from the date of receipt, to:

a retailers who serve one or more consumers in the distributor’s service area where a service
transaction request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented and the
consumer is not receiving the prices established under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the
Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998;

b consumers who are not receiving the fixed price under sections 79.4, 79.5 and 79.16 of the
Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 and who are not served by a retailer where a service
transaction request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented; and

¢ embedded distributors to whom the distributor distributes electricity.

The amounts paid out to the recipients listed above shall be based on energy consumed and

calculated in accordance with the rules set out in the Retail Settlement Code. These payments

may be made by way of set off at the option of the distributor.

If requested in writing by OPGI, the distributor shall ensure that all rebates are identified as
coming from OPGI in the following form on or with each applicable bill or settlement statement:
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“ONTARIO POWER GENERATION INC. rebate”

Any rebate amount which cannot be distributed as provided above or which is returned by a
retailer to the distributor in accordance with its licence shall be promptly returned to the host

distributor or IESO as applicable, together with interest at the Prime Rate, calculated and accrued
daily, on such amount from the date of receipt.

Nothing shall preclude an agreement whereby a consumer assigns the benefit of a rebate
payment to a retailer or another party.

Pending pass-through or return to the IESO of any rebate received, the distributor shall hold the
funds received in trust for the beneficiaries thereof in a segregated account.
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1 Definitions

In this Licence:

3
“Accounting Procedures Handbook means the handbook, approved by the Board which

specifies the accounting records, accounting principles and accounting separation standards
to be followed by the Licensee;

“Act” means théOntario Energy Board Act, 1998%.0. 1998, c. 15, Schedule B;

5
“ Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters " means the

code, approved by the Board which, among other things, establishes the standards and
conditions for the interaction between electricity distributors or transmitters and their
respective affiliated companies;

6
“distribution services’means services related to the distribution of electricity and the

services the Board has required distributors to carry out, including the sales of electricity
to consumers under section 29 of the Act, for which a charge or rate has been established
in the Rate Order;

;
“Distribution System Cod€ means the code approved by the Board which, among other
things, establishes the obligations of the distributor with respect to the services and terms
of service to be offered to customers and retailers and provides minimum, technical
operating standards of distribution systems;

“Electricity Act” means theElectricity Act, 1998S.0. 1998, c. 15, Schedule A;

“Licenseé means: Waterloo North Hydro Inc.;

10
“Market Rules” means the rules made under section 32 of the Electricity Act;

11
“Performance Standard$ means the performance targets for the distribution and connec-

tion activities of the Licensee as established by the Board in accordance with section 83 of
the Act;

12
“Rate Order” means an Order or Orders of the Board establishing rates the Licensee is
permitted to charge;

13
“regulation” means a regulation made under the Act or the Electricity Act;
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14
“Retail Settlement Codé means the code approved by the Board which, among other

things, establishes a distributor’s obligations and responsibilities associated with financial
settlement among retailers and consumers and provides for tracking and facilitating
consumer transfers among competitive retailers;

15
“service ared with respect to a distributor, means the area in which the distributor is

authorized by its licence to distribute electricity;

16
“Standard Supply Service Codémeans the code approved by the Board which, among

other things, establishes the minimum conditions that a distributor must meet in carrying
out its obligations to sell electricity under section 29 of the Electricity Act;

17
“wholesalel means a person that purchases electricity or ancillary services in the IMO-

administered markets or directly from a generator or, a person who sells electricity or
ancillary services through the IMO-administered markets or directly to another person other
than a consumer.

18
Interpretation

19
Inthis Licence words and phrases shall have the meaning ascribed to theminthe Act or the Electricity
Act. Words or phrases importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. Headings are
for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of the licence. Any reference to a
document or a provision of a document includes an amendment or supplement to, or a replacement
of, that document or that provision of that document. In the computation of time under this licence
where thereis areference to anumber of days between two events, they shall be counted by excluding
the day on which the first event happens and including the day on which the second event happens
and where the time for doing an act expires on a holiday, the act may be done on the next day.

20
Authorization

21
The Licensee is authorized, under Part V of the Act and subject to the terms and conditions set out
in this Licence:

22

a) to own and operate a distribution system in the service area described in Schedule 1 of this
Licence;
23
b) to retail electricity for the purposes of fulfilling its obligation under section 29 of the

Electricity Act in the manner specified in Schedule 2 of this Licence; and

24
C) to act as awholesaler for the purposes of fulfilling its obligations under the Retail Settlement

Code or under section 29 of the Electricity Act.

DoclD: OEB: 12NH7-0



4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

6.1

7.1

Waterloo North Hydro Inc.
Electricity Distribution Licence ED-2002-0575

25
Obligation to Comply with Legislation, Regulations and Market Rules

26
The Licensee shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Act and the Electricity Act and

regulations under these Acts except where the Licensee has been exempted from such compliance
by regulation.

27
The Licensee shall comply with all applicable Market Rules.

28
Obligation to Comply with Codes

29
The Licensee shall at all times comply with the following Codes (collectively the “Codes”) approved

by the Board, except where the Licensee has been specifically exempted from such compliance by
the Board. Any exemptions granted to the licensee are set out in Schedule 3 of this Licence. The
following Codes apply to this Licence:

30
a) the Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters;

31
b) the Distribution System Code;

32
C) the Retail Settlement Code; and

33
d) the Standard Supply Service Code.

34
The Licensee shall:

35
a) make a copy of the Codes available for inspection by members of the public at its head
office and regional offices during normal business hours; and

36
b) provide a copy of the Codes to any person who requests it. The Licensee may impose a fair

and reasonable charge for the cost of providing copies.

37
Obligation to Provide Non-discriminatory Access

38
The Licensee shall, upon the request of a consumer, generator or retailer, provide such consumer,
generator or retailer with access to the Licensee’s distribution system and shall convey electricity
on behalf of such consumer, generator or retailer in accordance with the terms of this Licence.

39
Obligation to Connect

40
The Licensee shall connect a building to its distribution system if:
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a1

a) the building lies along any of the lines of the distributor’s distribution system; and
42
b) the owner, occupant or other person in charge of the building requests the connection in
writing.

43
The Licensee shall make an offer to connect a building to its distribution system if:

44

a) the building is within the Licensee’s service area as described in Schedule 1; and
45
b) the owner, occupant or other person in charge of the building requests the connection in
writing.

46
The terms of such connection or offer to connect shall be fair and reasonable and made in accordance

with the Distribution System Code, and the Licensee’s Rate Order as approved by the Board.

47
The Licensee shall not refuse to connect or refuse to make an offer to connect unless it is permitted
to do so by théActor a regulation or any Codes to which the Licensee is obligated to comply with

as a condition of this Licence.

48
Obligation to Sell Electricity

49
The Licensee shall fulfill its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act to sell electricity in

accordance with the requirements established in the Standard Supply Service Code, the Retail
Settlement Code and the Licensee’s Rate Order as approved by the Board.

50
Obligation to Maintain System Integrity

51
The Licensee shall maintain its distribution system in accordance with the standards established in
the Distribution System Code and Market Rules, and have regard to any other recognized industry
operating or planning standards adopted by the Board.

52
Market Power Mitigation Rebates

53
The Licensee shall comply with the pass through of Ontario Power Generation rebate conditions set

out in Appendix A of this Licence.
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54
Distribution Rates

55
The Licensee shall not charge for connection to the distribution system, the distribution of electricity

or the retailing of electricity to meet its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act except in
accordance with a Rate Order of the Board.

56
Separation of Business Activities

57
The Licensee shall keep financial records associated with distributing electricity separate from its

financial records associated with transmitting electricity or other activities in accordance with the
Accounting Procedures Handbook and as otherwise required by the Board.

58
Expansion of Distribution System

59
The Licensee shall not construct, expand or reinforce an electricity distribution system or make an

interconnection except in accordance with the Act and Regulations, the Distribution System Code
and applicable provisions of the Market Rules.

60
In order to ensure and maintain system integrity or reliable and adequate capacity and supply of

electricity, the Board may order the Licensee to expand or reinforce its distribution system in
accordance with Market Rules and the Distribution System Code, or in such a manner as the Board
may determine.

61
Provision of Information to the Board

62
The Licensee shall maintain records of and provide, in the manner and form determined by the
Board, such information as the Board may require from time to time.

63
Without limiting the generality of condition 14.1 the Licensee shall notify the Board of any material
change in circumstances that adversely affects oris likely to adversely affect the business, operations
or assets of the Licensee as soon as practicable, but in any event no more than twenty (20) days past
the date upon which such change occurs.

64
Restrictions on Provision of Information

65
The Licensee shall not use information regarding a consumer, retailer, wholesaler or generator

obtained for one purpose for any other purpose without the written consent of the consumer, retailer,
wholesaler or generator.

66
The Licensee shall not disclose information regarding a consumer, retailer, wholesaler or generator

to any other party without the written consent of the consumer, retailer, wholesaler or generator,
except where such information is required to be disclosed:
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67

a) to comply with any legislative or regulatory requirements, including the conditions of this
Licence;
- . 68
b) for billing, settlement or market operations purposes;
69
C) for law enforcement purposes; or
70
d) to a debt collection agency for the processing of past due accounts of the consumer, retailer,

wholesaler or generator.

71
The Licensee may disclose information regarding consumers, retailers, wholesalers or generators

where the information has been sufficiently aggregated such that their particular information cannot
reasonably be identified.

72
The Licensee shall inform consumers, retailers, wholesalers and generators of the conditions under
which their information may be released to a third party without their consent.

73
If the Licensee discloses information under this section, the Licensee shall ensure that the informa-
tion provided will not be used for any other purpose except the purpose for which it was disclosed.

74
Customer Complaint and Dispute Resolution

75
The Licensee shall:

76
a) have a process for resolving disputes with customers that deals with disputes in a fair,

reasonable and timely manner;

77
b) publish information which will make its customers aware of and help them to use its dispute

resolution process;

78
C) make a copy of the dispute resolution process available for inspection by members of the

public at each of the Licensee’s premises during normal business hours;

79

d) give or send free of charge a copy of the process to any person who reasonably requests it;
and
80
e) subscribe to and refer unresolved complaints to an independent third party complaints

resolution service provider selected by the Board. This condition will become effective on
a date to be determined by the Board. The Board will provide reasonable notice to the
Licensee of the date this condition becomes effective.
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81
Term of Licence

82
This Licence shall take effect on December 18, 2003 and expire on December 17, 2023. The term

of this Licence may be extended by the Board.

83
Fees and Assessments

84
The Licensee shall pay all fees charged and amounts assessed by the Board.

85
Communication

86
The Licensee shall designate a person that will act as a primary contact with the Board on matters

related to this Licence. The Licensee shall notify the Board promptly should the contact details
change.

87
All official communication relating to this Licence shall be in writing.

88
All written communication is to be regarded as having been given by the sender and received by

the addressee:

89

a) when delivered in person to the addressee by hand, by registered mail or by courier;
90
b) ten (10) business days after the date of posting if the communication is sent by regular mail;
and
91
C) when received by facsimile transmission by the addressee, according to the sender’s

transmission report.

92
Copies of the Licence

93
The Licensee shall:

94
a) make a copy of this Licence available for inspection by members of the public at its head

office and regional offices during normal business hours; and

95
b) provide a copy of the Licence to any person who requests it. The Licensee may impose a

fair and reasonable charge for the cost of providing copies.
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96

SCHEDULE 1 DEFINITION OF DISTRIBUTION SERVICE AREA

97
This Schedule specifies the area in which the Licensee is authorized to distribute and sell electricity

in accordance with condition 8.1 of this Licence.
98

The City of Waterloo, the Township of Wellesley and the Township of Woolich as of
January 1, 1991.
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99

SCHEDULE 2 PROVISION OF STANDARD SUPPLY SERVICE

100
This Schedule specifies the manner in which the Licensee is authorized to retail electricity for the

purposes of fulfilling its obligation under section 29 of the Electricity Act.

101
The Licensee is authorized to retail electricity directly to consumers within its service area

in accordance with condition 8.1 of this Licence, any applicable exemptions to this Licence,
and at the rates set out in the Rate Orders.
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102

SCHEDULE 3 LIST OF CODE EXEMPTIONS

103
This Schedule specifies any specific Code requirements from which the Licensee has been

exempted.

104
The Licensee is exempt from the requirements of section 2.5.3 of the Standard Supply

Service Code with respect to the price for small volume/residential consumers, subject to
the Licensee offering an equal billing plan as described in its application for exemption
from Fixed Reference Price, and meeting all other undertakings and material representations
contained in the application and the materials filed in connection with it.
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105

APPENDIX A MARKET POWER MITIGATION REBATES

106
1 Definitions and Interpretation

. . 107
In this Licence,

108
“embedded distributor” means a distributor who is not a market participant and to whom a

host distributor distributes electricity;

109
“embedded generator” means a generator who is not a market participant and whose

generation facility is connected to a distribution system of a distributor, but does notinclude
a generator who consumes more electricity than it generates;

110
“host distributor” means a distributor who is a market participant and who distributes

electricity to another distributor who is not a market participant.

111
Inthis Licence, areference to the payment of a rebate amount by the IMO includes interim payments

made by the IMO.

112
2 Information Given to IMO

113
a Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IMO to a distributor, the distributor shall provide

the IMO, in the form specified by the IMO and before the expiry of the period specified by the IMO,
with information in respect of the volumes of electricity withdrawn by the distributor from the IMO-
controlled grid during the rebate period and distributed by the distributor in the distributor’s service
area to:

114
i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail

Settlement Code has been implemented; and

115
ii consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed

price under sections 79.4 and 79.5 of@mgario Energy Board Act, 1998

116
b Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IMO to a distributor which relates to electricity

consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the embedded distributor shall provide
the host distributor, in the form specified by the IMO and before the expiry of the period specified
in the Retail Settlement Code, with the volumes of electricity distributed during the rebate period
by the embedded distributor’s host distributor to the embedded distributor net of any electricity
distributed to the embedded distributor which is attributable to embedded generation and distributed
by the embedded distributor in the embedded distributor’'s service area to:
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117
i consumers served by a retailer where a service transaction request as defined in the Retail

Settlement Code has been implemented; and

118
ii consumers other than consumers referred to in clause (i) who are not receiving the fixed

price under sections 79.4 and 79.5 of@mario Energy Board Act, 1998

119
c Prior to the payment of a rebate amount by the IMO to a distributor which relates to electricity

consumed in the service area of an embedded distributor, the host distributor shall provide the IMO,
in the form specified by the IMO and before the expiry of the period specified by the IMO, with the
information provided to the host distributor by the embedded distributor in accordance with section
2.

120
The IMO may issue instructions or directions providing for any information to be given under this

section. The IMO shall rely on the information provided to it by distributors and there shall be no
opportunity to correct any such information or provide any additional information and all amounts
paid shall be final and binding and not subject to any adjustment.

121
For the purposes of attributing electricity distributed to an embedded distributor to embedded

generation, the volume of electricity distributed by a host distributor to an embedded distributor
shall be deemed to consist of electricity withdrawn from the IMO-controlled grid or supplied to the
host distributor by an embedded generator in the same proportion as the total volume of electricity
withdrawn from the IMO-controlled grid by the distributor in the rebate period bears to the total
volume of electricity supplied to the distributor by embedded generators during the rebate period.

122

3 Pass Through of Rebate

123
A distributor shall promptly pass through, with the next regular bill or settlement statement after the

rebate amount is received, any rebate received from the IMO, together with interest at the Prime
Rate, calculated and accrued daily, on such amount from the date of receipt, to:

124
a retailers who serve one or more consumers in the distributor’s service area where a service

transaction request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented,;

125
b consumers who are not receiving the fixed price under sections 79.4 and 79.BDot#hie

Energy Board Act, 1998nd who are not served by a retailer where a service transaction
request as defined in the Retail Settlement Code has been implemented; and

126
c embedded distributors to whom the distributor distributes electricity.

127
The amounts paid out to the recipients listed above shall be based on energy consumed and calculated

in accordance with the rules set out in the Retail Settlement Code. These payments may be made
by way of set off at the option of the distributor.
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128
If requested in writing by OPGl, the distributor shall ensure that all rebates are identified as coming

from OPGI in the following form on or with each applicable bill or settlement statement:

129

“ONTARIO POWER GENERATION INC. rebate”

130
Any rebate amount which cannot be distributed as provided above or which is returned by a retailer

to the distributor in accordance with its licence shall be promptly returned to the host distributor or
IMO as applicable, together with interest at the Prime Rate, calculated and accrued daily, on such
amount from the date of receipt.

131
Nothing shall preclude an agreement whereby a consumer assigns the benefit of a rebate payment

to a retailer or another party.

132
Pending pass-through or return to the IMO of any rebate received, the distributor shall hold the funds

received in trust for the beneficiaries thereof in a segregated account.
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Ownership

City of Kitchener Township of Wilmot
92.25% Ownership 7.75% Ownership

Kitchener Power
Corporation

| i | 1

Kitchener Energy Kitchener-Wilmot Grand River Energy
Services Inc. Hydro Inc. 33.3% ownership
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Waterloo North Hydro Holding Corporation — Corporate Structure

Township of Township of
Woolwich WEHESIEY
20.2% 6.6%

City of Waterloo
73.2%

Waterloo North
Hydro Holding
Corporation

Grand River Energy Waterloo North Alliance Metering Eyedro Green
Solutions Inc. Hydro Inc. Solutions Inc. Solutions Inc.
33.3% 100% 100% 25%
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Transaction Structure — Post-Closing Corporate Chart

The City of Township Township City of Township of
Waterloo of of Kitchener Wilmot
Woolwich Wellesley
30.8% 8.5% 2.8% 53.4% 4.5%




KITCHENER /WILMOT W
INC. Waterloo North Hydro

ATTACHMENT |

Legal Agreements



Execution Version

MERGER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER
—and -
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF WILMOT
—and -
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF WATERLOO
—and -
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF WOOLWICH
—and -
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF WELLESLEY
—and -
KITCHENER POWER CORP.
—and -
KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
—and -
KITCHENER ENERGY SERVICES INC.
—and -
WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO HOLDING CORPORATION
—and -
WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO INC.
—and -
ALLIANCE METERING SOLUTIONS INC.

January 12, 2022
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MERGER PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is dated as of January 12, 2022

BETWEEN:

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF KITCHENER, a
municipal corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“Kitchener”)
—and -

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF WILMOT, a
municipal corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“Wilmot™)
—and —

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF WATERLOQO, a
municipal corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“Waterloo”)
—and -

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF
WOOLWICH, a municipal corporation incorporated under the
laws of Ontario

(“Woolwich”)

—and -

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF
WELLESLEY, a municipal corporation incorporated under the
laws of Ontario

(“Wellesley™)

—and -

KITCHENER POWER CORP., a corporation incorporated under
the laws of Ontario

(“KPC”)

—and -



RECITALS:

A. The Parties (other than KESI and Alliance) are party to a memorandum of understanding
dated October 5, 2021 and the Confidentiality Agreement in connection with the

WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO HOLDING CORPORATION,
a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“Waterloo North Holdings”)
—and -

KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“KWHI™)
—and -

KITCHENER ENERGY SERVICES INC., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“KESI”)
—and -

WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO INC., a corporation incorporated
under the laws of Ontario

(“WNHI™)
—and -

ALLIANCE METERING SOLUTIONS INC., a corporation
incorporated under the laws of Ontario

(“Alliance Solutions™)

transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

B. KWHI is licensed by the OEB to distribute electricity in Ontario.

C. WNHI is licensed by the OEB to distribute electricity in Ontario.

D. Kitchener is the beneficial and registered owner of 92.25% of the issued and outstanding
shares in the capital of KPC and Wilmot is the beneficial and registered owner of 7.75%

of the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of KPC.



E. Waterloo is the beneficial and registered owner of 73.2% of the issued and outstanding
shares in the capital of Waterloo North Holdings, Woolwich is the beneficial and registered
owner of 20.2% of the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Waterloo North
Holdings and Wellesley is the beneficial and registered owner of 6.6% of the issued and
outstanding shares in the capital of Waterloo North Holdings.

F. KPC is the legal and beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding shares in the capital
of KWHI and KESI.

G. Waterloo North Holdings is the legal and beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding
shares in the capital of WNHI and Alliance Solutions.

H. The Parties wish to have KPC and Waterloo North Holdings amalgamate to form Amalco
Holdco.

I The Parties wish to have KWHI and WNHI amalgamate to form LDC Amalco.

J. The Parties intend to continue Alliance Metering Solutions and KESI as separate
corporations wholly owned by Amalco Holdco.

NOW THEREFORE THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE 1
INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Agreement (including the recitals, Schedules and Exhibit hereto), the following terms have
the following meanings:

“Accounts Receivable” means the aggregate sum of all accounts receivable and other
amounts due, owing or accruing due, including amounts due from Affiliates, net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts, calculated in accordance with IFRS.

“Adverse Determination” is defined in Section 9.3.
“Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in the OBCA.

“Affiliate Relationships Code” means the Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity
Distributors and Transmitters issued by the OEB as amended from time to time and any
replacement code or directive.

“Agreement” means this merger participation agreement, including all Schedules and
Exhibits, as it may be confirmed, amended, modified, supplemented or restated by written
agreement between the Parties.



“Alliance Solutions” means Alliance Metering Solutions Inc., a corporation incorporated
under the laws of the Province of Ontario.

“Alliance Solutions Financial Statements” means the balance sheet and statement of
income of Alliance Solutions for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including
notes to the financial statements.

“Amalco Holdco” is defined in Section 2.1(a).
“Amalgamations” means the Holdco Amalgamation and the LDC Amalgamation.

“Anti-Spam Laws” means CASL, together with all other Laws relating to the delivering,
sending, sharing or transmitting Electronic Messages, and/or using Electronic Addresses.

“Books and Records” means the books, ledgers, files, lists, reports, plans, logs, deeds,
surveys, correspondence, operating records, Tax Returns and other data and information,
including all data and information stored on computer-related or other electronic media,
maintained with respect to, as applicable, the KPC Business and the Waterloo North
Business.

“Business Day” means any day excluding a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the
Province of Ontario, and also excluding any day on which the principal chartered banks
located in the Region of Waterloo are not open for business during normal banking hours.

“CASL” means An Act to promote the efficiency and adaptability of the Canadian economy
by regulating certain activities that discourage reliance on electronic means of carrying
out commercial activities, and to amend the Canadian Radio-television and
Telecommunications Commission Act, the Competition Act, the Personal Information
Protection and Electronic Documents Act and the Telecommunications Act S.C. 2010, c.
23 and all of its implementing regulations.

“Claim” means any claim, demand, action, cause of action, suit, arbitration, investigation,
proceeding, complaint, grievance, charge, prosecution, assessment or reassessment,
including any appeal or application for review.

“Class A Special Shares” means the non-voting, convertible, redeemable, Class A Special
shares in the capital stock of Amalco Holdco.

“Class B Special Shares” means the non-voting, convertible, redeemable, Class B Special
shares in the capital stock of Amalco Holdco.

“Closing” means the completion of the Amalgamations pursuant to this Agreement.




“Closing Financial Statements” means the KW Closing Financial Statements and the
Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements.

“Closing Time” means 9:00 a.m. (Eastern time) on the Closing Date or any other time on
the Closing Date as may be agreed by the Parties in writing.

“Commissioner” means the Commissioner of Competition under the Competition Act.

“Common Shares” means the voting common shares in the capital stock of Amalco
Holdco.

“Communication” means any notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other
communication which is required or permitted by this Agreement to be given or made by
a Party.

“Competition Act” means the Competition Act (Canada).

“Competition Act Approval” means: (a) the issuance of an advance ruling certificate
under Section 102(1) of the Competition Act with respect to the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement without such advance ruling certificate having been modified or
withdrawn before Closing; (b) the Parties having given the notice required under
Section 114 of the Competition Act with respect to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the applicable waiting periods under Section 123 of the Competition Act
having expired or been terminated in accordance with the Competition Act; or (c) the
obligation to give the requisite notice having been waived under Section 113(c) of the
Competition Act and, in the case of (b) or (c), the Parties having been advised in writing
by the Commissioner that the Commissioner does not, at that time, intend to make an
application under Section 92 of the Competition Act in respect of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (a “No-Action Letter”) with any terms and conditions
attached to such No-Action Letter being acceptable to the Parties, acting reasonably, and
without such No-Action Letter having been withdrawn or modified before Closing.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means the confidentiality agreement dated January 29,
2021 in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Contract” means any agreement, understanding, undertaking, commitment, licence, or
lease, whether written or oral.

“Corporate Articles” means, as applicable, the certificate or articles of incorporation or
amalgamation of the applicable corporation and the certificates and articles of amendment
of such corporation.

“CTA” means the Corporations Tax Act (Ontario).



“COVID-19” means the global pandemic known as coronavirus disease as identified in
COVID-19 Legislation and Emergency Orders.

“COVID-19 Legislation and Emergency Orders” means the Reopening Ontario (A
Flexible Response to COVID-19) Act, 2020, the orders made under section 7.0.2 or 7.1 of
the Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act and any other decrees, rules,
regulations, by-laws, published policies and guidelines enacted by a Governmental
Authority in the Province of Ontario in connection with COVID-19.

“Current Assets” means the aggregate sum of, Accounts Receivable, plus unbilled
revenue, Taxes receivable, Inventories and Current Prepaid Amounts.

“Current Liabilities” means the aggregate sum of (a) accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, owing or accruing due, and all other amounts owed that are payable within one
year of the Closing Date, (b) all liabilities for Taxes, including all Taxes required to be
withheld and remitted to an applicable Governmental Authority in respect of any period
ending prior to the Closing Date which have not been remitted, and (c) current amounts
due to related parties and Affiliates.

“Current Prepaid Amounts” means the aggregate sum of all prepaid expenses and
deposits, including all prepaid Taxes, all prepaid charges for water, gas, oil, hydro and
other utilities, and the current portion of all prepaid lease payments and prepaid insurance
premiums.

“Customer Contract” means an individual Contract in respect of (a) the Waterloo North
Business to which any member of the Waterloo North Group is a party excluding any
Contracts to which WNHI is a party, or (b) the KPC Business to which any member of the
KPC Group is a party excluding any Contracts to which KWHI is a party, in each case

which Contract is expected to generate gross revenue for the applicable member of the
Waterloo North Group or KPC Group H or, for an entity in
which such member holds equity, where the proportion of the gross revenues of such entity
that is equal to the ownership proportion of such member _

“Data Room” means the virtual data room as at the date of this Agreement managed by
Grant Thornton LLP to which each Party obliged to provide documents or information for

due diligence purposes has posted the same and to which each Party relying thereupon has
access.

“Direct Claim” is defined in Section 8.6.

“Distribution Rate Zones” means the respective existing distribution rate classes of
KWHI, referred to as Zone A Rates, and WNHI, referred to as Zone B Rates, which are
expected to be maintained and continue as separate and distinct distribution rate classes for
the former KWHI and WNHI franchise areas.

“EA” means the Electricity Act, 1998 (Ontario).



“Easements” means all of the following real property interests: (a) all easements and rights
of way, registered and unregistered; (b) the right to use, traverse, enjoy or have access to,
over, in or under any real property, whether public or private; and (c) all permits, licences
and permissions received, used or enjoyed in respect of any of the foregoing and any right
or benefit in the nature or character of any of the foregoing.

“Electronic Message” has the meaning ascribed thereto in CASL.
“Electronic Address” has the meaning ascribed thereto in CASL.
“Employee Benefits” means:

@) bonuses, vacation entitlements, commissions, fees, stock option plans, incentive
plans, deferred compensation plans, profit-sharing plans, severance plans,
termination pay plans, supplementary employment insurance plans and other
similar benefits, plans or arrangements; and

(b) insurance, health, welfare, disability, pension, retirement, hospitalization, medical,
prescription drug, dental, eye care and other similar benefits, plans or arrangements.

“Encumbrance” means any security interest, mortgage, charge, pledge, hypothec, lien,
encumbrance, restriction, option, adverse claim, right of others or other encumbrance of
any kind.

“Environment” means the ambient air, all layers of the atmosphere, all water including
surface water and underground water, all land, all living organisms and the interacting
natural systems that include components of air, land, water, living organisms and organic
and inorganic matter, and includes indoor spaces.

“Environmental Laws” means any Laws relating to the Environment and protection of
the Environment, the regulation of chemical substances or products, health and safety
including occupational health and safety, and the transportation of dangerous goods.

“ETA” means Part IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada).

“Excluded Amounts” means the specified amounts set forth in the Waterloo North
Disclosure Schedule.

“Expert” is defined in Section 2.4(h).

“Eyedro” means Eyedro Green Solutions Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws
of the Province of Ontario.

“Eyedro Financial Statements” means the audited balance sheet and audited statement of
income of Eyedro for the financial year ended September 30, 2020 including notes to the
financial statements.



“Fixed Assets” means the aggregate sum of property, plant and equipment, net of deferred
revenues; where property, plant and equipment includes, but is not limited to furniture,
furnishings, parts, tools, personal property fixtures, plants, land, buildings, transformer
stations and equipment, right of use assets, finance lease receivables, intangible assets,
structures, erections, improvements, appurtenances, machinery, equipment, substations,
transformers, vaults, vehicles, distribution lines, transmission lines, conduits, ducts, pipes,
wires, rods, cables, fibre optic network and electronics, water heater units, water treatment
systems, devices, appliances, material, poles, pipelines, fittings, major spare parts, and any
other similar or related item, including work-in-progress in respect of the foregoing.

“Governmental Authority” means:

@ any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, regional, territorial, aboriginal, or
other government, governmental or public department, branch, ministry, or court,
domestic or foreign, including any district, agency, commission, board, arbitration
panel or authority and any subdivision of any of them exercising or entitled to
exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, ministerial, prerogative,
legislative, regulatory, or taxing authority or power of any nature; and

(b) any quasi-governmental or private body exercising any regulatory, expropriation or
taxing authority under or for the account of any of them, and any subdivision of
any of them.

“GRE” means Grand River Energy Solutions Corporation.

“GRE Financial Statements” means the audited balance sheet and audited statement of
income of GRE for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including notes to the
financial statements.

“Hazardous Substance” means any substance, waste, liquid, gaseous or solid matter, fuel,
micro-organism, sound, vibration, ray, heat, odour, radiation, energy vector, plasma,
organic or inorganic matter which is or is deemed to be, alone or in any combination,
hazardous, hazardous waste, solid or liquid waste, toxic, a pollutant, a deleterious
substance, a contaminant or a source of pollution or contamination, regulated by any
Environmental Laws.

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards in effect from time to time,
which include standards and interpretations adopted by the Canadian Accounting
Standards Board.

“Indemnified Party” is defined in Section 8.3.
“Indemnifying Party” is defined in Section 8.3.
“Indemnity Claim” is defined in Section 8.6.

“Indemnity Notice” is defined in Section 8.6.



“Insurance Policies” means, as applicable, the insurance policies maintained with respect
to the Waterloo North Business and/or the KPC Business.

“Intellectual Property” means trade-marks and trade-mark applications, trade names,
certification marks, patents and patent applications, copyrights, domain names, industrial
designs, trade secrets, know-how, formulae, processes, inventions, technical expertise,
research data and other similar property, all associated registrations and applications for
registration, and all associated rights, including moral rights.

“Inventories” means the aggregate of all parts and supplies recorded as inventory on the
audited financial statements excluding work-in-progress or parts and supplies that have
otherwise been capitalized as part of Fixed Assets.

“ITA” means the Income Tax Act (Canada).

“KESI” means Kitchener Energy Services Inc. a corporation incorporated under the laws
of Ontario.

“KESI Financial Statements” means the balance sheet and statement of income of KESI
for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including notes to the financial statements.

“Kitchener” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot” means the knowledge of the chief executive
officer or the chief financial offer of any member of the KPC Group that any such
individual either has or would have obtained after having made or caused to be made all
reasonable inquiries necessary to obtain informed knowledge, including inquiries of the
records and management employees of Kitchener and Wilmot or management of the KPC
Group who are reasonably likely to have knowledge of the relevant matter.

“Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley” means the knowledge of the chief
executive officer or the chief financial offer of any member of the Waterloo North Group
that any such individual either has or would have obtained after having made or caused to
be made all reasonable inquiries necessary to obtain informed knowledge, including
inquiries of the records and management employees of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
or management of the Waterloo North Group who are reasonably likely to have knowledge
of the relevant matter.

“KPC” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“KPC Business” means, (a) in the case of KPC, the business of serving as a holding
company for all of the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of KWHI and KESI, (b)
in the case of KWHI, the business of distributing electricity to third parties within the
geographic boundaries as permitted by its OEB distribution license and related services
and activities, and (c) in the case of KESI, the business of providing street light
maintenance services.
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“KPC Employees” means all personnel employed, engaged or retained by a member of
the KPC Group in connection with the KPC Business, including any that are on medical or
long-term disability leave, or other statutory or authorized leave or absence, but excluding
independent contractors.

“KPC Environmental Approvals” is defined in Section 4.24(b).
“KPC Failure” is defined in Section 8.3(b).

“KPC Financial Statements” means the audited, consolidated balance sheet and audited,
consolidated statement of income of KPC for the financial year ended December 31, 2020
including notes to the financial statements.

“KPC Group” means, collectively, KPC, KWHI and KESI.
“KPC Group Adjustment Amount” is defined in Section 2.5(a).

“KPC Group Systems” means all computer software, and computer hardware, servers,
networks, platforms, peripherals, data communication lines and other information
technology equipment and related systems that are owned or used by each member of the
KPC Group in the conduct of the KPC Business.

“KPC Group Valuation” means
“KPC Shareholder Agreement”

“KW Closing Financial Statements” is defined in Section 2.4(a).
“KW Disclosure Schedule” is defined in Article 4.
“KWHI” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“KWHI Financial Statements” means the audited balance sheet and audited statement of
income of KWHI for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including notes to the
financial statements.

“Law” or “Laws” means all laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, decrees, rules, regulations,
by-laws, statutory rules, principles of law, published policies and guidelines, judicial or
arbitral or administrative or ministerial or departmental or regulatory judgments, orders,
decisions, rulings or awards, including general principles of common and civil law, and the
terms and conditions of any grant of approval, permission, authority or licence of any
Governmental Authority, and the term “applicable” with respect to Laws and in a context
that refers to one or more Persons, means that the Laws apply to the Person or Persons, or
its or their business, undertaking, property or Securities, and emanate from a Governmental
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Authority having jurisdiction over the Person or Persons or its or their business,
undertaking, property or Securities.

“LDC Amalco” is defined in Section 2.2.
“LDC Amalgamation” is defined in Section 2.2.

“Leased Premises” means all of the lands and premises which are leased by any member
of the KPC Group, as applicable or by any member of the Waterloo North Group, as
applicable.

“Loss” means any loss, liability, damage, cost, expense, charge, fine, penalty or assessment
including the costs and expenses of any action, suit, proceeding, demand, assessment,
judgment, settlement or compromise and all interest, punitive damages, fines, penalties and
reasonable professional fees and disbursements.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the Waterloo North
Business or the KPC Business, taken as a whole, or the operations, prospects, assets,
liabilities, capital, property, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operation of
Waterloo North Holdings or KPC, all taken as a whole, excluding any effects of COVID-
19 in existence as of the date of this Agreement and/or COVID-19 Legislation and
Emergency Order in existence as of the date of this Agreement.

“Material Contract” means a Contract in respect of the Waterloo North Business or the
KPC Business, as applicable:

@ that involves or may result in the payment of money or money’s worth in an amount
ﬁ (excluding any collective bargaining agreements or
employment agreements), including any Customer Contracts; or

(b) the termination of which, or under which the loss of rights, would constitute a
Material Adverse Effect.

“Net Adjustment Amount” means, subject to Article 2 and Schedule 2.6(b), the
difference between the KPC Group Adjustment Amount and the Waterloo North Group
Adjustment Amount, provided that:

@) where the difference between the KPC Group Adjustment Amount and the
Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount results in a difference in favour of the
KPC Group, Kitchener and Wilmot shall be entitled to receive such amount in
accordance with Section 2.6(a)(i); and

(b) where the difference between the Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount and
the KPC Group Adjustment Amount results in a difference in favour of the
Waterloo North Group, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall be entitled to
receive such amount in accordance with Section 2.6(a)(ii).
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“OBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario).
“OEB” means the Ontario Energy Board.
“OEB Act” means the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

“OEB Approval” means the approval of the OEB pursuant to section 86(1)(c) of the OEB
Act in respect of the LDC Amalgamation.

“OMERS” means the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System.

“Owned Lands” means all of the lands and premises which are owned by any member of
the KPC Group, as applicable or by any member of the Waterloo North Group, as
applicable.

“Parties” means Kitchener, Wilmot, KPC, KWHI, Waterloo, Woolwich, Wellesley,
Waterloo North Holdings, WNHI, KESI and Alliance Solutions and “Party” means any
one of them.

“PCBs” is defined in Section 4.24(k).

“Permits” means the authorizations, registrations, permits, certificates of approval,
approvals, grants, licences, quotas, consents, commitments, rights or privileges (other than
those relating to the Intellectual Property) issued or granted by any Governmental
Authority to any member of the KPC Group or Waterloo North Group, as applicable.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

@ unregistered liens for municipal Taxes, assessments or similar charges incurred in
the ordinary course of business that are not yet due and payable;

(b) inchoate mechanic’s, construction and carrier’s liens and other similar liens arising
by operation of law or statute in the ordinary course business for obligations which
are not delinquent and will be paid or discharged in the ordinary course of business;

(©) unregistered Encumbrances of any nature claimed or held by Her Majesty The
Queen in Right of Canada, Her Majesty The Queen in right of the Province of
Ontario or by any Governmental Authority under any applicable Law, except for
unregistered liens for unpaid realty Taxes, assessments and public utilities;

(d) title defects which are of a minor nature and in the aggregate, do not materially
impair the value or use of any of the Owned Lands;

(e any right of expropriation conferred upon, reserved to or vested in Her Majesty The
Queen in Right of Canada, Her Majesty The Queen in right of the Province of
Ontario or any Governmental Authority under any applicable Law;
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()] zoning restrictions, easements and rights of way or other similar Encumbrances or
privileges in respect of real property which in the aggregate, do not materially
impair the value or use of any of the Owned Lands, Leased Premises or Easements;

(0) Encumbrances created by others upon other lands over which there are easements,
rights-of-way, licences or other rights of user in favour of the Owned Lands, Leased
Premises or Easements and which do not materially impede the use of the
easements, rights-of-way, licences or other rights of user for the purposes for which
they are held;

(h) the reservations, limitations, provisos, conditions, restrictions and exceptions in the
letters patent or grant, as the case may be, from the Crown and statutory exceptions
to title; and

Q) those instruments registered on title to the Owned Lands or against the leasehold
interest in the Leased Premises and described in the KW Disclosure Schedule or
the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule.

“Person” will be broadly interpreted and includes:

@ a natural person, whether acting in his or her own capacity, or in his or her capacity
as executor, administrator, estate trustee, trustee or personal or

(b) legal representative, and the heirs, executors, administrators, estate trustees,
trustees or other personal or legal representatives of a natural person;

(© a corporation or a company of any kind, a partnership of any kind, a sole
proprietorship, a trust, a joint venture, an association, an unincorporated
association, an unincorporated syndicate, an unincorporated organization or any
other association, organization or entity of any kind; and

(d) a Governmental Authority.

“Personal Information” means information about an individual who can be identified by
the Person who holds that information.

“PILs” means payment in lieu of corporate taxes required to be made under Section 93 of
the EA.

“Prime Rate” means the annual interest rate Canada’s major banks and financial
institutions use to set interest rates for variable loans and lines of credit, including variable-
rate mortgages.

“Privacy Laws” means Laws relating to the privacy rights of individuals and/or the
collection, use, disclosure and safeguarding of information about an identifiable individual
including, without limitation, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic
Documents Act (Canada) and any similar Law of any jurisdiction, including without
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limitation, any province or territory of Canada, all findings and/or orders reached by any
Governmental Authority.

“Privacy Statements” means, collectively, any and all of a Person’s privacy policies made
regarding the collection, retention, use, disclosure and distribution of the personal
information of individuals.

“Pro Rata Share” means

@) in respect of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, the percentage interest of the
issued and outstanding shares in the capital of Waterloo North Holdings, being
73.2% in respect of Waterloo, 20.2% in respect of Woolwich and 6.6% in respect
of Wellesley, respectively; and

(b) in respect of Kitchener and Wilmot, the percentage interest of the issued and
outstanding shares in the capital of KPC, being 92.25% in respect of Kitchener and
7.75% in respect of Wilmot.

“Real Property Leases” means the leases between any member of the KPC Group, as
applicable, or between any member of the Waterloo North Group, as applicable, and each
landlord party thereto, and all amendments to those leases, relating to the leasing of Leased
Premises.

“Release” means to release, spill, leak, pump, pour, emit, empty, discharge, deposit, inject,
leach, dispose, dump or permit to escape.

“Remedial Order” means any remedial order, including any notice of non-compliance,
order, other complaint, direction or sanction issued, filed or imposed by any Governmental
Authority pursuant to Environmental Laws, with respect to the existence of Hazardous
Substances on, in or under Owned Lands or Leased Premises, or neighbouring or adjoining
properties, or the Release of any Hazardous Substance from, at or on the Owned Lands or
Leased Premises or with respect to any failure or neglect to comply with Environmental
Laws.

“Representatives” means the Affiliates of any Person, and the advisors, agents,
consultants, directors, officers, management, employees, subcontractors, and other
representatives, including accountants, auditors, financial advisors, lenders and lawyers of
any Person and of that Person’s Affiliates.

“Securities” has the meaning given to that term in the Securities Act (Ontario).

“Shareholders Agreement” means the unanimous shareholders agreement for Amalco
Holdco to be entered into and effective on Closing and that will be substantially in the form
attached as Schedule 1.1.

“Special Shares” means the Class A Special Shares and the Class B Special Shares, as the
case may be.
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“Subsidiary” means subsidiary within the meaning of the OBCA.
“TA” means the Taxation Act, 2007 (Ontario).

“Tax” means PILs, Transfer Tax, and all taxes, duties, fees, premiums, assessments,
imposts, levies, rates, withholdings, dues, government contributions and other charges of
any kind whatsoever, whether direct or indirect (including all income, capital gains, excise,
use, property, capital, goods and services, business transfer and value added taxes, all
customs and import duties, workers’ compensation premiums, Canada Pension Plan
premiums, Employment Insurance premiums, and debt retirement charges pursuant to Part
V.1 of the EA and special payments pursuant to Part VI of the EA), together with all
interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or other additional amounts, imposed by any
Governmental Authority.

“Tax Return” means any return, report, declaration, designation, election, undertaking,
waiver, notice, filing, information return, statement, form, certificate or any other
document or materials relating to Taxes, including any related or supporting information
with respect to any of those documents or materials listed above in this definition, filed or
to be filed with any Governmental Authority in connection with the determination,
assessment, collection or administration of Taxes, including those required pursuant to
Parts V.1 and VI of the EA.

“Third Party Claim” is defined in Section 8.6.

“Total Debt” means for each member of the KPC Group or the Waterloo North Group, as
applicable, the aggregate amount of all long and short term interest-bearing liabilities for
borrowed money and long and short term amounts owing to related parties, including
without limitation amounts for bank debt, short-term debt, current portion of long-term
borrowings, long-term borrowings, short-term and long-term portion of capital leases, the
short-term and long-term portion of lease liabilities, the long-term portion of customer
deposits, employee future benefit liabilities, related party loans and notes payable.

“Transfer Tax” means the tax payable pursuant to Section 94 of the EA.
“Waterloo” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Waterloo North Business” (a) in the case of Waterloo North Holdings, the business of
serving as a holding company for all of the issued and outstanding shares in the capital of
WNHI and Alliance Solutions, (b) in the case of WNHI, the business of distributing
electricity to third parties within the geographic boundaries as permitted by its OEB
distribution license and related services and activities, and (c) in the case of Alliance
Solutions, the business of providing utility-level sub-metering services.

“Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements” is defined in Section 2.4(b).

“Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule” is defined in Article 5.
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“Waterloo North Employees” means all personnel employed, engaged or retained by the
Waterloo North Group in connection with the Waterloo North Business, including any that
are on medical or long-term disability leave, or other statutory or authorized leave or
absence, but excluding independent contractors.

“Waterloo North Failure” is defined in Section 8.3(a).

“Waterloo North Group” means Waterloo North Holdings, WNHI and Alliance
Solutions.

“Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount” is defined in Section 2.5(b).

“Waterloo North Group Systems” means all computer software, and computer hardware,
servers, networks, platforms, peripherals, data communication lines and other information
technology equipment and related systems that are owned or used by each member of the
Waterloo North Group in the conduct of the Waterloo North Business.

“Waterloo North Group Valuation”

“Waterloo North Holdings” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements” means the audited, consolidated
balance sheet and audited, consolidated statement of income of Waterloo North Holdings
for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including notes to the financial statements.

“Waterloo North Shareholder Agreement” means the shareholders agreement dated
April 1, 2017 between Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley and Waterloo North Holdings,
as amended.

“Wellesley” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“Wilmot” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

“WNHI” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement

“WNHI Financial Statements” means the audited balance sheet and audited and
statement of income of WNHI for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 including
notes to the financial statements.

“Woolwich” is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.



-17 -

1.2 Certain Rules of Interpretation

@) In this Agreement, words signifying the singular number include the plural and vice
versa, and words signifying gender include all genders. Every use of the words
“including” or “includes” in this Agreement is to be construed as meaning
“including, without limitation” or “includes, without limitation”, respectively.

(b) The division of this Agreement into Articles and Sections, the insertion of headings
and the inclusion of a table of contents are for convenience of reference only and
do not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

(©) References in this Agreement to an Article, Section, Schedule or Exhibit are to be
construed as references to an Article, Section, Schedule or Exhibit of or to this
Agreement unless otherwise specified.

(d) Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, time periods within which or
following which any calculation or payment is to be made, or action is to be taken,
will be calculated by excluding the day on which the period begins and including
the day on which the period ends. If the last day of a time period is not a Business
Day, the time period will end on the next Business Day.

(e) Unless otherwise specified, any reference in this Agreement to any statute includes
all regulations and subordinate legislation made under or in connection with that
statute at any time, and is to be construed as a reference to that statute as amended,
modified, restated, supplemented, extended, re-enacted, replaced or superseded at
any time.

()] Except as expressly set forth herein or as the context otherwise requires, wherever
in this Agreement reference is made to a calculation to be made in accordance with
IFRS, the reference is to IFRS as applicable as at the date of this Agreement.

1.3 Governing Law

This Agreement is governed by, and is to be construed and interpreted in accordance with, the
Laws of the Province of Ontario and the Laws of Canada applicable in that Province.

1.4 Entire Agreement

This Agreement and any other agreements and documents to be delivered pursuant to this
Agreement constitute the entire agreement between the Parties pertaining to the subject matter of
this Agreement and supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations and discussions,
including the MOU, whether oral or written, of the Parties and there are no representations,
warranties or other agreements between the Parties in connection with the subject matter of this
Agreement except as specifically set out in this Agreement, the Confidentiality Agreement or in
any of the other agreements and documents delivered pursuant to this Agreement. No Party has
been induced to enter into this Agreement in reliance on, and there will be no liability assessed,
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either in tort or contract, with respect to, any warranty, representation, opinion, advice or assertion
of fact, except to the extent it has been reduced to writing and included as a term in this Agreement
or in any of the other agreements and documents delivered pursuant to this Agreement.

15 Schedules

The following is a list of Schedules attached to and forming an integral part of this Agreement:

Schedules

Schedule 1.1 Form of Shareholders Agreement
Schedule 2.6(a)(iv) Illustrative Example of Adjustments
Schedule 2.6(b) Share Capital

Schedule 4.1 KW Disclosure Schedule

Schedule 5.1 Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule

ARTICLE 2
AMALGAMATIONS

2.1 Holdco Amalgamation

@ Subject to and conditional upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the
Parties agree that KPC and Waterloo North Holdings shall:

() enter into an amalgamation agreement contemplated by Section 175(1) of
the OBCA incorporating the applicable terms of this agreement in order to
amalgamate with each other on the Closing Date (the “Holdco
Amalgamation”);

(i) file articles of amalgamation giving effect to the Holdco Amalgamation in
accordance with the OBCA on the Closing Date; and

(iii) continue as a corporation amalgamated under the laws of Ontario following
the Closing Date (and such amalgamated corporation is referred to herein
as “Amalco Holdco”).

(b) Amalco Holdco will issue the following fully paid and non-assessable Common
Shares and Special Shares in the capital of Amalco Holdco upon completion of the
Holdco Amalgamation:
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Equity & Voting
Party Amalco Holdco Percentage Interest

Kitchener 53,390 Common Shares 53.39%

9,225 Class A Special Shares Nil
Wilmot 4,490 Common Shares 4.49%

775 Class A Special Shares Nil
Waterloo 30,830 Common Shares 30.83%

7,320 Class B Special Shares Nil
Woolwich 8,510 Common Shares 8.51%

2,020 Class B Special Shares Nil
Wellesley 2,780 Common Shares 2.78%

660 Class B Special Shares Nil

2.2 LDC Amalgamation

As soon as practicable after the Holdco Amalgamation and subject to and conditional upon the
terms and conditions of this Agreement, KWHI and WNHI shall:

@ enter into an amalgamation agreement contemplated by Section 175(1) of the
OBCA incorporating the applicable terms of this agreement in order to amalgamate
with each other on the Closing Date (the “LDC Amalgamation”);

(b) file articles of amalgamation giving effect to the LDC Amalgamation in accordance
with the OBCA on the Closing Date; and

(c) continue as a corporation amalgamated under the laws of Ontario following the
Closing Date (and such amalgamated corporation is referred to herein as “LDC
Amalco”).

2.3  Target Closing Amounts
@ Before Closing, KPC shall take reasonable steps to ensure that on Closing it has:
Q) KPC Closing Net Asset Value equal to KPC Target Net Asset Value; and
(i) KESI Closing Net Asset Value equal to KESI Target Net Asset Value.
(b) Before Closing, KWHI shall take reasonable steps to ensure that on Closing it has:

Q) KWHI Closing Net Working Capital equal to KWHI Target Net Working
Capital;
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(i) KWHI Closing Net Fixed Assets equal to KWHI Target Net Fixed Assets;

(iii) KWHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance equal to KWHI Target Net

Regulatory Balance;

(iv) KWHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities equal to KWHI Target Net
Other Assets and Liabilities; and

(v) KWHI Closing Total Net Debt equal to KWHI Target Total Net Debt.

Before Closing, Waterloo North Holdings shall take reasonable steps to ensure that
on Closing it has:

() Waterloo North Holdings Closing Net Asset VValue equal to Waterloo North
Holdings Target Net Asset Value; and

(i) Alliance Solutions Closing Net Asset Value equal to Alliance Solutions
Target Net Asset Value.

Before Closing, WNHI shall take reasonable steps to ensure that on Closing it has:

(i)  WNHI Closing Net Working Capital equal to WNHI Target Net Working
Capital;

(i)  WNHI Closing Net Fixed Assets equal to WNHI Target Net Fixed Assets;

(iii) WNHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance equal to WNHI Target Net

Regulatory Balance;

(iv) WNHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities equal to WNHI Target Net
Other Assets and Liabilities; and

(v) WNHI Closing Total Net Debt equal to WNHI Target Total Net Debt.

2.4  Closing Financial Statements and Contracts Valuation

(@)

(b)

Kitchener and Wilmot shall cause the auditors for the KPC Group to complete the
audit procedures and distribute to Kitchener and Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley the audited financial statements for KWHI and KPC (consolidated) and
unaudited financial statements of KPC and KESI (non-consolidated) as at the end
of business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date within 120 days
following the Closing Date (the “KW Closing Financial Statements”).

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall cause the auditors for the Waterloo North
Group to complete the audit procedures and distribute to Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley, Kitchener and Wilmot the audited financial statements for WNHI and
Waterloo North Holdings (consolidated) and unaudited financial statements for
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Waterloo North Holdings, Alliance Solutions and Eyedro (non-consolidated) as at
the end of business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date within 120
days following the Closing Date (the “Waterloo North Closing Financial
Statements”).

Kitchener and Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall cause a valuation
by Grant Thornton LLP or such other Chartered Business Valuator (to be agreed
between KPC and Waterloo North Holdings prior to the Closing Date) utilizing the
discounted cash flow analysis method, as used for the Valuation, of the following:

() each new Customer Contract entered into and not terminated by a member
of the KPC Group (excluding KWHI) or by a member of the Waterloo North
Group (excluding WNHI) during the period from and including the date of
this Agreement to and including the Closing Date,

(i) any amendment to any new or existing Customer Contract to which a
member of the KPC Group (excluding KWHI) or the Waterloo North Group
(excluding WNHI) is a party made during the period from and including the
date of this Agreement to and including the Closing Date existing at the date
hereof; and

(iii) each Customer Contract that may be terminated by a member of the KPC
Group (excluding KWHI) or by a member of the Waterloo North Group
(excluding WNHI) or by a counterparty to any such Material Contract
during the period from and including the date of this Agreement to and
including the Closing Date,

(each such valuation by Kitchener and Wilmot, on the one hand, and Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley, on the other hand, a “Customer Contracts Valuation™).

All Closing Financial Statements shall be prepared in accordance with IFRS applied
on a basis consistent with the preparation of the KPC Financial Statements (both
consolidated and non-consolidated), the KWHI Financial Statements, the KESI
Financial Statements, the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements (both
consolidated and non-consolidated), the WNHI Financial Statements and the
Alliance Solutions Financial Statements, as applicable. The Closing Financial
Statements shall be accompanied by an unqualified report thereon by such auditors.
For the purposes of preparing and reviewing the applicable Closing Financial
Statements, each Party shall grant such auditors and the other authorized
Representatives of the other Parties reasonable access to all relevant records,
facilities and personnel in its possession or within its control. The KPC Group will
accrue and pay all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation of the
Closing Financial Statements in respect of the KPC Group and the Waterloo North
Group will accrue and pay all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation
of the Closing Financial Statements in respect of the Waterloo North Group.
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Kitchener and Wilmot shall have a period of 30 days from the date each receive the
Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements, the reports of the auditor thereon
and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of each applicable member of the
Waterloo North Group during which to review such Waterloo North Closing
Financial Statements and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of each
applicable member of the Waterloo North Group. For the purpose of such review,
Kitchener and Wilmot and each member of the KPC Group and their authorized
Representatives shall be given full access by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
and each member of the Waterloo North Group to examine the working papers,
schedules and other documentation used or prepared by the auditors to the Waterloo
North Group or Chartered Business Valuator, as applicable. If no written objection
to such Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements or Customer Contracts
Valuation in respect of each applicable member of the Waterloo North Group is
given to Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley by Kitchener and Wilmot (acting
jointly) within such 30-day period, such Waterloo North Closing Financial
Statements and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of each applicable
member of the Waterloo North Group shall be deemed to have been approved by
Kitchener and Wilmot as of the last day of such 30-day period.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall have a period of 30 days from the date
they receive the applicable KW Closing Financial Statements, the reports of the
auditor thereon and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of each applicable
member of the KPC Group during which to review such applicable KW Closing
Financial Statements and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of each
applicable member of the KPC Group. For the purpose of such review, Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley and each member of the Waterloo North Group and their
authorized Representatives shall be given full access by Kitchener and Wilmot and
each member of the KPC Group to examine the working papers, schedules and
other documentation used or prepared by the auditors to the KPC Group or
Chartered Business Valuator, as applicable. If no written objection to such KPC
Closing Financial Statements or the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of
each applicable member of the KPC Group is given to Kitchener and Wilmot by
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley (acting jointly) within such 30-day period, such
KPC Closing Financial Statements and the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect
of each applicable member of the KPC Group shall be deemed to have been
approved by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley as of the last day of such 30-day
period.

Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly) may object to the Waterloo North Closing
Financial Statements and/or the Customer Contracts Valuation in respect of any
applicable member of the Waterloo North Group within the 30-day period set out
in Section 2.4(f) by giving written notice to Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
setting out in reasonable detail the nature of such objection (a “Kitchener and
Wilmot Objection”). Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley (acting jointly) may
object to the KW Closing Financial Statements and/or the Customer Contracts
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Valuation in respect of the applicable member of the KPC Group within the 30-day
period set out in Section 2.4(f) by giving written notice to Kitchener and Wilmot
setting out in reasonable detail the nature of such objection (a “Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley Objection”). Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley (acting jointly) agree to attempt to resolve the matters in dispute set
out in a Kitchener and Wilmot Objection and/or Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley Objection within 15 days from the date on which such notice is given. If
all matters in dispute are resolved by Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley, the applicable Closing Financial Statements(s) and/or Customer
Contracts Valuation, as applicable, shall be modified to the extent required to give
effect to such resolution and shall be deemed to have been approved as of the date
of such resolution.

(h) If Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly) and Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
(acting jointly) cannot resolve all matters in dispute in a Kitchener and Wilmot
Objection and/or Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Objection within such 15-day
period, all unresolved matters shall be submitted to a mutually agreed, independent,
nationally recognized accounting firm (the “Expert”) for resolution. The Expert
shall be given access to all materials and information reasonably requested by it for
such purpose. The rules and procedures to be followed in connection therewith shall
be determined by the Expert in its discretion but the Expert shall be instructed to
proceed as quickly as possible. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the final
determination of the Expert shall be limited to the strict parameters of the dispute
submitted to it and the Expert shall limit its review to the matters specifically set
out in the Kitchener and Wilmot Objection and/or Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley Objection and shall not assign a value to any item that is higher than the
highest value for such item or lower than the lowest value for such item claimed by
any Party. The Expert’s determination of all such matters shall be final and binding
on all Parties and shall not be subject to appeal by Kitchener and Wilmot, Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley or any other Party. The fees and expenses of the Expert
shall be borne by Amalco Holdco. The applicable Closing Financial Statements,
Customer Contracts Valuation in respect the applicable member(s) of the KPC
Group and/or Waterloo North Group shall be modified to the extent required to give
effect to the Expert’s determination and shall be deemed to have been approved as
of the date of such determination.

2.5  Calculation of Adjustments

@ Upon the approval or deemed approval pursuant to Section 2.4 of the Financial
Statements for each member of the KPC Group,

() KPC shall calculate the sum of:

(A)  the KPC Closing Net Asset Value less the KPC Target Net Asset
Value (which sum may be positive or negative), plus
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less one-third
(1/3) of the (which sum may be

positive or negative).

(i) KWHI shall calculate the sum of:

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

the KWHI Closing Net Working Capital less the KWHI Target Net
Working Capital (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

the KWHI Closing Net Fixed Assets less the KWHI Target Net
Fixed Assets (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

the KWHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance less the KWHI Target
Net Regulatory Balance (which sum may be positive or negative),
plus

the KWHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities less the KWHI
Target Net Other Assets and Liabilities; plus

the KWHI Closing Total Net Debt less the KWHI Target Total Net
Debt (which sum may be positive or negative),

(iii) KESI shall calculate the sum of:

(A)

(B)

the KESI Closing Net Asset Value less the KESI Target Net Asset
Value (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

the value of any Customer Contracts Valuation to which KESI is a
party pursuant to the applicable Customer Contracts Valuation
(which sum may be positive or negative);

with the sum of all of the amounts referred to in this Section 2.5(a) referred to as
the “KPC Group Adjustment Amount”.

Upon the approval or deemed approval pursuant to Section 2.4 of the Closing
Financial Statements for each member of the Waterloo North Group,

(i)  Waterloo North Holdings shall calculate the sum of:

(A)

(B)

the Waterloo North Holdings Closing Net Asset Value less the
Waterloo North Holdings Target Net Asset Value (which sum may
be positive or negative); plus

Twenty three point six five percent (23.65%) of the Eyedro Closing
Net Asset Value less twenty three point six five percent (23.65%) of
the Eyedro Target Net Asset Value (which sum may be positive or
negative); plus
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(©)

(D)
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the Alliance Solutions Closing Net Asset Value less the Alliance
Solutions Target Net Asset Value (which sum may be positive or
negative), plus

the value of any Customer Contracts Valuation to which Alliance
Solutions is a party pursuant to the applicable Customer Contracts
Valuation (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

less one-third
(1/3) of the (which sum may be

positive or negative).

WNHI shall calculate the sum of:

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

the WNHI Closing Net Working Capital less the WNHI Target Net
Working Capital (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

the WNHI Closing Net Fixed Assets less the WNHI Target Net
Fixed Assets (which sum may be positive or negative), plus

the WNHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance less the WNHI Target
Net Regulatory Balance (which sum may be positive or negative),
plus

the WNHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities less the WNHI
Target Net Other Assets and Liabilities; plus

the WNHI Closing Total Net Debt less the WNHI Target Total Net
Debt (which sum may be positive or negative).

with the sum of all of the amounts referred to in this Section 2.5(b) referred to as
the “Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount”.

(©) For the purposes of this Article 2:

(i)

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

“Alliance Solutions Closing Net Asset Value” means the total
shareholder’s equity as set out in the applicable Waterloo North Closing
Financial Statements;

“Alliance Solutions Target Net Asset Value” means .

“Eyedro Closing Net Asset Value” means: 23.65% of the sum of (i)
shareholders’ equity, plus (ii) the preferred shares net of transaction costs
as shown on the applicable Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements
(i.e. the Eyedro unaudited Closing financial statements);

“Eyedro Target Net Asset Value” means -
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“GRE Closing Net Asset Value” means 1/3 of the shareholders’ equity as
shown on the Closing GRE Financial Statements;

“GRE Target Net Asset Value” means -

“KESI Closing Net Asset Value” means the shareholder’s equity of KESI
as shown on the applicable KW Closing Financial Statements;

“KESI Target Net Asset Value” means -

“KPC Closing Net Asset Value” means the sum of (i) total non-
consolidated shareholders’ equity, less (ii) the investments in its
subsidiaries and associates, all as set out in the applicable KW Closing
Financial Statements (i.e. the Closing non-consolidated financial statements
of KPC);

“KPC Target Net Asset Value” means -

“KWHI Closing Net Fixed Assets” means the value of the Fixed Assets as
defined and based on the applicable KW Closing Financial Statements;

“KWHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities” means any current or
long term assets or liabilities not included within the KWHI Closing Net
Working Capital, KWHI Closing Net Fixed Assets, KWHI Closing Net
Regulatory Balance or KWHI Closing Total Net Debt, provided; however,
that Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities will exclude any derivative
assets or liabilities, net of any associated deferred tax as determined in
accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and based on the applicable KW
Closing Financial Statements;

“KWHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance” means the asset regulatory
balances net of deferred tax component, if any, less liability regulatory
balances net of deferred tax component, if any, in each case as determined
in accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and as shown on the
applicable KW Closing Financial Statements;

“KWHI Closing Total Net Debt” means the sum of the Total Debt of
KWHI as defined, cash and cash equivalents, bank indebtedness, and net
deferred tax assets or liabilities in each case based on the applicable KW
Closing Financial Statements;

“KWHI Closing Working Capital” means the sum of the Current Assets
of KWHI less the Current Liabilities of KWHI, in each case as determined
in accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and as shown on the
applicable KW Closing Financial Statements;

“KWHI Target Net Fixed Assets” means _
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“KWHI Target Net Other Assets and Liabilities” means .
“KWHI Target Net Regulatory Balance” means _

“KWHI Target Net Working Capital” means _

“KWHI Target Total Net Debt” means _

“Waterloo North Holdings Closing Net Asset VValue” means the sum of
(i) total non-consolidated shareholder’s equity, less (ii) investments in its
subsidiaries and associates, all as set out in the applicable Waterloo North
Closing Financial Statements (i.e. the Closing non-consolidated financial
statements of Waterloo North Holdings);

“Waterloo North Holdings Target Net Asset Value” means -

“WNHI Closing Net Fixed Assets” means the value of the Fixed Assets as
defined and as included on the applicable Waterloo North Closing Financial
Statements;

“WNHI Closing Net Other Assets and Liabilities” means any current or
long term asset or liability not included within the WNHI Closing Net
Working Capital, WNHI Closing Net Fixed Assets, WNHI Closing Net
Regulatory Balance, or WNHI Closing Total Net Debt; provided, however,
that other liabilities will: (a) include related party loan balances, and (b)
exclude derivative assets or liabilities, net of any associated deferred tax, all
as determined in accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and as shown
on the applicable Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements;

“WNHI Closing Net Regulatory Balance” means the asset regulatory
balances net of deferred tax component, if any, less the liability regulatory
balances net of deferred tax component, if any, in each case as determined
in accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and as shown on the
applicable Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements;

“WNHI Closing Net Working Capital” means the sum of the Current
Assets of WNHI less the Current Liabilities of WNHI, in each case as
determined in accordance with IFRS, consistently applied and as shown on
the applicable Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements;

“WNHI Closing Total Net Debt” means the sum of the Total Debt of
WNHI as defined, cash and cash equivalents, bank indebtedness, and net
deferred tax assets or liabilities, in each case based on the applicable
Waterloo North Closing Financial Statements;

“WNHI Target Net Fixed Assets” means _
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“WNHI Target Net Other Assets and Liabilities” means -

“WNHI Target Net Regulatory Balance” means _
“WNHI Target Net Working Capital” means _ and

“WNHI Target Total Net Debt” means _

2.6 Implementation of Adjustments

@ As soon as practicable following the final determination of the KPC Group
Adjustment Amount and the Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount:

(i)

(i)

Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly) shall send a redemption notice to
Amalco Holdco in accordance with the redemption terms attached to its
Special Shares if the KPC Group Adjustment Amount as a percentage of
the KPC Group Valuation is higher than the Waterloo North Group
Adjustment Amount as a percentage of the Waterloo North Group
Valuation. Such redemption notice shall notify Amalco Holdco of
Kitchener and Wilmot’s intention to redeem the Special Shares it holds in
Amalco Holdco. Amalco Holdco, in accordance with the redemption terms
applicable to the Special Shares, shall pay to Kitchener and Wilmot, and
Kitchener and Wilmot shall be entitled to receive from Amalco Holdco, the
Net Adjustment Amount. In this situation, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley shall each send a redemption notice to Amalco Holdco in
accordance with the redemption terms applicable to the Special Shares,
notifying Amalco Holdco of their intention to have their respective Special
Shares redeemed for the price of $1.00, in the aggregate.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall send a redemption notice to
Amalco Holdco in accordance with the redemption terms attached to its
Special Shares if the Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount as a
percentage of the Waterloo North Group Valuation is higher than the KPC
Group Adjustment Amount as a percentage of the KPC Group Valuation.
Such redemption notice shall notify Amalco Holdco of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley’s intention to redeem the Special Shares each
holds in Amalco Holdco. Amalco Holdco, in accordance with the
redemption terms applicable to the Special Shares, shall pay to Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley, and Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall be
entitled to receive from Amalco Holdco, the Net Adjustment Amount. In
this situation, Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly) shall send a redemption
notice to Amalco Holdco in accordance with the redemption terms
applicable to the Special Shares, notifying Amalco Holdco of their intention
to have their respective Special Shares redeemed for the price of $1.00, in
the aggregate.
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(iii) Each of Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall send
a redemption notice to Amalco Holdco in accordance with the redemption
terms applicable to the Special Shares held by each of them notifying
Amalco Holdco of their intention to have their respective Special Shares
redeemed for the price of $1.00, in the aggregate if the Net Adjustment
Amount is zero.

(iv) Illustrative examples of the calculations of the KPC Group Adjustment
Amount and the Waterloo North Group Adjustment Amount are set out in
Schedule 2.6(a)(iv). In the case of any conflict between Schedule 2.6(a)(iv)
and this Article 2, this Article 2 shall prevail.

(b) Amalco Holdco shall pay the applicable redemption amount in cash to the
redeeming shareholder in the amounts and at the times prescribed by the Share
Capital provisions set forth in Schedule 2.6(b).

(©) Each of LDC Amalco, KESI and Alliance Solutions, as applicable, will declare
dividends in such amounts as may be required by Amalco Holdco to fund any
payments or dividends in connection with any Special Shares.

2.7  Nature and Intent of Adjustments (No Double Counting)

Each of the Parties acknowledges and agrees that the calculations performed pursuant to this
Article 2 including the determination of the KPC Group Adjustment Amount and the Waterloo
North Group Adjustment Amount, as applicable, shall be calculated without duplication or double
counting of amounts.

ARTICLE 3
GENERAL REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each of Parties hereby severally represents and warrants as follows to each other that, the
representations and warranties set out below with respect to itself are true and correct on the date
hereof and acknowledge that each such other Party is relying on such representations and
warranties:

3.1 Corporate Existence

It is a corporation (in the case of Waterloo, Woolwich, Wellesley, Kitchener and Wilmot, a
municipal corporation), duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of Ontario.

3.2 Capacity to Enter Agreement

It has all necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into and perform its obligations
under this Agreement and each of the other documents and agreements to be entered into by it
pursuant to this Agreement.
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3.3 Binding Obligation

The execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the other documents and agreements to
be entered into by it pursuant to this Agreement and the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and such other documents and agreements by it have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on its part. This Agreement has been duly executed
and delivered by such entity and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of such entity,
enforceable against it in accordance with the terms hereof, subject to applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency and other Laws of general application limiting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally and to the fact that equitable remedies, including specific performance, are discretionary
and may not be ordered in respect of certain defaults.

3.4 Absence of Conflict

None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the other documents and
agreements to be entered into by it pursuant to this Agreement, the performance by it of its
obligations hereunder and thereunder or the completion of the transactions contemplated hereunder
and thereunder will:

@ result in or constitute a breach of any term or provision of, or constitute a default
under, the Corporate Articles, by-laws or other constating documents of such entity,
or any Contract to which such entity is a party or by which such entity’s
undertakings, property or assets are bound or affected,;

(b) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance on any of the assets of such
entity;

(©) subject to obtaining the regulatory approvals set forth in Article 9, contravene any
applicable Law; or

(d) contravene any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree of any Governmental
Authority.

ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF KITCHENER AND WILMOT

Kitchener and Wilmot severally and not jointly represent and warrant to Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley as follows, and acknowledges that each of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley are
relying upon these representations and warranties in connection with the Amalgamations. Each
exception to the following representations and warranties is set out in the disclosure schedule
attached as Schedule 4.1 (the “KW Disclosure Schedule”).

4.1 Residence

No member of the KPC Group is a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the ITA.
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4.2 Regulatory Approvals

Except as set out in Article 9 and except as has already been obtained, no authorization, approval,
order, consent of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required on the part of Kitchener
and Wilmot, KPC Group in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by any of
them of this Agreement or any other documents and agreements to be delivered under this
Agreement or in connection with the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby.

4.3 Consents

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there is no requirement to obtain any consent,
approval or waiver of a party under any Material Contract to which Kitchener and Wilmot or the
KPC Group is a party in order to complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

4.4  Share Ownership, Etc.

@) As at the date hereof, Kitchener is the legal and beneficial owner of 18,450
common shares in the capital of KPC and Wilmot is the legal and beneficial owner
of 1,550 common shares in the capital of KPC, with good and marketable title
thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances, being in aggregate all of the issued and
outstanding shares of KPC. Immediately prior to Closing, Kitchener and Wilmot
will be the legal and beneficial owner of all of the issued and outstanding common
shares of KPC with good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all
Encumbrances.

(b) KPC is the legal and beneficial owner of 10,000 common shares of KWHI with
good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than
Permitted Encumbrances), being in aggregate all of the issued and outstanding
shares of KWHI.

(c)  KPCisthe legal and beneficial owner of_ of KESI with good
and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than
Permitted Encumbrances), being in aggregate all of the issued and outstanding
shares of KESI.

(d)  KPC is the legal and beneficial owner of _ of GRE with
good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than
Permitted Encumbrances).

(e) Kitchener and Wilmot are each the legal and beneficial owners of the promissory
notes as described in the KW Disclosure Schedule (the “Kitchener and Wilmot
Promissory Notes”). None of the Kitchener and Wilmot Promissory Notes
contains any rights of the holders thereof or any member of the KPC Group to
convert, redeem or otherwise exchange any of such Kitchener and Wilmot
Promissory Notes into any shares or other securities of the KPC Group.
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()] Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule or in this Section 4.4, the KPC
Group does not own or hold, directly or indirectly, any Securities of, or have any
other interest in, any Person, and no member of the KPC Group has entered into
any agreement to acquire any such interests.

45  Corporate Existence of the KPC Group

Each member of the KPC Group has been duly incorporated and organized and are validly existing
and in good standing as a corporation under the laws of the Province of Ontario. No proceedings
have been taken or authorized by any member of the KPC Group in respect of the bankruptcy,
insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of such member of the KPC Group.

4.6  Corporate Articles

Their respective Corporate Articles constitute all of the charter documents of each member of the
KPC Group and are in full force and effect; no action has been taken to amend any Corporate
Articles and no changes to such Corporate Articles are planned other than as contemplated in this
Agreement.

4.7  Capacity and Powers of the KPC Group

Each member of the KPC Group has all necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to own
or lease its respective assets and to carry on the KPC Business as currently being conducted by the
applicable member of the KPC Group.

4.8 Jurisdictions

Ontario is the only jurisdiction in which the members of the KPC Group are qualified to do
business. Neither the character nor location of the KPC Group Owned Lands or KPC Group Leased
Premises, nor the nature of the KPC Business requires qualification to do business in any other
jurisdiction.

4.9  Options, Etc.

Except as provided in this Agreement, no Person has any written or oral agreement or option or
any right or privilege (whether by Law, pre-emptive, contractual or otherwise) capable of
becoming an agreement or option, including Securities, warrants or convertible obligations of any
nature, for:

@ the purchase of any Securities of any member of the KPC Group; or

(b) the purchase of any of the assets of any member of the KPC Group other than in
the ordinary course of the KPC Business.
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410 Corporate Records/Directors

(@)

(b)

The corporate records and minute books of the KPC Group which have been made
available contain in all material respects complete and accurate minutes of all
meetings of, and all written resolutions passed by, the directors and shareholders of
the KPC Group, held or passed since incorporation. All those meetings were held,
all those resolutions were passed, and the share certificate books, registers of
shareholders, registers of transfers and registers of directors of the applicable
member of the KPC Group are complete and accurate in all material respects.

The KW Disclosure Schedule contains the name of each director of the applicable
member of the KPC Group, including the date on which each of such director was
most recently elected as a director, and each such individual has been duly elected
a director of the respective member of the KPC Group.

411 Books and Records

The Books and Records of the KPC Group fairly and correctly set out and disclose in accordance
with IFRS in all material respects the financial position of the KPC Group, and all material
financial transactions of the KPC Group have been accurately recorded in such Books and Records.

4.12 Financial Statements

Copies of the KPC Financial Statements and the KWHI Financial Statements are attached to the
KW Disclosure Schedule. Such KPC Financial Statements and KWHI Financial Statements have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS and present fairly:

(@)

(b)

the assets, liabilities (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) and the
financial condition of each member of the KPC Group as at the respective dates
thereof; and

the sales, earnings and results of the operations of the applicable member of the
KPC Group during the periods covered by such KPC Financial Statements and
KWHI Financial Statements;

but the unaudited interim financial statements:

(©)
(d)

do not contain all notes required under IFRS; and

are subject to normal year-end audit adjustments.

4,13 Tax Matters

(@)

The members of the KPC Group are exempt from Tax under the ITA, CTA and TA
but each of them is required to make PILs payments under the EA in an amount
equal to the Tax that it would be liable to pay under the ITA, CTA and TA if it were
not exempt from Tax under those statutes.
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The members of the KPC Group have filed in the prescribed manner and within the
prescribed times all Tax Returns required to be filed by it in all applicable
jurisdictions on a timely basis. All such Tax Returns are complete and correct and
disclose all Taxes required to be paid for the periods covered thereby. No member
of the KPC Group has been required to file any Tax Returns with, and have never
been liable to pay or remit Taxes to, any Governmental Authority outside Canada.
The KPC Group have paid all Taxes and all instalments of Taxes due on or before
the date hereof. Kitchener and Wilmot has furnished to the Waterloo North Group
true, complete and accurate copies of all Tax Returns and any amendments thereto
filed by the KPC Group since December 31, 2017 and all notices of assessment and
reassessment and all correspondence with Governmental Authorities relating
thereto.

Assessments under the EA have been issued to the KPC Group covering all periods
up to and including its fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

There are no audits, assessments, reassessments or other Claims in progress or, to
the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened against any member of the
KPC Group, in respect of any Taxes and, in particular, there are no currently
outstanding reassessments or written enquiries which have been issued or raised by
any Governmental Authority relating to any such Taxes. To the Knowledge of
Kitchener and Wilmot, there is no contingent liability of any member of the KPC
Group for Taxes or any grounds that could prompt an assessment or reassessment
for Taxes. No member of the KPC Group has received any indication from any
Governmental Authority that any assessment or reassessment is proposed.

No member of the KPC Group has entered into any transactions with any non-
resident of Canada (for the purposes of the ITA) with whom such member of the
KPC Group was not dealing at arm’s length (within the meaning of the ITA). No
member of KPC Group has acquired property from any Person in circumstances
where such member of the KPC Group did or could have become liable for any
Taxes payable by that Person.

No member of the KPC Group will be required to include in a taxable period ending
after the Closing Date any material taxable income attributable to income that
accrued in a taxable period prior to the Closing Date but was not recognized for
Tax purposes in such prior taxable period (or to exclude from taxable income in a
taxable period ending after the Closing Date any material deduction the recognition
of which was accelerated from such taxable period to a taxable period prior to the
Closing Date).

There are no circumstances existing which could result in, or which have existed
and resulted in, the application of section 78 of the ITA, as it applies for purposes
of the EA, in respect of an amount owing by a member of the KPC Group on the
Closing Date.
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No member of the KPC Group has entered into any agreements, waivers or other
arrangements with any Governmental Authority providing for an extension of time
with respect to the issuance of any assessment or reassessment, the filing of any
Tax Return, or the payment of any Taxes by or in respect of such member of the
KPC Group. No member of the KPC Group is party to any agreements or
undertakings with respect to Taxes.

Kitchener Power Corp., Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. and Kitchener Energy

Services Inc. are registrants for purposes of the ETA and KPC’s registration number
is d KWHI’s registration number is * and
KESI’s registration number is h Except as set forth on the KW
Disclosure Schedule, all input tax credits claimed by each member of the KPC
Group pursuant to the ETA have been proper, correctly calculated and documented.
Each member of the KPC Group has collected, paid and remitted when due all
Taxes, including goods and services tax, harmonized sales tax and retail sales tax,
collectible, payable or remittable by them.

Each member of the KPC Group has remitted to the appropriate Governmental
Authority when required by Law to do so all amounts collected by it on account of
sales taxes including goods and services tax and harmonized sales tax imposed
under the ETA.

Each member of the KPC Group maintains its Books and Records in compliance
with section 230 of the ITA.

4.14  Absence of Changes

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2020, there has not been:

(@)

(b)

any change in the financial condition, operations, results of operations, or business
of any member of the KPC Group which has had a Material Adverse Effect, nor
has there been any occurrence or circumstances which, to the Knowledge of
Kitchener and Wilmot, with the passage of time might reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect; or

any Loss, labour trouble, or other event, development or condition of any character
(whether or not covered by insurance) suffered by KPC Group which, to the
Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, has had, or may reasonably be expected to
have, a Material Adverse Effect.

4.15 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities

Except to the extent reflected or reserved in the KPC Financial Statements and the KWHI Financial
Statements, or incurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 and:

(@)

disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule; or
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(b) incurred in the ordinary course of the KPC Business;

no member of the KPC Group has any material outstanding indebtedness or any liabilities or
obligations (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, including under any guarantee of
any debt) of a nature customarily reflected or reserved against in a balance sheet (including the
notes to the KPC Financial Statements, the KWHI Financial Statements and the KESI Financial
Statements) in accordance with IFRS. For the purposes of this Section 4.15 only, indebtedness,
liabilities or obligations owing to any third party will be deemed to be
material.

416 Absence of Unusual Transactions

Except as disclosed or referred to in the KW Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2020 no
member of the KPC Group has:

@) given any guarantee of any debt, liability or obligation of any Person;

(b) subjected any of its assets, or permitted any of its assets to be subjected, to any
Encumbrance other than the Permitted Encumbrances;

(c) acquired, sold, leased or otherwise disposed of or transferred any assets other than
in the ordinary course of the KPC Business;

(d) made or committed to any capital expenditures other than in the ordinary course of
the KPC Business;

(e) declared or paid any dividend or otherwise made any distribution or other payment
of any kind or nature to any of its shareholders or any other non-arm’s length
Person, or taken any corporate proceedings for that purpose;

()] redeemed, purchased or otherwise retired any of its shares or otherwise reduced its
stated capital;

(0) entered into or become bound by any Contract except in the ordinary course of the
KPC Business (other than this Agreement);

(h) modified, amended or terminated any Contract (except for Contracts which expire
by the passage of time) resulting in a Material Adverse Effect;

Q) waived or released any right or rights which it has or had, or a debt or debts owed
to it resulting, collectively or individually, in a Material Adverse Effect;

() made any change in any compensation arrangement or agreement with any KPC
Employee except for annual merit pay increases and incentive payments consistent
with the ordinary course of the KPC Business;
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(k) made any change in any method of accounting or auditing practice (other than as
disclosed in the KPC Financial Statements, KESI Financial Statements or KWHI
Financial Statements and/or in order to make its financial disclosure consistent with
the financial disclosure of the KPC Group as regards accrued CDM bonus or as
regards loss revenue adjustment mechanism recoveries); or

() agreed or offered to do any of the things described in this Section 4.16.
4.17 Title to and Condition of Assets

Each member of the KPC Group owns, possesses and has good and marketable title to all of its
undertakings, property and assets not otherwise the subject of specific representations and
warranties in this Article 4, including all the undertakings, property and assets reflected in the most
recent balance sheet included in the KPC Financial Statements or the KWHI Financial Statements
(as applicable), free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances. The
undertakings, property and assets of each member of the KPC Group comprise all of the
undertakings, property and assets necessary for it to carry on the KPC Business as it is currently
operated by such member of the KPC Group. All facilities, machinery, equipment, fixtures,
vehicles and other properties owned, leased or used by each member of the KPC Group are in good
operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and are reasonably fit and usable
for the purposes for which they are being used.

418 Real Property

@ The KW Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of the KPC
Group Owned Lands, including complete legal descriptions, and the particulars of
the KPC Group Leased Premises and KPC Group Real Property Leases. No
member of the KPC Group owns any real property and does not lease and has not
agreed to acquire or lease any real property other than as listed in the KW
Disclosure Schedule.

(b) Each member of the KPC Group has all Easements that are necessary for it to carry
on the KPC Business as it is currently operated by such member of the KPC Group.

(©) No member of the KPC Group has received any, nor to the Knowledge of Kitchener
and Wilmot are there any pending or threatened, notices of violation or alleged
violation of any Laws against or affecting any KPC Group Owned Lands or KPC
Group Leased Premises or KPC Group Easements.

(d) The buildings and other structures and improvements located on the KPC Group
Owned Lands or forming part of the KPC Group Leased Premises, and their
operation and maintenance, comply with all applicable Laws, and none of those
buildings or structures or improvements encroaches upon any land not owned or
leased by the applicable member of the KPC Group.
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There are no restrictive covenants or Laws which in any way restrict or prohibit
any part of the present use of the KPC Group Owned Lands or KPC Group Leased
Premises or KPC Group Easements, other than the Permitted Encumbrances. Each
member of the KPC Group has such rights of entry and exit to and from the KPC
Group Owned Lands and the KPC Group Leased Premises and the KPC Group
Easements as are reasonably necessarily to carry on the KPC Business.

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, no Person has any right to
purchase any of the KPC Group Owned Lands and no Person other than KWHI is
using or has any right to use, is in possession or occupancy, of any part of the KPC
Group Owned Lands. There exists no option, right of first refusal or other
contractual rights with respect to any of the KPC Group Owned Lands.

There are no expropriation or similar proceedings, actual or threatened, of which
any member of the KPC Group or Kitchener and Wilmot have received notice,
against any of the KPC Group Owned Lands or KPC Group Leased Premises or
KPC Group Easements.

The KPC Group Owned Lands are owned in fee simple, free and clear of all
Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances. No member of the KPC Group
has entered into any contract to sell, transfer, encumber, or otherwise dispose of or
impair the right, title and interest of such member of the KPC Group in and to the
KPC Group Owned Lands or the air, density and easement rights relating to such
KPC Group Owned Lands.

All of the KPC Group Real Property Leases are in full force and effect, unamended,
and none of them are, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, under any threat
of termination.

All of the KPC Group Easements are in full force and effect and none of them are,
to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, under any threat of termination.

Neither Kitchener and Wilmot nor any member of the KPC Group has received any
notification of, nor are there any outstanding or incomplete work orders in respect
of any Fixed Assets on the KPC Group Owned Lands, KPC Group Leased Premises
or KPC Group Easements, or of any current noncompliance (other than non-
compliances which are legal non-conforming under relevant zoning by-laws) with
applicable statutes and regulations or building and zoning by-laws and regulations.

All accounts for work and services performed or materials placed or furnished upon
or in respect of the construction and completion of any Fixed Assets constructed on
the KPC Group Owned Lands or the KPC Group Leased Premises or the KPC
Group Easements have been fully paid to the extent due and no Person is entitled
to claim a lien under the Construction Act (Ontario) or other similar legislation for
such work.
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(m)  Tothe Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, there are no matters affecting the right,
title and interest of any member of the KPC Group in and to the KPC Group Owned
Lands or the KPC Group Leased Premises or the KPC Group Easements (other than
the Permitted Encumbrances) or which, in the aggregate, would materially and
adversely affect the ability of such member of the KPC Group to carry on the KPC
Business upon such KPC Group Owned Lands or the KPC Group Leased Premises
or the KPC Group Easements, as applicable.

4.19 Intellectual Property

@) The KW Disclosure Schedule includes a list of all Intellectual Property that is
registered with any Governmental Authority and that is used in connection with the
conduct of the KPC Business, including all trade-marks and trade-mark
applications, trade names, certification marks, patents and patent applications,
copyrights, domain names, industrial designs, trade secrets, know-how, formulae,
processes, inventions, technical expertise, research data and other similar property,
all associated registrations and applications for registration, and all associated
rights, including moral rights, the jurisdictions (if any) in which that Intellectual
Property is registered (or in which application for registration has been made) and
the applicable expiry dates of all listed registrations.

(b) All necessary legal steps have been taken by the KPC Group to preserve their
respective rights to the Intellectual Property listed in the KW Disclosure Schedule.
The KW Disclosure Schedule also includes a list of all licence agreements pursuant
to which KPC Group have been granted a right to use, or otherwise exploit
Intellectual Property owned by third parties, other than “off-the-shelf” software
license agreements.

(c) The Intellectual Property that is owned by the members of the KPC Group (as
applicable) is owned free and clear of any Encumbrances other than Permitted
Encumbrances, and no Person other than the applicable member of the KPC Group
has any right to use that Intellectual Property except as disclosed in the KW
Disclosure Schedule.

(d) The use by the members of the KPC Group of any Intellectual Property owned by
third parties is valid, and the KPC Group is not in default or breach of any licence
agreement relating to that Intellectual Property, and there exists no state of facts
which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default or breach.

(e The conduct by the members of the KPC Group of the KPC Business does not
infringe the Intellectual Property of any Person.

4.20 Accounts Receivable

All Accounts Receivable reflected in the KPC Financial Statements, KESI Financial Statements
and the KWHI Financial Statements, as applicable, or which have come into existence since the
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date of the most recent KPC Financial Statements, KESI Financial Statements and KWHI
Financial Statements, were created in the ordinary and customary course of the KPC Business
from bona fide arm’s length transactions, and, except to the extent that they have been paid in the
ordinary course of such KPC Business since the date of the KPC Financial Statements, KESI
Financial Statements and the KWHI Financial Statements, are valid and enforceable and
collectible in full, without, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, any right of set-off or
counterclaim or any reduction for any credit or allowance made or given, except to the extent of
the allowance for doubtful accounts which will be included in the KPC Closing Financial
Statements, KESI Closing Financial Statements or KWHI Closing Financial Statements, as
applicable.

4.21 Material Contracts

@) The KW Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all Material Contracts to which each
member of the KPC Group is a party. Kitchener and Wilmot have previously
delivered or made available true and complete copies of such Material Contracts,
all of which are in full force and effect, unamended (except for amendments which
have previously been disclosed or made available).

(b) No counterparty to any Material Contract to which any member of the KPC Group
is a party is in default of any of its obligations under such Material Contract in any
material respect. Each member of the KPC Group is entitled to all benefits accruing
to it under each Material Contract to which it is a party, and no member of the KPC
Group has received any notice of termination of any Material Contract, and there
are no current or pending negotiations with respect to the renewal, repudiation or
amendment of any such Material Contract.

4.22  Accounts and Powers of Attorney
Each member of the KPC Group has previously disclosed:

@ the name of each bank or other depository in which such member of the KPC Group
maintains any bank account, trust account or safety deposit box and the names of
all individuals authorized to draw on them or who have access to them; and

(b) the name of each Person holding a general or special power of attorney from KPC
Group and a summary of its terms.

4.23 Compliance with Laws, Permits

@) Each member of the KPC Group is conducting the KPC Business in compliance
with all applicable Laws where the failure to do so (either individually or in the
aggregate) would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) All Permits held by or granted to each member of the KPC Group are listed in the
KW Disclosure Schedule. Such Permits are the only authorizations, registrations,
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permits, approvals, grants, licences, quotas, consents, commitments, rights or
privileges (other than those relating to Intellectual Property) required to enable each
member of the KPC Group to carry on the KPC Business as currently conducted
and to enable each member of the KPC Group to own, lease and operate its assets.
All such Permits are valid, subsisting, in full force and effect and unamended, and
no member of the KPC Group is in default or breach of any such Permit; no
proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened
to revoke or limit any such Permit, and the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement will not result in the revocation of any such Permit
or the breach of any term, provision, condition or limitation affecting the ongoing
validity of any such Permit.

4.24 Environmental Conditions

Without limiting the generality of Section 4.23, and except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure

Schedule:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

the conduct of the KPC Business by the members of the KPC Group, and the current
use and condition of each of the KPC Group Leased Premises and KPC Group
Owned Lands have been and are in compliance with all applicable Environmental
Laws in all material respects, and, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, there
are no facts which would give rise to any such non-compliance of any member of
the KPC Group with any Environmental Laws either in the conduct of the KPC
Business or in the current uses and condition of each of the KPC Group Leased
Premises and the KPC Group Owned Lands;

each member of the KPC Group has all Permits required by all Environmental Laws
for the conduct by the KPC Group of the KPC Business (“KPC Environmental
Approvals”), which KPC Environmental Approvals are valid and in full force and
effect and listed in the KW Disclosure Schedule. Each member of the KPC Group
is in compliance with all those KPC Environmental Approvals, and there have not
been and there are no proceedings commenced or threatened to revoke or amend
any such KPC Environmental Approvals in a manner that could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

each member of the KPC Group and each Person for whom such members of the
KPC Group are responsible pursuant to all Environmental Laws, have imported,
manufactured, processed, distributed, used, treated, stored, disposed of,
transported, exported or handled Hazardous Substances in compliance with all
Environmental Laws;

to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, no Hazardous Substances have been
disposed of on any of the KPC Group Leased Premises or the KPC Group Owned
Lands, and there are no underground storage tanks on the KPC Group Leased
Premises or the KPC Group Owned Lands and any underground storage tanks
formerly on the KPC Group Leased Premises or the KPC Group Owned Lands have
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been removed and any affected soil, surface water or ground water has been
remediated in compliance with all applicable Laws including Environmental Laws;

no part of the KPC Group Owned Lands has ever been used as a landfill or for the
disposal of waste;

there has been no Release of any Hazardous Substance in the course of the KPC
Business from, at, on, or under the KPC Group Leased Premises or the KPC Group
Owned Lands or, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, from or on to any
other properties, except in compliance with all Environmental Laws;

no member of the KPC Group has received any notice of any kind of any Release
or possible Release of any Hazardous Substance from, at, on, or under any of the
KPC Group Leased Premises or KPC Group Owned Lands, or from or on to any
other properties;

to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, there are no Hazardous Substances on
any adjoining properties to any of the KPC Group Leased Premises or KPC Group
Owned Lands which may adversely affect the KPC Business, or any of the KPC
Group Leased Premises or KPC Group Owned Lands;

there has been no Remedial Order issued to any member of the KPC Group in
respect of the KPC Business, or with respect to any of the KPC Group Leased
Premises or the KPC Group Owned Lands and, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and
Wilmot, no Remedial Orders are threatened, and there are no facts which could
reasonably be expected to give rise to any Remedial Orders;

no member of the KPC Group has received any notice of Claim, summons, order,
direction or other communication relating to non-compliance with any
Environmental Laws from any Governmental Authority or other third party, and to
the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, there is no pending or threatened matter,
act or fact which could cause the members of the KPC Group, the conduct of the
KPC Business, or any of the KPC Group Leased Premises or KPC Group Owned
Lands to no longer be in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws; and

no asbestos, asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”)
and PCB wastes are used, stored or otherwise present in or on the KPC Group
Owned Lands except for PCBs contained in the electrical transformers which are
in service and which form an integral part of, and are necessary for the operation
of, the KPC Business. Kitchener and Wilmot have disclosed or made available, in
the KW Disclosure Schedule, all inspection reports received from the Ministry of
the Environment in connection with the handling, transportation and storage of
PCBs by the applicable members of the KPC Group.
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4.25 Suppliers and Customers

The KW Disclosure Schedule lists the 15 largest suppliers of goods and services from whom each
member of the KPC Group has purchased goods or services (other than power) during the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2020. No such supplier sold goods and services to the applicable member
of the KPC Group which represented more than 20% of its annual purchases during such period.
None of the suppliers listed in the KW Disclosure Schedule has advised the KPC Group, either
orally or in writing, that it is terminating or considering terminating its relationship with such
member of the KPC Group, or considering negotiating its relationship with such member of the
KPC Group on terms that would result in a Material Adverse Effect, whether as a result of the
completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.

4.26  Privacy and Information Technology

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

All Personal Information in the possession of the KPC Group has been collected,
used and disclosed in compliance with all applicable Privacy Laws in those
jurisdictions in which the KPC Group conducts, or is deemed by operation of law
in those jurisdictions to conduct, the KPC Business.

Kitchener and Wilmot have disclosed or made available all Contracts and facts
concerning the collection, use, retention, destruction and disclosure of Personal
Information by the applicable members of the KPC Group and there are no other
Contracts, or facts which, on completion of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, would restrict or interfere with the use of any Personal Information by
the applicable members of the KPC Group in the continued operation of the KPC
Business as conducted before the Closing.

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there are no Claims pending
or, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened, with respect to the
collection, use or disclosure of Personal Information by the applicable members of
the KPC Group.

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, each member of the KPC
Group (a) complies with the KPC Group’s Privacy Statements with respect to all
personal information collected, used and/or disclosed by it; (b) complies with all
applicable Privacy Laws; and (c) takes appropriate measures to protect and
maintain the security of the personal information in its possession and/or which it
has access.

The transfer of Personal Information from members of the KPC Group to members
of the Waterloo North Group pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the
transactions contemplated hereunder (including the disclosures made by member
of the KPC Group in the course of the due diligence in anticipation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement), is in compliance with the terms of
the KPC Group’s Privacy Statement and all applicable Privacy Laws.
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Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of Kitchener
and Wilmot, there have been no complaints made or any audit, investigation, claim
or proceeding including court proceeding against any member of the KPC Group
by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner of Canada or any other Governmental
Authority, or by any Person in respect of the collection, retention, use, disclosure,
safeguarding or distribution of Personal Information by any Person in connection
with any member of the KPC Group, nor to the Knowledge of Kitchener and
Wilmot are there any facts which may give rise to any such complaint or audit,
proceeding, investigation or claim.

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule (i) all Electronic Addresses
have been acquired, maintained, updated (including operationalizing opt-out
requests) and stored, and (ii) all Electronic Messages sent and/or delivered by or on
behalf of any member of the KPC Group have been sent and/or delivered, in
accordance with Laws, including but not limited to Anti-Spam Laws and Privacy
Laws.

The KPC Systems are reasonably sufficient for the immediate needs of the KPC
Business, including as to capacity, scalability, and ability to process current and
anticipated peak volumes in a timely manner. The KPC Systems are in sufficiently
good working condition to perform all information technology operations and
include sufficient licensed capacity (whether in terms of authorized sites, units,
users, seats or otherwise) for all software used by members of the KPC Group, in
each case as necessary for the conduct of the KPC Business as currently conducted.

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, in the last five years, there has
been no unauthorized access, use, intrusion or breach of security, or failure,
breakdown, performance reduction or other adverse event affecting any KPC
Systems, that has caused or could reasonably be expected to cause any: (i)
substantial disruption of or interruption in or to the use of such KPC Systems or the
conduct of the KPC Business; (ii) loss, destruction, damage or harm of or to any
member of the KPC Group or its operations, personnel, property or other assets; or
(iii) liability of any kind to any member of the KPC Group. Each member of the
KPC Group has taken reasonable actions, consistent with applicable industry
practices, to protect the integrity and security of the KPC Systems and the data and
other information stored thereon.

Each member of the KPC Group maintains commercially reasonable back-up and
data recovery, disaster recovery and business continuity plans, procedures and
facilities, acts in material compliance therewith, and tests such plans and procedures
on a regular basis, and such plans and procedures have been proven effective upon
such testing.

Each member of the KPC Group maintains policies and procedures regarding data
security and privacy that are intended to ensure that it is in compliance with all
Laws and that are consistent with or exceed customary industry practices. Each
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member of the KPC Group is, and has been, in compliance in all material respects
with (i) such foregoing policies and procedures, and (ii) all applicable data
protection or privacy laws governing the use, collection, storage, disclosure and
transfer of any personally identifiable information of third parties collected by it.
Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there have not been any (1)
losses or thefts of data or security breaches relating to data used or stored in the
KPC Business, (2) violations of any security policy regarding any such data, (3)
unauthorized access or unauthorized use of any such data, or (4) unintended or
improper disclosure of any personally identifiable information in the possession,
custody or control of it or a contractor or agent acting on behalf of it. Except as
disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there have not been any written
complaints, written notices or legal proceedings or other written claims related to
any of the foregoing in clauses (ii) or (1) through (4) above.

4.27 Employees and Employment Contracts

(@)

(b)

(©)

Kitchener and Wilmot has made available in the Data Room the names, titles and
status (active or non-active, and if not active, reason why and period of time not
active) of all KPC Employees together with particulars of the material terms and
conditions of their employment or engagement, including current rates of
remuneration, perquisites, commissions, bonus or other incentive compensation
(monetary or otherwise), most recent hire date, cumulative years of service, start
and end dates of all previous periods of service, benefits, vacation or personal time
off entitlements, current positions held and, if available, projected rates of
remuneration, and whether the employee is a member of a collective bargaining
union or agency and whether the employee is subject to the KPC Collective
Agreement.

To the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, no KPC Employee nor any consultant
with whom the applicable members of the KPC Group has contracted, is in
violation of any term of any employment contract, contract of engagement, services
agreement, proprietary information agreement or any other agreement relating to
the right of that individual to be employed, engaged or retained by the applicable
members of the KPC Group in any material respect, and, to the Knowledge of
Kitchener and Wilmaot, the continued employment or engagement by the members
of the KPC Group of the KPC Employees will not result in any such violation. No
member of the KPC Group has received any notice alleging that any such violation
has occurred.

Except as disclosed in the Data Room, all of the KPC Employees are employed,
engaged or retained for an indefinite term and none are subject to written
employment agreements, contracts of engagement or services agreements.
Kitchener and Wilmot has made available in the Data Room true and complete
copies of any written employment agreements, contracts of engagement or services
agreements of all KPC Employees. No officer has given notice, oral or written, of
an intention to cease being employed with the KPC Group (other than the pending
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employee retirements disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule), and no member
of the KPC Group intends to terminate the employment of any officer.

(d) The members of the KPC Group have operated in compliance with all Laws relating
to employees in all material respects, including employment standards and all Laws
relating in whole or in part to the protection of employee health and safety, human
rights, labour relations and pay equity. Except as disclosed or referred to in the KW
Disclosure Schedule, there have been no Claims within the past three years nor, to
the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, are there any threatened complaints,
under such Laws against the members of the KPC Group. To the Knowledge of
Kitchener and Wilmot, nothing has occurred which might lead to a Claim or
complaint against the members of the KPC Group under any such Laws. There are
no outstanding decisions or settlements or pending settlements which place any
obligation upon the members of the KPC Group to do or refrain from doing any
act.

(e There is no strike or lockout occurring or affecting, or to the Knowledge of
Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened against any member of the KPC Group.

Unions

@) Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there are no apparent or, to the
Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened union organizing activities
involving KPC Employees.

(b) No member of the KPC Group has any labour problems that would reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or lead to any interruption of
operations at any location.

(©) No member of the KPC Group has engaged in any lay-off or other activities within
the last three years in respect of the KPC Business that would violate or in any way
subject the members of the KPC Group to the group termination or lay-off
requirements of the Laws of any jurisdiction that apply to the members of the KPC
Group.

(d) Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, no member of the KPC Group
is bound by or a party to, either directly or by operation of law, any collective
bargaining agreement (the “KPC Collective Agreement”) with any trade union or
association which might qualify as a trade union, and no trade union, association,
council of trade unions, employee bargaining agency or affiliated bargaining agent:

Q) holds bargaining rights with respect to any of the KPC Employees by way
of certification, interim certification, voluntary recognition, designation or
successor rights;
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(i) has, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, applied to be certified or
requested to be voluntarily recognized as the bargaining agent of any of the
KPC Employees;

(iii) has, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, applied to have any
member of the KPC Group declared a related or successor employer under
applicable provincial labour or employment Law; or

(iv) has, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, filed a complaint or charge
under applicable provincial labour or employment Law within the last three
years.

4.29 Employee Benefits Matters

(@)

(b)

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, no member of the KPC Group
is:

Q) a party to, bound by or subject to, or has any liability or contingent liability
relating to, any employment agreement, retention agreement, bonus
arrangements or any other agreement or arrangement relating to Employee
Benefits;

(i) in arrears in the payment of any contribution or assessment required to be
made by it pursuant to any agreements or arrangements relating to
Employee Benefits; or

(iii) a party to or bound by or subject to any agreement or arrangement with any
labour union or employee association in respect of Employee Benefits and
has not made any commitment to or conducted any negotiation or
discussion with any labour union or employee association with respect to
any future agreement or arrangement in respect of Employee Benefits.

All agreements and arrangements relating to Employee Benefits in respect of KPC
Employees set forth in the KW Disclosure Schedule (other than OMERS, with
respect to which Kitchener and Wilmot makes no representation under this
Section 4.29(b)) are, and have been, established, registered (where required), and
administered without default, in material compliance with (i) the terms thereof; and
(ii) all applicable Laws; and no member of the KPC Group has received, in the last
four years, any notice from any Person questioning or challenging such compliance
(other than in respect of any claim related solely to that Person), nor does Kitchener
and Wilmot have any Knowledge of any such notice from any Person questioning
or challenging such compliance beyond the last four years. Except as disclosed in
the KW Disclosure Schedule or the KPC Collective Agreement, there have been no
improvements, increases or changes to, or promised improvements, increases or
changes to, the benefits provided under any such agreement or arrangement within
the last four years, nor does any such agreement or arrangement provide for benefit
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increases or the acceleration of funding obligations that are contingent upon or will
be triggered by the execution of this Agreement or the Closing.

Except as disclosed in KW Disclosure Schedule, no KPC Employee is on long-term
disability leave, extended absence or receiving benefits pursuant to the Workplace
Safety and Insurance Act, 1997 (Ontario).

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, no agreement or arrangement,
other than OMERS, provides benefits beyond retirement or other termination of
service to employees or former employees of KWHI or KPC or to the beneficiaries
or dependants of such employees or former employees. Other than OMERS, no
such agreement or arrangement requires or permits a retroactive increase in
premiums or payments.

All assessments under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, 1997 (Ontario) in
relation to the KPC Business have been paid or accrued and no member of the KPC
Group is subject to any special or penalty assessment under such legislation which
has not been paid.

Pension Plans

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

Except as disclosed in the KW Disclosure Schedule, OMERS is the only pension
or retirement plan or arrangement in which KPC Employees participate and/or to
which the KPC Group contributes as a participating employer.

All obligations of the KPC Group to or under OMERS (whether pursuant to the
terms thereof or any applicable Laws) have been satisfied, and there are no
outstanding defaults or violations thereunder by any member of the KPC Group or
by any predecessor thereof.

There are no going concerns with respect to unfunded actuarial liabilities, past
service unfunded liabilities or solvency deficiencies respecting the KPC Group’s
participation in OMERS.

All employee data necessary to administer the KPC Group’s participation in
OMERS and any other agreement or arrangement listed in the KW Disclosure
Schedule is in the possession of the KPC Group and is complete, correct and in a
form which is sufficient for the proper administration of the KPC Group’s
participation in OMERS in accordance with the terms thereof and all applicable
Laws.

All employer or employee payments, contributions or premiums required to be
remitted or paid by the KPC Group to or in respect of OMERS have been paid or
remitted in a timely fashion in accordance with the terms thereof and all Laws, and
no Taxes, penalties or fees are owing or exigible on any member of the KPC Group
under OMERS.
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4.31 Insurance Policies

The KW Disclosure Schedule lists all Insurance Policies, and also specifies the insurer, the amount
of the coverage, the type of insurance, the policy number and any pending Claims with respect to
each such Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policies insure all the property and assets of the KPC
Group against Loss by all insurable hazards of risk commonly insured against in the industry. All
Insurance Policies are in full force and effect and no member of the KPC Group:

@ is in default, whether as to the payment of premiums or otherwise, under any
material term or condition of any of the Insurance Policies; or

(b) has failed to give notice or present any Claim under any of the Insurance Policies
in a due and timely fashion.

4.32 Litigation

@) Except as disclosed or referred to in the KW Disclosure Schedule, there are no
Claims, whether or not purportedly on behalf of KPC Group, pending, commenced,
or, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot, threatened, which might reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on any member of the KPC Group
or which might involve the possibility of an Encumbrance against the assets of any
member of the KPC Group.

(b) There is no outstanding judgment, decree, order, ruling or injunction involving any
member of the KPC Group or relating in any way to the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

4.33 Withholding

Each member of the KPC Group has withheld from each payment made to any of its past or present
employees, officers or directors, and to any non-resident of Canada, the amount of all Taxes and
other deductions required to be withheld therefrom, including all employee and employer portions
for Workers’ Compensation, Canada Pension Plan, Employer Health Tax and Employment
Insurance and has paid the same to the proper Governmental Authority within the time required
under any applicable Laws.

4.34  No Expropriation

No property or asset of any member of the KPC Group has been taken or expropriated by any
Governmental Authority within the last five years, and no notice or proceeding in respect of any
such expropriation has been given or commenced or, to the Knowledge of Kitchener and Wilmot,
is there any intent or proposal to give any notice or commence any proceeding in respect of any
such expropriation.
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4.35 Absence of Conflict

None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance of any member of the KPC
Group’s obligations under this Agreement, or the completion of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement will:

€)) result in or constitute a breach of any term or provision of, or constitute a default
under, the Corporate Articles or the by-laws of such entity, or any Contract to which
such entity is a party or by which any of such entity’s undertakings, property or
assets is bound or affected,;

(b) subject to obtaining the third party consents contemplated by Section 7.1(c),
constitute an event which would permit any party to any Material Contract with
KPC Group to terminate or sue for damages with respect to that Material Contract,
or to accelerate the maturity of any indebtedness of KPC Group, or other obligation
of KPC Group under that Material Contract;

(©) subject to obtaining the regulatory approvals set forth in Article 9, contravene any
applicable Law; or

(d) contravene any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree of any Governmental
Authority.

4.36 Restrictive Covenants

Other than as provided in the Shareholders Agreement, no member of the KPC Group is a party
to, or bound or affected by, any Contract containing any covenant expressly limiting its ability to
compete in any line of business or to transfer or move any of its assets or operations, or which
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the KPC Business carried on
by the applicable member of the KPC Group.

4.37 KPC Group Business
The business of the KPC Group is limited to the KPC Business.

ARTICLE S
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF WATERLOO, WOOLWICH AND
WELLESLEY

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley severally and not jointly represent and warrant to Kitchener
and Wilmot as follows, and acknowledge that Kitchener and Wilmot are relying upon these
representations and warranties in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, despite any investigation made by or on behalf of Kitchener and Wilmot. Each
exception to the following representations and warranties that is set out in the disclosure schedule
attached as Schedule 5.1 (the “Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule™).
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5.1 Residence

No member of the Waterloo North Group is a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the ITA.

5.2 Regulatory Approvals

Except as set out in Article 9 and except as has already been obtained, no authorization, approval,
order, consent of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required on the part of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley or the Waterloo North Group in connection with the execution, delivery
and performance by any of them of this Agreement or any other documents and agreements to be
delivered under this Agreement or in connection with the completion of the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby.

5.3 Consents

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, there is no requirement to obtain
any consent, approval or waiver of a party under any Material Contract to which Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley or the Waterloo North Group is a party in order to complete the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.4 Share Ownership, Etc.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

As at the date hereof, Waterloo is the legal and beneficial owner of 1,464 common
shares of Waterloo North Holdings with good and marketable title thereto, free and
clear of all Encumbrances.

As at the date hereof, Woolwich is the legal and beneficial owner of 404 common
shares of Waterloo North Holdings with good and marketable title thereto, free and
clear of all Encumbrances.

As at the date hereof, Wellesley is the legal and beneficial owner of 132 common
shares of Waterloo North Holdings with good and marketable title thereto, free and
clear of all Encumbrances.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley are each the legal and beneficial owners of
promissory notes as described in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule (the
“Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Promissory Notes™).

The common shares held by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley pursuant to
Section 5.4(a), Section 5.4(b) and Section 5.4(c) constitute all of the issued and
outstanding shares of Waterloo North Holdings. Immediately prior to Closing,
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will be the legal and beneficial owner of all of
the issued and outstanding common shares of Waterloo North Holdings with good
and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances.

Waterloo North Holdings is the legal and beneficial owner of 1,000 common shares
of WNHI with good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances
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(other than Permitted Encumbrances), being in aggregate all of the issued and
outstanding shares of WNHI.

(9) Waterloo North Holdings is the legal and beneficial owner of of
Alliance Solutions with good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all
Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances), being in aggregate all of the
issued and outstanding shares of Alliance Solutions.

(h) Waterloo North Holdings is the legal and beneficial owner of
of GRE with good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of all
Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances).
(i)

Waterloo North Holdings is the legal and beneficial owner of _
I I ' o i o0 an

marketable title thereto, free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted
Encumbrances).

() Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, the Waterloo North
Group does not own or hold, directly or indirectly, any Securities of, or have any
other interest in, any Person, and no member of the Waterloo North Group has
entered into any agreement to acquire any such interests.

5.5 Corporate Existence of the Waterloo North Group

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has been duly incorporated and organized and are
validly existing and in good standing as a corporation under the laws of the Province of Ontario.
No proceedings have been taken or authorized by any member of the Waterloo North Group in
respect of the bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of such member of
the Waterloo North Group.

5.6 Corporate Articles

Their respective Corporate Articles constitute all of the charter documents of each member of the
Waterloo North Group and are in full force and effect; no action has been taken to amend any
Corporate Articles and no changes to such Corporate Articles are planned other than as
contemplated in this Agreement.

5.7 Capacity and Powers of the Waterloo North Group

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has all necessary corporate power, authority and
capacity to own or lease its respective assets and to carry on the Waterloo North Business as
currently being conducted by the applicable member of the Waterloo North Group.

5.8 Jurisdictions

Ontario is the only jurisdiction in which the members of the Waterloo North Group are qualified
to do business. Neither the character nor location of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or
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Waterloo North Group Leased Premises, nor the nature of the Waterloo North Business, requires
qualification to do business in any other jurisdiction.

5.9 Options, Etc.

Except as provided in this Agreement, no Person has any written or oral agreement or option or
any right or privilege (whether by Law, pre-emptive, contractual or otherwise) capable of
becoming an agreement or option, including Securities, warrants or convertible obligations of any
nature, for:

@) the purchase of any Securities of any member of the Waterloo North Group; or

(b) the purchase of any of the assets of any member of the Waterloo North Group other
than in the ordinary course of the Waterloo North Business.

5.10 Corporate Records/Directors

@) The corporate records and minute books of the Waterloo North Group which have
been made available contain in all material respects complete and accurate minutes
of all meetings of, and all written resolutions passed by, the directors and
shareholders of the Waterloo North Group, held or passed since incorporation. All
those meetings were held, all those resolutions were passed, and the share
certificate books, registers of shareholders, registers of transfers and registers of
directors of the applicable member of the Waterloo North Group are complete and
accurate in all material respects.

(b) The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule contains the name of each director of the
applicable member of the Waterloo North Group, including the date on which each
of such director was most recently elected as a director, and each such individual
has been duly elected a director of the respective member of the Waterloo North
Group.

5.11 Books and Records

The Books and Records of the Waterloo North Group fairly and correctly set out and disclose in
accordance with IFRS in all material respects the financial position of the Waterloo North Group,
and all material financial transactions of the Waterloo North Group have been accurately recorded
in such Books and Records.

5.12 Financial Statements

Copies of the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements and the WNHI Financial Statements
are attached to the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule. Such Waterloo North Holdings Financial
Statements and WNHI Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and
present fairly:
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(b)
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the assets, liabilities (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) and the
financial condition of each member of the Waterloo North Group as at the
respective dates thereof; and

the sales, earnings and results of the operations of the applicable member of the
Waterloo North Group during the periods covered by such Waterloo North
Holdings Financial Statements and WNHI Financial Statements;

but the unaudited interim financial statements:

5.13

(©)
(d)

do not contain all notes required under IFRS; and

are subject to normal year-end audit adjustments.

Tax Matters

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

The members of the Waterloo North Group are exempt from Tax under the ITA,
CTA and TA but each of them is required to make PILs payments under the EA in
an amount equal to the Tax that it would be liable to pay under the ITA, CTA and
TA if it were not exempt from Tax under those statutes.

The members of the Waterloo North Group have filed in the prescribed manner and
within the prescribed times all Tax Returns required to be filed by it in all applicable
jurisdictions on a timely basis. All such Tax Returns are complete and correct and
disclose all Taxes required to be paid for the periods covered thereby. No member
of the Waterloo North Group has been required to file any Tax Returns with, and
have never been liable to pay or remit Taxes to, any Governmental Authority
outside Canada. The Waterloo North Group have paid all Taxes and all instalments
of Taxes due on or before the date hereof. Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley has
furnished to the KPC Group true, complete and accurate copies of all Tax Returns
and any amendments thereto filed by the Waterloo North Group since
December 31, 2017 and all notices of assessment and reassessment and all
correspondence with Governmental Authorities relating thereto.

Assessments under the EA have been issued to the Waterloo North Group covering
all periods up to and including its fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

There are no audits, assessments, reassessments or other Claims in progress or, to
the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, threatened against any
member of the Waterloo North Group, in respect of any Taxes and, in particular,
there are no currently outstanding reassessments or written enquiries which have
been issued or raised by any Governmental Authority relating to any such Taxes.
To the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there is no contingent
liability of any member of the Waterloo North Group for Taxes or any grounds that
could prompt an assessment or reassessment for Taxes. No member of the Waterloo
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North Group has received any indication from any Governmental Authority that
any assessment or reassessment is proposed.

No member of the Waterloo North Group has entered into any transactions with
any non-resident of Canada (for the purposes of the ITA) with whom such member
of the Waterloo North Group was not dealing at arm’s length (within the meaning
of the ITA). No member of Waterloo North Group has acquired property from any
Person in circumstances where such member of the Waterloo North Group did or
could have become liable for any Taxes payable by that Person.

No member of the Waterloo North Group will be required to include in a taxable
period ending after the Closing Date any material taxable income attributable to
income that accrued in a taxable period prior to the Closing Date but was not
recognized for Tax purposes in such prior taxable period (or to exclude from taxable
income in a taxable period ending after the Closing Date any material deduction the
recognition of which was accelerated from such taxable period to a taxable period
prior to the Closing Date).

There are no circumstances existing which could result in, or which have existed
and resulted in, the application of section 78 of the ITA, as it applies for purposes
of the EA, in respect of an amount owing by a member of the Waterloo North Group
on the Closing Date.

No member of the Waterloo North Group has entered into any agreements, waivers
or other arrangements with any Governmental Authority providing for an extension
of time with respect to the issuance of any assessment or reassessment, the filing of
any Tax Return, or the payment of any Taxes by or in respect of such member of
the Waterloo North Group. No member of the Waterloo North Group is party to
any agreements or undertakings with respect to Taxes.

The business transactions of Waterloo North Holdings are exempt from the ETA
and Waterloo North Holdings does not require registration for ETA purposes.

WNHI and Alliance are registrants for purposes of the ETA and WNHI’s
registration number is and Alliance Solutions registration
number is . Except as set forth on the Waterloo North

Disclosure Schedule, all input tax credits claimed by each member of the Waterloo
North Group pursuant to the ETA have been proper, correctly calculated and
documented. Each member of the Waterloo North Group has collected, paid and
remitted when due all Taxes, including goods and services tax, harmonized sales
tax and retail sales tax, collectible, payable or remittable by them.

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has remitted to the appropriate
Governmental Authority when required by Law to do so all amounts collected by
it on account of sales taxes including goods and services tax and harmonized sales
tax imposed under the ETA.
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(k) Each member of the Waterloo North Group maintains its Books and Records in
compliance with section 230 of the ITA.

5.14  Absence of Changes

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2020 there
has not been:

@ any change in the financial condition, operations, results of operations, or business
of any member of the Waterloo North Group which has had a Material Adverse
Effect, nor has there been any occurrence or circumstances which, to the
Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, with the passage of time might
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; or

(b) any Loss, labour trouble, or other event, development or condition of any character
(whether or not covered by insurance) suffered by Waterloo North Group which, to
the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, has had, or may reasonably
be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

5.15 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities

Except to the extent reflected or reserved in the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements
and the WNHI Financial Statements, or incurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 and:

(@) disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule; or
(b) incurred in the ordinary course of the Waterloo North Business;

no member of the Waterloo North Group has any material outstanding indebtedness or any
liabilities or obligations (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, including under any
guarantee of any debt) of a nature customarily reflected or reserved against in a balance sheet
(including the notes to the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements, the WNHI Financial
Statements and the Alliance Solutions Financial Statements) in accordance with IFRS. For the

urposes of this Section 5.15 only, indebtedness, liabilities or obligations owing to any third party
_ will be deemed to be material.
5.16 Absence of Unusual Transactions

Except as disclosed or referred to in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, since December 31,
2020 no member of the Waterloo North Group has:

@ given any guarantee of any debt, liability or obligation of any Person;

(b) subjected any of its assets, or permitted any of its assets to be subjected, to any
Encumbrance other than the Permitted Encumbrances;
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(c) acquired, sold, leased or otherwise disposed of or transferred any assets other than
in the ordinary course of the Waterloo North Business;

(d) made or committed to any capital expenditures, except in the ordinary course of the
Waterloo North Business;

(e) declared or paid any dividend or otherwise made any distribution or other payment
of any kind or nature to any of its shareholders or any other non-arm’s length
Person, or taken any corporate proceedings for that purpose;

()] redeemed, purchased or otherwise retired any of its shares or otherwise reduced its
stated capital;

(0) entered into or become bound by any Contract, except in the ordinary course of the
Waterloo North Business (other than this Agreement);

(h) modified, amended or terminated any Contract (except for Contracts which expire
by the passage of time) resulting in a Material Adverse Effect;

() waived or released any right or rights which it has or had, or a debt or debts owed
to it resulting, collectively or individually, in a Material Adverse Effect;

() made any change in any compensation arrangement or agreement with any
Waterloo North Employee, except for annual merit pay increases and incentive
payments consistent with the ordinary course of the Waterloo North Business;

(k) made any change in any method of accounting or auditing practice (other than as
disclosed in the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements or the WNHI
Financial Statements and/or in order to make its financial disclosure consistent with
the financial disclosure of the Waterloo North Group as regards accrued CDM
bonus or as regards loss revenue adjustment mechanism recoveries); or

M agreed or offered to do any of the things described in this Section 5.16.
5.17 Title to and Condition of Assets

Except as disclosed or referred to in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, each member of the
Waterloo North Group owns, possesses and has good and marketable title to all of its undertakings,
property and assets not otherwise the subject of specific representations and warranties in this
Article 5, including all the undertakings, property and assets reflected in the most recent balance
sheet included in the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements or the WNHI Financial
Statements (as applicable), free and clear of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.
The undertakings, property and assets of each member of the Waterloo North Group comprise all
of the undertakings, property and assets necessary for it to carry on the Waterloo North Business
as it is currently operated by such member of the Waterloo North Group. All facilities, machinery,
equipment, fixtures, vehicles and other properties owned, leased or used by each member of the
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Waterloo North Group are in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted,
and are reasonably fit and usable for the purposes for which they are being used.

5.18 Real Property

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

9)

The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of
the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands, including complete legal descriptions,
and the particulars of the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises and Waterloo
North Group Real Property Leases. No member of the Waterloo North Group owns
any real property and does not lease and has not agreed to acquire or lease any real
property other than as listed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule.

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has all Easements that are necessary
for it to carry on the Waterloo North Business as it is currently operated by such
member of the Waterloo North Group.

No member of the Waterloo North Group has received any, nor to the Knowledge
of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley are there any pending or threatened, notices
of violation or alleged violation of any Laws against or affecting any Waterloo
North Group Owned Lands or Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo
North Group Easements.

The buildings and other structures and improvements located on the Waterloo
North Group Owned Lands or forming part of the Waterloo North Group Leased
Premises, and their operation and maintenance, comply with all applicable Laws,
and none of those buildings or structures or improvements encroaches upon any
land not owned or leased by the applicable member of the Waterloo North Group.

There are no restrictive covenants or Laws which in any way restrict or prohibit
any part of the present use of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or Waterloo
North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo North Group Easements, other than the
Permitted Encumbrances. Each member of the Waterloo North Group has such
rights of entry and exit to and from the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands and
the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises and the Waterloo North Group
Easements as are reasonably necessarily to carry on the Waterloo North Business.

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, no Person has any
right to purchase any of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands and no Person
other than the applicable member of the Waterloo North Group is using or has any
right to use, is in possession or occupancy, of any part of the Waterloo North Group
Owned Lands. There exists no option, right of first refusal or other contractual
rights with respect to any of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands.

There are no expropriation or similar proceedings, actual or threatened, of which
any member of the Waterloo North Group or Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
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have received notice, against any of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or
Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo North Group Easements.

The Waterloo North Group Owned Lands are owned in fee simple, free and clear
of all Encumbrances, except Permitted Encumbrances. No member of the Waterloo
North Group has entered into any contract to sell, transfer, encumber, or otherwise
dispose of or impair the right, title and interest of such member of the Waterloo
North Group in and to the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or the air, density
and easement rights relating to such Waterloo North Group Owned Lands.

All of the Waterloo North Group Real Property Leases are in full force and effect,
unamended, and none of them are, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley, under any threat of termination.

All of the Waterloo North Group Easements are in full force and effect and none of
them are, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, under any threat
of termination.

Neither Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley nor any member of the Waterloo North
Group has received any notification of, nor are there any outstanding or incomplete
work orders in respect of any Fixed Assets on the Waterloo North Group Owned
Lands, Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo North Group
Easements, or of any current noncompliance (other than non-compliances which
are legal non-conforming under relevant zoning by-laws) with applicable statutes
and regulations or building and zoning by-laws and regulations.

All accounts for work and services performed or materials placed or furnished upon
or in respect of the construction and completion of any Fixed Assets constructed on
the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or the Waterloo North Group Leased
Premises or the Waterloo North Group Easements have been fully paid to the extent
due and no Person is entitled to claim a lien under the Construction Act (Ontario)
or other similar legislation for such work.

To the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there are no matters
affecting the right, title and interest of any member of the Waterloo North Group in
and to the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or the Waterloo North Group
Leased Premises or the Waterloo North Group Easements (other than the Permitted
Encumbrances) or which, in the aggregate, would materially and adversely affect
the ability of such member of the Waterloo North Group to carry on the Waterloo
North Business upon such Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or the Waterloo
North Group Leased Premises or the Waterloo North Group Easements, as
applicable.
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5.19 Intellectual Property

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule includes a list of all Intellectual Property
that is registered with any Governmental Authority and that is used in connection
with the conduct of the Waterloo North Business, including all trade-marks and
trade-mark applications, trade names, certification marks, patents and patent
applications, copyrights, domain names, industrial designs, trade secrets, know-
how, formulae, processes, inventions, technical expertise, research data and other
similar property, all associated registrations and applications for registration, and
all associated rights, including moral rights, the jurisdictions (if any) in which that
Intellectual Property is registered (or in which application for registration has been
made) and the applicable expiry dates of all listed registrations.

All necessary legal steps have been taken by the Waterloo North Group to preserve
their respective rights to the Intellectual Property listed in the Waterloo North
Disclosure Schedule. The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule also includes a list
of all licence agreements pursuant to which Waterloo North Group have been
granted a right to use, or otherwise exploit Intellectual Property owned by third
parties, other than “off-the-shelf” software license agreements.

The Intellectual Property that is owned by the members of the Waterloo North
Group (as applicable) is owned free and clear of any Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances, and no Person other than the applicable member of the
Waterloo North Group has any right to use that Intellectual Property except as
disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule.

The use by the members of the Waterloo North Group of any Intellectual Property
owned by third parties is valid, and the Waterloo North Group is not in default or
breach of any licence agreement relating to that Intellectual Property, and there
exists no state of facts which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute
a default or breach.

The conduct by the members of the Waterloo North Group of the Waterloo North
Business does not infringe the Intellectual Property of any Person.

5.20 Accounts Receivable

All Accounts Receivable reflected in the Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements and the
WNHI Financial Statements, as applicable, or which have come into existence since the date of
the most recent Waterloo North Holdings Financial Statements and the WNHI Financial
Statements, were created in the ordinary and customary course of the Waterloo North Business
from bona fide arm’s length transactions, and, except to the extent that they have been paid in the
ordinary course of such Waterloo North Business since the date of the Waterloo North Holdings
Financial Statements and the WNHI Financial Statements, are valid and enforceable and
collectible in full, without, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, any right of
set-off or counterclaim or any reduction for any credit or allowance made or given, except to the
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extent of the allowance for doubtful accounts which will be included in the Waterloo North
Holdings Closing Financial Statements or WNHI Closing Financial Statements, as applicable.

5.21 Material Contracts

(@)

(b)

The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all Material Contracts
to which each member of the Waterloo North Group is a party. Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley have previously delivered or made available true and complete
copies of such Material Contracts, all of which are in full force and effect,
unamended (except for amendments which have previously been disclosed or made
available).

No counterparty to any Material Contract to which any member of the Waterloo
North Group is a party is in default of any of its obligations under such Material
Contract in any material respect. Each member of the Waterloo North Group is
entitled to all benefits accruing to it under each Material Contract to which it is a
party, and no member of the Waterloo North Group has received any notice of
termination of any Material Contract, and there are no current or pending
negotiations with respect to the renewal, repudiation or amendment of any such
Material Contract.

5.22  Accounts and Powers of Attorney

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has previously disclosed:

(@)

(b)

the name of each bank or other depository in which such member of the Waterloo
North Group maintains any bank account, trust account or safety deposit box and
the names of all individuals authorized to draw on them or who have access to them;
and

the name of each Person holding a general or special power of attorney from
Waterloo North Group and a summary of its terms.

5.23 Compliance with Laws, Permits

(@)

(b)

Each member of the Waterloo North Group is conducting the Waterloo North
Business in compliance with all applicable Laws where the failure to do so (either
individually or in the aggregate) would have a Material Adverse Effect.

All Permits held by or granted to each member of the Waterloo North Group are
listed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule. Such Permits are the only
authorizations, registrations, permits, approvals, grants, licences, quotas, consents,
commitments, rights or privileges (other than those relating to Intellectual Property)
required to enable each member of the Waterloo North Group to carry on the
Waterloo North Business as currently conducted and to enable each member of the
Waterloo North Group to own, lease and operate its assets. All such Permits are
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valid, subsisting, in full force and effect and unamended and no member of the
Waterloo North Group is in default or breach of any such Permit; no proceeding is
pending or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, threatened to
revoke or limit any such Permit, and the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement will not result in the revocation of any such Permit
or the breach of any term, provision, condition or limitation affecting the ongoing
validity of any such Permit.

5.24 Environmental Conditions

Without limiting the generality of Section 5.23, and except as disclosed in the Waterloo North
Disclosure Schedule:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

the conduct of the Waterloo North Business by the members of the Waterloo North
Group, and the current use and condition of each of the Waterloo North Group
Leased Premises and Waterloo North Group Owned Lands have been and are in
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws in all material respects, and, to
the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there are no facts which
would give rise to any such non-compliance of any member of the Waterloo North
Group with any Environmental Laws either in the conduct of the Waterloo North
Business or in the current uses and condition of each of the Waterloo North Group
Leased Premises and the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands;

each member of the Waterloo North Group has all Permits required by all
Environmental Laws for the conduct by the Waterloo North Group of the Waterloo
North Business (“Waterloo North Environmental Approvals”), which Waterloo
North Environmental Approvals are valid and in full force and effect and listed in
the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule. Each member of the Waterloo North
Group is in compliance with all those Waterloo North Environmental Approvals,
and there have not been and there are no proceedings commenced or threatened to
revoke or amend any such Waterloo North Environmental Approvals in a manner
that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

each member of the Waterloo North Group and each Person for whom such
members of the Waterloo North Group are responsible pursuant to all
Environmental Laws, have imported, manufactured, processed, distributed, used,
treated, stored, disposed of, transported, exported or handled Hazardous Substances
in compliance with all Environmental Laws;

to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, no Hazardous Substances
have been disposed of on any of the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or the
Waterloo North Group Owned Lands, and there are no underground storage tanks
on the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or the Waterloo North Group
Owned Lands and any underground storage tanks formerly on the Waterloo North
Group Leased Premises or the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands have been
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removed and any affected soil, surface water or ground water has been remediated
in compliance with all applicable Laws including Environmental Laws;

no part of the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands has ever been used as a landfill
or for the disposal of waste;

there has been no Release of any Hazardous Substance in the course of the Waterloo
North Business from, at, on, or under the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises
or the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley, from or on to any other properties, except in compliance
with all Environmental Laws;

no member of the Waterloo North Group has received any notice of any kind of
any Release or possible Release of any Hazardous Substance from, at, on, or under
any of the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo North Group
Owned Lands, or from or on to any other properties;

to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there are no Hazardous
Substances on any adjoining properties to any of the Waterloo North Group Leased
Premises or Waterloo North Group Owned Lands which may adversely affect the
Waterloo North Business, or any of the Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or
Waterloo North Group Owned Lands;

there has been no Remedial Order issued to any member of the Waterloo North
Group in respect of the Waterloo North Business, or with respect to any of the
Waterloo North Group Leased Premises or the Waterloo North Group Owned
Lands and, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, no Remedial
Orders are threatened, and there are no facts which could reasonably be expected
to give rise to any Remedial Orders;

no member of the Waterloo North Group has received any notice of Claim,
summons, order, direction or other communication relating to non-compliance with
any Environmental Laws from any Governmental Authority or other third party,
and to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there is no pending
or threatened matter, act or fact which could cause the members of the Waterloo
North Group, the conduct of the Waterloo North Business, or any of the Waterloo
North Group Leased Premises or Waterloo North Group Owned Lands to no longer
be in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws; and

no asbestos, asbestos containing materials, PCBs and PCB wastes are used, stored
or otherwise present in or on the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands except for
PCBs contained in the electrical transformers which are in service and which form
an integral part of, and are necessary for the operation of, the Waterloo North
Business. Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley has disclosed or made available all
inspection reports received from the Ministry of the Environment in connection
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with the handling, transportation and storage of PCBs by the applicable members
of the Waterloo North Group.

5.25 Suppliers and Customers

The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule lists the 15 largest suppliers of goods and services from
whom each member of the Waterloo North Group has purchased goods or services (other than
power) during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. No such supplier sold goods and services
to the applicable member of the Waterloo North Group which represented more than 20% of its
annual purchases during such period. None of the suppliers listed in the Waterloo North Disclosure
Schedule has advised the Waterloo North Group, either orally or in writing, that it is terminating
or considering terminating its relationship with such member of the Waterloo North Group, or
considering negotiating its relationship with such member of the Waterloo North Group on terms
that would result in a Material Adverse Effect, whether as a result of the completion of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.

5.26  Privacy and Information Technology

@) All Personal Information in the possession of the Waterloo North Group has been
collected, used and disclosed in compliance with all applicable Privacy Laws in
those jurisdictions in which the Waterloo North Group conducts, or is deemed by
operation of law in those jurisdictions to conduct, the Waterloo North Business.

(b) Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley have disclosed or made available all Contracts
and facts concerning the collection, use, retention, destruction and disclosure of
Personal Information by the applicable members of the Waterloo North Group and
there are no other Contracts, or facts which, on completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, would restrict or interfere with the use of any
Personal Information by the applicable members of the Waterloo North Group in
the continued operation of the Waterloo North Business as conducted before the
Closing.

(c) Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, there are no Claims
pending or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, threatened,
with respect to the collection, use or disclosure of Personal Information by the
applicable members of the Waterloo North Group.

(d) Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, each member of
the Waterloo North Group (a) complies with the Waterloo North Group’s Privacy
Statements with respect to all personal information collected, used and/or disclosed
by it; (b) complies with all applicable Privacy Laws; and (c) takes appropriate
measures to protect and maintain the security of the personal information in its
possession and/or which it has access.

(e) The transfer of Personal Information from members of the Waterloo North Group
to members of the KPC Group pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the
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transactions contemplated hereunder (including the disclosures made by member
of the Waterloo North Group in the course of the due diligence in anticipation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement), is in compliance with the terms
of the Waterloo North Group’s Privacy Statements and all applicable Privacy Laws.

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge
of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, there have been no complaints made or any
audit, investigation, claim or proceeding including court proceeding against any
member of the Waterloo North Group by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
of Canada or any other Governmental Authority, or by any Person in respect of the
collection, retention, use, disclosure, safeguarding or distribution of Personal
Information by any Person in connection with any member of the Waterloo North
Group, nor to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley are there any
facts which may give rise to any such complaint or audit, proceeding, investigation
or claim.

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule (i) all Electronic
Addresses have been acquired, maintained, updated (including operationalizing
opt-out requests) and stored, and (ii) all Electronic Messages sent and/or delivered
by or on behalf of any member of the Waterloo North Group have been sent and/or
delivered, in accordance with Laws, including but not limited to Anti-Spam Laws
and Privacy Laws.

The Waterloo North Systems are reasonably sufficient for the immediate needs of
the Waterloo North Business, including as to capacity, scalability, and ability to
process current and anticipated peak volumes in a timely manner. The Waterloo
North Systems are in sufficiently good working condition to perform all
information technology operations and include sufficient licensed capacity
(whether in terms of authorized sites, units, users, seats or otherwise) for all
software used by members of the Waterloo North Group, in each case as necessary
for the conduct of the Waterloo North Business as currently conducted.

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, in the last five
years, there has been no unauthorized access, use, intrusion or breach of security,
or failure, breakdown, performance reduction or other adverse event affecting any
Waterloo North Systems, that has caused or could reasonably be expected to cause
any: (i) substantial disruption of or interruption in or to the use of such Waterloo
North Systems or the conduct of the Waterloo North Business; (ii) loss, destruction,
damage or harm of or to any member of the Waterloo North Group or its operations,
personnel, property or other assets; or (iii) liability of any kind to any member of
the Waterloo North Group. Each member of the Waterloo North Group has taken
reasonable actions, consistent with applicable industry practices, to protect the
integrity and security of the Waterloo North Systems and the data and other
information stored thereon.
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Each member of the Waterloo North Group maintains commercially reasonable
back-up and data recovery, disaster recovery and business continuity plans,
procedures and facilities, acts in material compliance therewith, and tests such plans
and procedures on a regular basis, and such plans and procedures have been proven
effective upon such testing.

Each member of the Waterloo North Group maintains policies and procedures
regarding data security and privacy that are intended to ensure that it is in
compliance with all Laws and that are consistent with or exceed customary industry
practices. Each member of the Waterloo North Group is, and has been, in
compliance in all material respects with (i) such foregoing policies and procedures,
and (ii) all applicable data protection or privacy laws governing the use, collection,
storage, disclosure and transfer of any personally identifiable information of third
parties collected by it. Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure
Schedule, there have not been any (1) losses or thefts of data or security breaches
relating to data used or stored in the Waterloo North Business, (2) violations of any
security policy regarding any such data, (3) unauthorized access or unauthorized
use of any such data, or (4) unintended or improper disclosure of any personally
identifiable information in the possession, custody or control of it or a contractor or
agent acting on behalf of it. Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure
Schedule, there have not been any written complaints, written notices or legal
proceedings or other written claims related to any of the foregoing in clauses (ii) or
(1) through (4) above.

5.27 Employees and Employment Contracts

(@)

(b)

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley has made available in the Data Room the
names, titles and status (active or non-active, and if not active, reason why and
period of time not active) of all Waterloo North Employees together with
particulars of the material terms and conditions of their employment or
engagement, including current rates of remuneration, perquisites, commissions,
bonus or other incentive compensation (monetary or otherwise), most recent hire
date, cumulative years of service, start and end dates of all previous periods of
service, benefits, vacation or personal time off entitlements, current positions held
and, if available, projected rates of remuneration, and whether the employee is a
member of a collective bargaining union or agency and whether the employee is
subject to the Waterloo North Collective Agreement.

To the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, no Waterloo North
Employee nor any consultant with whom the applicable members of the Waterloo
North Group has contracted, is in violation of any term of any employment contract,
contract of engagement, services agreement, proprietary information agreement or
any other agreement relating to the right of that individual to be employed, engaged
or retained by the applicable members of the Waterloo North Group in any material
respect, and, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, the
continued employment or engagement by the members of the Waterloo North
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Group of the Waterloo North Employees will not result in any such violation. No
member of the Waterloo North Group has received any notice alleging that any
such violation has occurred.

Except as disclosed in the Data Room, all of the Waterloo North Employees are
employed, engaged or retained for an indefinite term and none are subject to written
employment agreements, contracts of engagement or services agreements.
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley has made available in the Data Room true and
complete copies of any written employment agreements, contracts of engagement
or services agreements of all Waterloo North Employees. No officer has given
notice, oral or written, of an intention to cease being employed with the Waterloo
North Group (other than the pending employee retirements disclosed in the
Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule), and no members of the Waterloo North
Group intends to terminate the employment of any officer.

The members of the Waterloo North Group have operated in compliance with all
Laws relating to employees in all material respects, including employment
standards and all Laws relating in whole or in part to the protection of employee
health and safety, human rights, labour relations and pay equity. Except as disclosed
or referred to in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, there have been no
Claims within the past three years nor, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley, are there any threatened complaints, under such Laws against the
members of the Waterloo North Group. To the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley, nothing has occurred which might lead to a Claim or complaint
against the members of the Waterloo North Group under any such Laws. There are
no outstanding decisions or settlements or pending settlements which place any
obligation upon the members of the Waterloo North Group to do or refrain from
doing any act.

There is no strike or lockout occurring or affecting, or to the Knowledge of
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, threatened against any member of the
Waterloo North Group.

Unions

(@)

(b)

(©)

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, there are no
apparent or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, threatened
union organizing activities involving Waterloo North Employees.

No member of the Waterloo North Group has any labour problems that would
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or lead to any
interruption of operations at any location.

No member of the Waterloo North Group has engaged in any lay-off or other
activities within the last three years in respect of the Waterloo North Business that
would violate or in any way subject the members of the Waterloo North Group to
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the group termination or lay-off requirements of the Laws of any jurisdiction that
apply to the members of the Waterloo North Group.

(d) Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, no member of the
Waterloo North Group is bound by or a party to, either directly or by operation of
law, any collective bargaining agreement (the “Waterloo North Collective
Agreement”) with any trade union or association which might qualify as a trade
union, and no trade union, association, council of trade unions, employee
bargaining agency or affiliated bargaining agent:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

holds bargaining rights with respect to any of the Waterloo North
Employees by way of certification, interim certification, voluntary
recognition, designation or successor rights;

has, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, applied to be
certified or requested to be voluntarily recognized as the bargaining agent
of any of the Waterloo North Employees;

has, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, applied to
have any member of the Waterloo North Group declared a related or
successor employer under applicable provincial labour or employment Law;
or

has, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, filed a
complaint or charge under applicable provincial labour or employment Law
within the last three years.

5.29 Employee Benefits Matters

@) Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, the members of the
Waterloo North Group are not:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

a party to, bound by or subject to, and do not have any liability or contingent
liability relating to, any employment agreement or any other agreement or
arrangement relating to Employee Benefits;

in arrears in the payment of any contribution or assessment required to be
made by them pursuant to any agreements or arrangements relating to
Employee Benefits; or

a party to or bound by or subject to any agreement or arrangement with any
labour union or employee association in respect of Employee Benefits and
has not made any commitment to or conducted any negotiation or
discussion with any labour union or employee association with respect to
any future agreement or arrangement in respect of Employee Benefits.
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All agreements and arrangements relating to Employee Benefits in respect of
Waterloo North Employees set forth in the Waterloo North Disclosure
Schedule (other than OMERS, with respect to which Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley makes no representation under this Section 5.29(b)) are, and have been,
established, registered (where required), and administered without default, in
material compliance with (i) the terms thereof; and (ii) all applicable Laws; and no
member of the Waterloo North Group has received, in the last four years, any notice
from any Person questioning or challenging such compliance (other than in respect
of any claim related solely to that Person), nor does Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley have any Knowledge of any such notice from any Person questioning or
challenging such compliance beyond the last four years. Except as disclosed in the
Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule or the Waterloo North Collective Agreement,
there have been no improvements, increases or changes to, or promised
improvements, increases or changes to, the benefits provided under any such
agreement or arrangement within the last four years, nor does any such agreement
or arrangement provide for benefit increases or the acceleration of funding
obligations that are contingent upon or will be triggered by the execution of this
Agreement or the Closing.

Except as disclosed in Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, no Waterloo North
Employee is on long-term disability leave, extended absence or receiving benefits
pursuant to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, 1997 (Ontario).

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, no agreement or
arrangement, other than OMERS, provides benefits beyond retirement or other
termination of service to employees or former employees of any member of the
Waterloo North Group or to the beneficiaries or dependants of such employees or
former employees. Other than OMERS, no such agreement or arrangement requires
or permits a retroactive increase in premiums or payments.

All assessments under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, 1997 (Ontario) in
relation to the Waterloo North Business have been paid or accrued and no member
of the Waterloo North Group is subject to any special or penalty assessment under
such legislation which has not been paid.

Pension Plans

(@)

(b)

Except as disclosed in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, OMERS is the only
pension or retirement plan or arrangement in which Waterloo North Employees
participate and/or to which the Waterloo North Group contributes as a participating
employer.

All obligations of the Waterloo North Group to or under OMERS (whether pursuant
to the terms thereof or any applicable Laws) have been satisfied, and there are no
outstanding defaults or violations thereunder by any member of the Waterloo North
Group or by any predecessor thereof.
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(c) There are no going concerns with respect to unfunded actuarial liabilities, past
service unfunded liabilities or solvency deficiencies respecting the Waterloo North
Group’s participation in OMERS.

(d) All employee data necessary to administer the Waterloo North Group’s
participation in OMERS and any other agreement or arrangement listed in the
Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule is in the possession of the Waterloo North
Group and is complete, correct and in a form which is sufficient for the proper
administration of the Waterloo North Group’s participation in OMERS in
accordance with the terms thereof and all applicable Laws.

(e All employer or employee payments, contributions or premiums required to be
remitted or paid by the Waterloo North Group to or in respect of OMERS have been
paid or remitted in a timely fashion in accordance with the terms thereof and all
Laws, and no Taxes, penalties or fees are owing or exigible on any member of the
Waterloo North Group under OMERS.

5.31 Insurance Policies

The Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule lists all Insurance Policies, and also specifies the insurer,
the amount of the coverage, the type of insurance, the policy number and any pending Claims with
respect to each such Insurance Policy. The Insurance Policies insure all the property and assets of
the Waterloo North Group against Loss by all insurable hazards of risk commonly insured against
in the industry. All Insurance Policies are in full force and effect and no member of the Waterloo
North Group:

@) is in default, whether as to the payment of premiums or otherwise, under any
material term or condition of any of the Insurance Policies; or

(b) has failed to give notice or present any Claim under any of the Insurance Policies
in a due and timely fashion.

5.32 Litigation

@) Except as disclosed or referred to in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule, there
are no Claims, whether or not purportedly on behalf of Waterloo North Group,
pending, commenced, or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley,
threatened, which might reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect
on any member of the Waterloo North Group or which might involve the possibility
of an Encumbrance against the assets of any member of the Waterloo North Group.

(b) There is no outstanding judgment, decree, order, ruling or injunction involving any
member of the Waterloo North Group or relating in any way to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
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5.33  Withholding

Each member of the Waterloo North Group has withheld from each payment made to any of its
past or present employees, officers or directors, and to any non-resident of Canada, the amount of
all Taxes and other deductions required to be withheld therefrom, including all employee and
employer portions for Workers” Compensation, Canada Pension Plan, Employer Health Tax and
Employment Insurance and has paid the same to the proper Governmental Authority within the
time required under any applicable Laws.

5.34 No Expropriation

No property or asset of any member of the Waterloo North Group has been taken or expropriated
by any Governmental Authority within the last five years, and no notice or proceeding in respect
of any such expropriation has been given or commenced or, to the Knowledge of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley, is there any intent or proposal to give any notice or commence any
proceeding in respect of any such expropriation.

5.35 Absence of Conflict

None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the performance of any member of the
Waterloo North Group’s obligations under this Agreement, or the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement will:

@) result in or constitute a breach of any term or provision of, or constitute a default
under, the Corporate Articles or the by-laws of such entity, or any Contract to which
such entity is a party or by which any of such entity’s undertakings, property or
assets is bound or affected,

(b) subject to obtaining the third party consents contemplated by Section 7.3(c),
constitute an event which would permit any party to any Material Contract with
Waterloo North Group to terminate or sue for damages with respect to that Material
Contract, or to accelerate the maturity of any indebtedness of Waterloo North
Group, or other obligation of Waterloo North Group under that Material Contract;

(c) subject to obtaining the regulatory approvals set forth in Article 9, contravene any
applicable Law; or

(d) contravene any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree of any Governmental
Authority.

5.36 Restrictive Covenants

No member of the Waterloo North Group is a party to, or bound or affected by, any Contract
containing any covenant expressly limiting its ability to compete in any line of business or to
transfer or move any of its assets or operations, or which could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Waterloo North Business carried on by the applicable member of
the Waterloo North Group.
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5.37 Waterloo North Group Business

The business of the Waterloo North Group is limited to the Waterloo North Business.

ARTICLE 6
COVENANTS

6.1 Covenants of Kitchener and Wilmot

(@)

Conduct of Business Before Closing. During the period beginning on the date of
this Agreement and ending at the Closing Time, Kitchener and Wilmot will cause
the KPC Group:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

to conduct the KPC Business in the ordinary course substantially consistent
with past practice (except as may be otherwise required or contemplated by
the provisions of this Agreement or with the prior written consent of
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld);

except as required by the terms of and in accordance with the KPC
Collective Agreement (including as may be required in connection with the
renewal of the KPC Collective Agreement) or applicable Law, or with the
prior written consent of the Chief Executive Officer of WNHI, which shall
not be unreasonably withheld, to refrain from:

(A)  hiring, engaging or retaining any new employees or independent
contractors to be employed, engaged or retained in connection with
the KPC Business except for the engagement of new independent
contractors with a term of no greater than 9 months and
compensation that does not exceed an aggregate of per
independent contractor;

(B) terminating any KPC Employees or transferring any KPC
Employees to any other position;

(C)  increasing remuneration of KPC Employees before the Closing
Date, except as consistent with its past practice; and

(D) taking any action to materially amend any Contract with any KPC
Employee;

except with the prior written consent of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
(which shall not be unreasonably withheld), to refrain from entering into
any Material Contract;

to continue in full force the Insurance Policies;
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to comply in all material respects with all Laws applicable to the KPC
Business; and

to apply for, maintain in good standing and renew all Permits.

Access for Investigation

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Kitchener and Wilmot will, and will cause the KPC Group to, permit
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley through their authorized
Representatives, until the Closing Date, to have reasonable access during
normal business hours to the KPC Group Owned Lands and the KPC Group
Leased Premises and to all the Books and Records of the KPC Group and
to the properties and assets of the KPC Group.

Kitchener and Wilmot and the KPC Group will co-operate in good faith in
arranging any such meetings as Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley may
reasonably request with:

(A)  management of the KPC Group employed in the KPC Business; and

(B)  suppliers, distributors, service providers or others who have a
business relationship with the KPC Group in respect of the KPC
Business.

Kitchener and Wilmot will also furnish to Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley any financial and operating data and other information with
respect to the KPC Business as Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
reasonably requests to enable confirmation of the accuracy of the matters
represented and warranted in Article 4.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will be provided ample opportunity to
make a full investigation of all aspects of the financial affairs of the KPC
Group.

The exercise of any rights of inspection by or on behalf of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley under this Section 6.1(b) shall not mitigate or
otherwise affect any of the representations and warranties of Kitchener and
Wilmot hereunder, which will continue in full force and effect as provided
in Article 8.

Termination of KPC Shareholder Agreement. Before Closing, Kitchener and
Wilmot shall terminate the KPC Shareholder Agreement.

Articles of Amalgamation. Immediately before Closing, Kitchener and Wilmot
shall cause the applicable members of the KPC Group to execute, deliver and duly
file under the OBCA the articles of amalgamation that give effect to the
Amalgamations.
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(e) Disclosure Supplements. During the period beginning on the date of this
Agreement and ending at the Closing Time, Kitchener and Wilmot will (acting
jointly) promptly notify Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley with respect to any
matter, condition or occurrence arising which, if existing at or occurring before or
on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set out or described
in the KW Disclosure Schedule. The Parties will use commercially reasonable
efforts to resolve any issues arising from any such notification, including if
necessary amending this Agreement. Where the Parties fail to resolve any such
issues and where the effect of such notification would reasonably be expected to
cause a Material Adverse Effect in respect of Amalco Holdco, then at the option of
any Party, exercisable by written notice to each of the other Parties, this Agreement
will terminate and be of no further force and effect with no liability to any of the
Parties. Notification under this Section 6.1(e) will not, in any case, be deemed to
cure any breach of any representation or warranty made in this Agreement or have
any effect on the right of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley to indemnity provided
for in under this Agreement or have any effect for the purpose of determining the
satisfaction of the conditions set out in Article 7 or the compliance by Kitchener
and Wilmot with any covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement.

6.2 Covenants of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley

@ Conduct of Business Before Closing. During the period beginning on the date of
this Agreement and ending at the Closing Time, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley will cause the Waterloo North Group, subject to Section 6.2(g):

(i)  toconduct the Waterloo North Business in the ordinary course substantially
consistent with past practice (except as may be otherwise required or
contemplated by the provisions of this Agreement or with the prior written
consent of Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly), which shall not be
unreasonably withheld);

(i) except as required by the terms of and in accordance with the Waterloo
North Collective Agreement (including as may be required in connection
with the renewal of the Waterloo North Collective Agreement) or applicable
Law, or with the prior written consent of the Chief Executive Officer of
KWHI, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, to refrain from:

(A)  hiring, engaging or retaining any new employees or independent
contractors to be employed, engaged or retained in connection with
the Waterloo North Business except for the engagement of new
independent contractors with a term of no greater than 9 months and
compensation that does not exceed an aggregate of - per
independent contractor;

(B)  terminating any Waterloo North Employees or transferring any
Waterloo North Employees to any other position;
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(C) increasing remuneration of Waterloo North Employees before the
Closing Date, except as consistent with its past practice; and

(D) taking any action to materially amend any Contract with any
Waterloo North Employee;

except with the prior written consent of Kitchener and Wilmot (acting
jointly) (which shall not be unreasonably withheld), to refrain from entering
into any Material Contract;

to continue in full force the Insurance Policies;

to comply in all material respects with all Laws applicable to the Waterloo
North Business; and

to apply for, maintain in good standing and renew all Permits.

(b) Access for Investigation.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will, and will cause the Waterloo North
Group to, permit Kitchener and Wilmot through their authorized
Representatives, until the Closing Date, to have reasonable access during
normal business hours to the Waterloo North Group Owned Lands and the
Waterloo North Group Leased Premises and to all the Books and Records
of the Waterloo North Group and to the properties and assets of the
Waterloo North Group.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley and the Waterloo North Group will co-
operate in good faith in arranging any such meetings as Kitchener and
Wilmot (acting jointly) may reasonably request with:

(A)  management of the Waterloo North Group employed in the
Waterloo North Business; and

(B)  suppliers, distributors, service providers or others who have a
business relationship with the Waterloo North Group in respect of
the Waterloo North Business.

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will also furnish to Kitchener and
Wilmot any financial and operating data and other information with respect
to the Waterloo North Business as Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly)
reasonably request to enable confirmation of the accuracy of the matters
represented and warranted in Article 5.

Kitchener and Wilmot will be provided ample opportunity (acting jointly)
to make a full investigation of all aspects of the financial affairs of the
Waterloo North Group.
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(v) The exercise of any rights of inspection by or on behalf of Kitchener and
Wilmot under this Section 6.2(b) shall not mitigate or otherwise affect any
of the representations and warranties of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
hereunder, which will continue in full force and effect as provided in
Article 8.

Termination of Waterloo North Shareholder Agreement. Before Closing,
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall terminate the Waterloo North
Shareholder Agreement.

Articles of Amalgamation. Immediately before Closing, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley shall cause the applicable members of the Waterloo North Group to
execute, deliver and duly file under the OBCA the articles of amalgamation that
give effect to the Amalgamations.

Excluded Amounts. The applicable members of the Waterloo North Group shall,
prior to Closing, ensure that none of Amalco Holdco or any of its Subsidiaries or
Eyedro shall, as of and following the Closing Date, have any liability or obligation
of any kind for any Excluded Amounts.

Disclosure Supplements. During the period beginning on the date of this
Agreement and ending at the Closing Time, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
will (acting jointly) promptly notify Kitchener and Wilmot with respect to any
matter, condition or occurrence arising which, if existing at or occurring before or
on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to be set out or described
in the Waterloo North Disclosure Schedule. The Parties will use commercially
reasonable efforts to resolve any issues arising from any such notification,
including if necessary amending this Agreement. Where the Parties fail to resolve
any such issues and where the effect of such notification would reasonably be
expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect in respect of Amalco Holdco, then at
the option of any Party, exercisable by written notice to each of the other Parties,
this Agreement will terminate and be of no further force and effect with no liability
to any of the Parties. Notification under this Section 6.2(e) will not, in any case, be
deemed to cure any breach of any representation or warranty made in this
Agreement or have any effect on the right of Kitchener and Wilmot to indemnity
provided for in under this Agreement or have any effect for the purpose of
determining the satisfaction of the conditions set out in Article 7 or the compliance
by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley with any covenants or agreements contained
in this Agreement.

Short Term Notes. Before Closing, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall
cause Waterloo North Holdings and WNHI to redeem and terminate the WNH
Short Term Notes.
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6.3 Mutual Covenants

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

Actions to Satisfy Closing Conditions. Each Party will take or cause to be taken
all actions that are within its power to control, and will make all commercially
reasonable best efforts to cause other actions to be taken which are not within its
power to control, so as to ensure its compliance with, and satisfaction of, all
conditions in Article 7 that are for the benefit of the other Parties.

Personal Information. The collection, use and disclosure of Personal Information
by any of the Parties before the Closing is restricted to those purposes that relate to
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to other purposes as may be
permitted by applicable Law.

Confidentiality. The Parties shall treat as confidential this Agreement, the terms
and conditions set out herein and all information provided to one another in
accordance with this Agreement. All such information shall be deemed received
pursuant to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, be kept in the strictest
confidence and not divulged to any unrelated third party or used by any Party. Each
Party that is not a party to or bound by the Confidentiality Agreement hereby
agrees, covenants and acknowledges to be bound by the terms and conditions of the
Confidentiality Agreement as if it was an original signatory thereto and
acknowledges having received a copy of the Confidentiality Agreement on or
before the date of this Agreement. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, nothing shall prevent the disclosure of any agreement or information,
and no party shall be held liable for the disclosure of any agreement or information,
if and to the extent that any such disclosure is required by applicable Law, including
the Municipal Act, 2001 (Ontario) and the Municipal Freedom of Information and
Protection of Privacy Act (Ontario).

Amalco Holdco Shareholders Agreement. On Closing each of Kitchener,
Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall, and shall cause Amalco Holdco
to, execute and deliver the Shareholders Agreement.

Equity Issuances/Dividends.

Q) Kitchener and Wilmot shall ensure that no member of the KPC Group issues
any additional equity at any time prior to the Closing Time.

(i)  Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall ensure that no member of the
Waterloo North Group issues any additional equity at any time prior to the
Closing Time.

(i) Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley shall continue to accept payment of all
dividends declared by Waterloo North Holdings in the ordinary course in
accordance with past practice (and shall not defer payment of same).
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(iv) Kitchener and Wilmot shall continue to accept payment of all dividends
declared by KPC in the ordinary course in accordance with past practice
(and shall not defer payment of same).

Location of Facilities and Executive Functions.

() Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will cause LDC
Amalco to continue to have a substantial physical and functional presence
in each of the two former service territories of KWHI and WNHI.

(i) Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will cause Amalco
Holdco and LDC Amalco to maintain the administration and operations
buildings located at 301 Victoria Street South, Kitchener, Ontario N2M 3A2
and to maintain their head office at such location, including the executive
functions of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, for an
indefinite period following the Closing Date or at such other location within
Kitchener as may be approved by Kitchener.

(iii) Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will cause Amalco
Holdco and LDC Amalco to maintain the administration and operations
buildings located at 526 Country Squire Road, Waterloo, Ontario N2J 4G8,
at which activities will include leading innovation and new technology
development, along with some executive functions, for an indefinite period
from the Closing Date, or at such other location within Waterloo, Woolwich
or Wellesley as may be approved by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
(acting jointly).

Name and Branding. Amalco Holdco, LDC Amalco, and KESI will be required
to adopt new corporate names and a new corporate brand (including logo and other
identifying marks) following the Closing Date (together, the “Amalco
Rebranding”). Amalco Holdco and LDC Amalco will keep Kitchener, Wilmot,
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley informed as to all relevant aspects of the
Amalco Rebranding and will seek the input and recommendations of Kitchener,
Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley on the new corporate names.

Reforestation Grants. Following Closing each of Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo,
Woolwich, Wellesley and Amalco Holdco, shall cause LDC Amalco to continue its
tree reforestation grant program in the amounts and in a manner consistent with
past practice (including, if applicable, periodic increases of such grants) to provide
tree reforestation grants to Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley.

Promissory Notes.

Q) On or prior to the Closing Date, each of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
and Waterloo North Holdings will amend the terms and conditions of the
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Promissory Notes to change the interest
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rate payable to an amount equal to the interest rate payable by KWHI
pursuant to the Kitchener and Wilmot Promissory Notes and to remove any
rights of the holders thereof or any member of the Waterloo North Group to
convert, redeem or otherwise exchange any of such Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley Promissory Notes into any shares or other securities of the
Waterloo North Group. Kitchener and Wilmot will not convert, redeem or
otherwise exchange any Kitchener and Wilmot Promissory Notes into any
shares or other securities of the KPC Group prior to the Closing Date.
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley will not convert, redeem or otherwise
exchange any Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Promissory Notes into
any shares or other securities of the Waterloo North Group prior to the
Closing Date.

(i) Except as set forth in Section 6.3(i)(i), no Party will amend the terms and
conditions of the Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Promissory Notes or
the Kitchener and Wilmot Promissory Notes, as applicable. For clarity,
following the Closing Date, LDC Amalco will be the borrower pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the Kitchener and Wilmot Promissory Notes
and Amalco Holdco will be the borrower pursuant to the terms of the
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley Promissory Notes.

ARTICLE 7
CLOSING CONDITIONS

7.1 Conditions for the Benefit of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley

The obligation of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley to complete the Amalgamations is subject
to the fulfilment of the following conditions at or before the Closing Time:

(@)

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The representations and warranties
of Kitchener and Wilmot made in this Agreement or in any other agreement or
document delivered pursuant to this Agreement will be true and accurate in all
material respects at the Closing Time with the same force and effect as though those
representations and warranties had been made as of the Closing Time. At Closing,
Kitchener, Wilmot and the members of the KPC Group will have performed or
complied in all material respects with all covenants and agreements agreed to be
performed or complied with by them under this Agreement and any other
agreement or document delivered pursuant to this Agreement at or before the
Closing Time. In addition, each of Kitchener and Wilmot and the applicable
members of the KPC Group will have delivered to Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley a certificate of a senior officer of each of Kitchener, Wilmot and the
members of the KPC Group confirming the same. The receipt of those certificates
and the completion of the Closing will not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any
of the representations, warranties or covenants of Kitchener and Wilmot or the
members of the KPC Group contained in this Agreement or in any other agreement
or document delivered pursuant to this Agreement. Those representations,
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warranties and covenants will continue in full force and effect as provided in
Article 8, or, if Article 8 does not apply, the terms of the agreement or document in
which they are made.

(b) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement there will not have
been any change in any of the assets, financial condition, earnings, results of
operations or prospects of the KPC Group, or in the KPC Business (whether or not
covered by insurance) that has had, or might reasonably be expected to have, a
Material Adverse Effect.

(©) Consents and Regulatory Approvals. All filings, notifications, approvals and
consents with, to or from Governmental Authorities and third parties, including the
parties to the Material Contracts and the lessors of the KPC Group Leased Premises,
will have been made, given or obtained on terms acceptable to Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley (acting jointly), acting reasonably, so that the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement may be completed without resulting in the
violation of, or a default under, or any termination, amendment or acceleration of
any obligation under any Permit, KPC Real Property Lease, or Material Contract
of or affecting the KPC Business, including the OEB Approval and the Competition
Act Approval.

(d) No Transfer Tax. No Transfer Tax shall be payable by any Party to the Ontario
Electricity Financial Corporation in connection with transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

7.2 Waiver or Termination by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley

The conditions contained in Section 7.1 are inserted for the exclusive benefit of Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley and may be waived in whole or in part by them at any time without
prejudice to any of their rights of termination in the event of non-performance of any other
condition in whole or in part. If any of the conditions contained in Section 8.1 are not fulfilled or
complied with by the time that is required under this Agreement, Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley (acting jointly) may, at or before the Closing Time, terminate this Agreement by notice
in writing after that time to Kitchener and Wilmot. In that event, all Parties will be released from
all obligations under this Agreement (except as set out in Section 8.3).

7.3 Conditions for the Benefit of Kitchener and Wilmot

The obligation of Kitchener and Wilmot to complete the Amalgamations and the other transactions
contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the fulfilment of the following conditions at or before
the Closing Time:

@) Representations, Warranties and Covenants. The representations and warranties
of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley made in this Agreement or in any other
agreement or document delivered pursuant to this Agreement will be true and
accurate in all material respects at the Closing Time with the same force and effect
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as though those representations and warranties had been made as of the Closing
Time. At Closing, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley and the members of the
Waterloo North Group will have performed or complied in all material respects
with all covenants and agreements agreed to be performed or complied with by
them under this Agreement and any other agreement or document delivered
pursuant to this Agreement at or before the Closing Time. In addition, each of
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley and the applicable members of the Waterloo
North Group will have delivered to Kitchener and Wilmot a certificate of a senior
officer of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley and the members of the Waterloo
North Group confirming the same. The receipt of those certificates and the
completion of the Closing will not be deemed to constitute a waiver of any of the
representations, warranties or covenants of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley or
the members of the Waterloo North Group contained in this Agreement or in any
other agreement or document delivered pursuant to this Agreement. Those
representations, warranties and covenants will continue in full force and effect as
provided in Article 8 or, if Article 8 does not apply, the terms of the agreement or
document in which they are made.

No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement there will not have
been any change in any of the assets, financial condition, earnings, results of
operations or prospects of the Waterloo North Group or the Waterloo North
Business (whether or not covered by insurance) that has had, or might reasonably
be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

Consents and Regulatory Approvals. All filings, notifications, approvals and
consents with, to or from Governmental Authorities and third parties, including the
parties to the Material Contracts and the lessors of the Waterloo North Group
Leased Premises, will have been made, given or obtained on terms acceptable to
Kitchener and Wilmot, acting jointly and reasonably, so that the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement may be completed without resulting in the
violation of, or a default under, or any termination, amendment or acceleration of
any obligation under any Permit, Waterloo North Group Real Property Lease, or
Material Contract of or affecting the Waterloo North Business, including the OEB
Approval and the Competition Act Approval.

No Transfer Tax. No Transfer Tax shall be payable by any Party to the Ontario
Electricity Financial Corporation in connection with the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

7.4 Waiver or Termination by Kitchener and Wilmot

The conditions contained in Section 7.3 are inserted for the exclusive benefit of Kitchener and
Wilmot and may be waived in whole or in part by them (acting jointly) at any time without
prejudice to any of their rights of termination in the event of non-performance of any other
condition in whole or in part. If any of the conditions contained in Section 7.3 are not fulfilled or
complied with by the time that is required under this Agreement, Kitchener and Wilmot may
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(acting jointly), at or before the Closing Time, terminate this Agreement by notice in writing after
that time to Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley. In that event, all Parties will be released from all
obligations under this Agreement (except as set out in Section 8.3).

7.5 Condition Precedent

The Amalgamations are subject to the following condition to be fulfilled at or before the Closing
Time, which condition is a true condition precedent to the completion of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement:

(@) No order of any Governmental Authority will be in force, and no action or proceeding
will be pending or threatened by any Person:

(i) to restrain or prohibit the completion of the transactions contemplated in this
Agreement, including the Amalgamations;

(ii) to restrain or prohibit the carrying on of the Waterloo North Business or the
KPC Business, respectively; or

(iii) which would have a Material Adverse Effect (taken as a whole) on the KPC
Group or on the Waterloo North Group (taken as a whole).

If this condition precedent has not been fulfilled at or before the Closing Time, unless otherwise
agreed by the Parties in writing, this Agreement will be terminated and the Parties will be released
from all obligations under this Agreement (except as set out in Section 8.3).

7.6 Termination

@ This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to Closing by mutual written
consent of Kitchener, Wilmot, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley.

(b) This Agreement may be terminated by Waterloo or Kitchener by written notice to
the other Parties if the Closing contemplated by this Agreement shall have not
occurred on or before the earlier of (a) the first anniversary of the date of this
Agreement, (b) 90 days following OEB Approval. Upon such termination the
Parties shall be released from all obligations then remaining under this Agreement,
other than the obligations contained in Sections 6.3(c), 11.3 and 11.8 provided that
the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section (b) shall not be available
to a Party if the acts or omissions of that Party or any of its Affiliates have been the
cause of, or result in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date.

(©) This Agreement may be terminated by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley (acting
jointly), on the one hand, or Kitchener and Wilmot (acting jointly), on the other
hand within 60 days following an Adverse Determination if the Parties cannot agree
on any amendments to this Agreement. Upon such termination the Parties shall be
released from all obligations then remaining under this Agreement, other than the
obligations contained in Sections 6.3(c), 11.3 and 11.8 provided that the right to
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terminate this Agreement under this Section (b) shall not be available to a Party if
the acts or omissions of that Party or any of its Affiliates have been the cause of, or
result in, the failure of the Closing to occur on or before such date.

(d) If any condition in Section 7.1 or 7.5 is not satisfied on or before the Closing Date,
Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley or Waterloo North Holdings may, by notice to
the other Parties, terminate this Agreement and thereupon the Parties shall be
released from all obligations then remaining under this Agreement, other than the
obligations contained in Sections 6.3(c), 11.3 and 11.8; provided that Waterloo,
Woolwich and Wellesley, Waterloo North Holdings or WNHI may also bring a
Direct Claims against Kitchener and Wilmot, KPC, and KWHI in accordance with
Section 8.8 for Losses asserted against or suffered by Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley, Waterloo North Holdings and WNHI, or any of them, as a result of the
failure to complete the Amalgamations, where the non-performance or non-
conformance of the relevant condition is as a result of a breach of covenant,
representation or warranty by Kitchener and Wilmot, KPC, or KWHI.

(e If any condition in Section 7.3 or 7.5 is not satisfied on or before the Closing Date,
Kitchener and KPC may, by notice to the other Parties, terminate this Agreement
and thereupon the Parties shall be released from all obligations then remaining
under this Agreement, other than the obligations contained in Sections 6.3, 11.3
and 11.8; provided that Kitchener, Wilmot, KPC, KWHI or KESI may also bring a
Direct Claim against Waterloo, Woolwich, Wellesley, Waterloo North Holdings,
and WNHII in accordance with Section 8.8 for Losses asserted against or suffered
by Kitchener, Wilmot, KPC, KWHI, KESI or any of them, as a result of the failure
to complete the Amalgamations, where the non-performance or non-conformance
of the relevant condition is as a result of a breach of covenant, representation or
warranty by Waterloo, Woolwich, Wellesley, Waterloo North Holdings, or WNHI.

ARTICLE 8
SURVIVAL AND INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 Survival of Covenants and Representations and Warranties

All of the covenants and representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and in any
other agreement or document delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including this Article 8, will
survive the Closing.

8.2 Survival Following Termination

If this Agreement is terminated at or before the Closing Time pursuant to Sections 7.2, 7.4 or 7.5,
the provisions of Section 6.3(c), 11.3 and 11.8 will remain in full force and effect.
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8.3 Mutual Indemnifications for Breaches of Warranty, etc.

Subject to the remaining provisions of this Article 8:

(@)

(b)

Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley agree that if Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley or any member of the Waterloo North Group fails to observe or perform
any covenant or obligation to be complied with or performed by them in this
Agreement, or breach any of their representations and warranties contained in this
Agreement (an “Waterloo North Failure), Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
will indemnify and hold harmless Kitchener and Wilmot from and against the full
amount of any Loss which Kitchener and Wilmot may suffer as a result of such
Waterloo North Failure; and

Kitchener and Wilmot agree that if Kitchener and Wilmot or any member of the
KPC Group fails to observe or perform any covenant or obligation to be complied
with or performed by them in this Agreement, or breach any of their representations
and warranties contained in this Agreement (a “KPC Failure”), Kitchener and
Wilmot will indemnify and hold harmless Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley from
and against the full amount of any Loss which it/they may suffer as a result of such
KPC Failure;

(the Party or Parties making a Claim for indemnification under any provision of this Article 8
being the “Indemnified Party”, and the Party or Parties providing indemnification being the
“Indemnifying Party” for the purposes of this Article 8).

8.4 Limitation on Mutual Indemnification

The indemnification obligations of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley (on the one hand) and
Kitchener and Wilmot (on the other hand) pursuant to Section 8.3 are limited and subject to the

following:

(@)

limited to the sum of _ in respect of Kitchener and limited to the sum of
in the case of Wilmot in the case of all KPC Failures, provided that:

Q) in respect of any KPC Failure, neither Kitchener nor Wilmot shall be liable
in excess of its Pro Rata Share of Losses in respect thereof; and

(i) there will be no limit with respect to any indemnification arising as a
consequence of fraud, wilful misrepresentation or gross negligence on the
part of Kitchener and Wilmot or any member of the KPC Group, provided
that in respect of any such indemnification arising as a consequence of
fraud, wilful misrepresentation or gross negligence, neither Kitchener nor
Wilmot shall be liable in excess of its Pro Rata Share of Losses in respect
thereof;
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limited to the sum of _ in respect of Waterloo, limited to the sum of
in respect of Woolwich and limited to the sum of in respect
of Wellesley in the case of all Waterloo North Failures, provided that:

() in respect of any Waterloo North Failure, none of Waterloo, Woolwich or
Wellesley shall be liable in excess of its Pro Rata Share of Losses in respect
thereof; and

(i) there will be no limit with respect to any indemnification arising as a
consequence of fraud, wilful misrepresentation or gross negligence on the
part of Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley or any member of the Waterloo
North Group, provided that in respect of any such indemnification arising
as a consequence of fraud, wilful misrepresentation or gross negligence,
none of Waterloo, Woolwich or Wellesley shall be liable in excess of its
Pro Rata Share of Losses in respect thereof;

in respect of Claims against Waterloo, Woolwich or Wellesley, they shall have no
obligations to indemnify an Indemnified Party unless and until the aggregate of all
Indemnity Claims_to which Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley collectively are
subject exceeds , In which case, subject to this Section 8.4, the
Indemnifying Party will be obligated to pay the entire amount owing in respect of
those Claims without a deductible;

in respect of Claims against Kitchener or Wilmot, they shall have no obligations to
indemnify an Indemnified Party unless and until the aggregate of all Indemnit

Claims to which Kitchener and Wilmot collectively are subject exceeds -/
in which case, subject to this Section 8.4, the Indemnifying Party will be obligated
to pay the entire amount owing in respect of those Claims without a deductible; and

where the Claim relates to any Loss in respect of Amalco Holdco or any Subsidiary
(or their respective predecessors), each of Amalco Holdco and LDC Amalco shall
use its commercially reasonable efforts to seek to recover any insurance proceeds,
indemnity, contribution, or other similar payment in connection with such Loss in
order to reduce the amount of any Claim arising out of such Loss. Any calculation
of Loss for purposes of Section 8.3 shall be reduced to take account of any net Tax
benefit received or realized by a Party as a result of any such Loss. Any payment
pursuant to Section 8.3 shall initially be made without regard to this Section 8.4
and shall be reduced to reflect any such net Tax benefit only after the Party suffering
the Loss has actually realized such benefit. For purposes of this Agreement, the
applicable Party shall be deemed to have “actually realized’ a net Tax benefit to the
extent that, and at such time as, the amount of Taxes required to be paid by such
Party is reduced below the amount of Taxes that it would have been required to pay
but for deductibility of the applicable Loss, in each case: (i) during the same Tax
year as the year in which the relevant Loss occurred; (ii) calculated so that the items
related to the Party's indemnification obligations are the last to be recognized; and
(iii) as reasonably determined by such Party. The amount of any reduction



hereunder shall be adjusted to reflect any final determination with respect to the
applicable Party's liability for Taxes, consistent with the foregoing.

8.5 Additional Indemnities

av) [

(i)
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(i)

(iii)

8.6 Notice of Claim

If an Indemnified Party becomes aware of a Loss or potential Loss in respect of which the
Indemnifying Party has agreed to indemnify it under this Agreement, the Indemnified Party will
promptly give written notice (an “Indemnity Notice) of its Claim or potential Claim for
indemnification (an “Indemnity Claim”) to the Indemnifying Party. An Indemnity Notice must
specify whether the Indemnity Claim arises as the result of a Claim made against the Indemnified
Party by a person who is not a Party (a “Third Party Claim’) or as a result of a Loss that was
suffered directly by an Indemnified Party (a *“Direct Claim”), and must also specify with
reasonable particularity (to the extent that the information is available):

@ the factual basis for the Indemnity Claim; and
(b) the amount of the Indemnity Claim, if known.

If, through the fault of the Indemnified Party, the Indemnifying Party does not receive an
Indemnity Notice of an Indemnity Claim in time to effectively contest the determination of any
liability capable of being contested, the Indemnifying Party will be entitled to set off against the
amount claimed by the Indemnified Party the amount of any Loss incurred by the Indemnifying
Party resulting from the Indemnified Party’s failure to give an Indemnity Notice on a timely basis.

8.7 Time Limits for Notice

@) Subject to, and other than for Indemnity Claims in respect of which a different time
period is expressly set out in the remaining provisions of this Section 8.7, no
Indemnity Claim may be made under Section 8.3 unless an Indemnity Notice of
that Indemnity Claim is delivered to the Indemnifying Party * after
the Closing Date or, in respect of an Indemnity Claim.

(b) No Indemnity Claim arising out of a breach by Kitchener and Wilmot of
Section 4.13 may be made unless an Indemnity Notice of that Indemnity Claim is
delivered to Kitchener and Wilmot within 180 days after the last day upon which
any of the relevant Governmental Authorities is entitled to assess or reassess the
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KPC Group with respect to any Tax, having regard to any waivers given by the
KPC Group in respect of Tax, and any entitlement of a Governmental Authority to
assess or reassess in the event of fraud or misrepresentation or attributable to
neglect, carelessness or wilful default.

(c) No Indemnity Claim arising out of a breach by Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley
of Section 5.13 may be made unless an Indemnity Notice of that Indemnity Claim
is delivered to Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley within 180 days after the last
day upon which any of the relevant Governmental Authorities is entitled to assess
or reassess the Waterloo North Group with respect to any Tax, having regard to any
waivers given by the Waterloo North Group in respect of Tax, and any entitlement
of a Governmental Authority to assess or reassess in the event of fraud or
misrepresentation or attributable to neglect, carelessness or wilful default.

(d) An Indemnity Notice of an Indemnity Claim may be delivered to the Indemnifying
Party at any time with respect to the following (subject to the applicable statute of
limitations):

Q) a breach of the representations and warranties contained in Sections 3.1
(Corporate Existence), 3.2 (Capacity to Enter Agreement), 3.3 (Binding
Obligation) or 3.4 (Absence of Conflict);

(i) a breach of the representations and warranties of Kitchener and Wilmot
contained in Sections 4.4 (Share Ownership, Etc.), 4.5 (Corporate Existence
of the KPC Group), 4.7 (Capacity and Powers of the KPC Group),
4.9 (Options, Etc.) or 4.35 (Absence of Conflict);

(iii) a breach of the representations and warranties of Waterloo, Woolwich and
Wellesley contained in Section 5.4 (Share Ownership, Etc.), 5.5 (Corporate
Existence of the Waterloo North Group), 5.7 (Capacity and Powers of the
Waterloo North Group), 5.9 (Options, Etc.) or 5.35 (Absence of Conflict);

(iv) a breach of any of the Indemnifying Party’s covenants or representations
and warranties, if that breach is attributable to fraud, wilful
misrepresentation or gross negligence;

(v) a breach of the covenants in Section 6.3(c) (as limited by the provisions of
such Section); and

(vi) a breach of the covenants in Section 6.3(f).
8.8  Procedure for Direct Claims

Following receipt of an Indemnity Notice from the Indemnified Party of a Direct Claim, the
Indemnifying Party will have 20 Business Days to make any investigations it considers necessary
or desirable. For the purpose of those investigations, the Indemnified Party will make available to
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the Indemnifying Party the information relied upon by the Indemnified Party to substantiate the
Direct Claim, together with all other information that the Indemnifying Party may reasonably
request. If both Parties agree at or before the expiration of such period (or any mutually agreed
upon extension) to the validity and amount of the Direct Claim, the Indemnifying Party will pay
immediately to the Indemnified Party the full agreed upon amount of the Loss for which the Direct
Claim is made, and no subsequent proceeding will be brought in any court of law concerning that
Direct Claim.

8.9  Procedure for Third Party Claims

@ Despite any other provision of this Agreement, if the Indemnified Party is required
by applicable Law to make a payment into court, into escrow, or to any third party,
with respect to a Third Party Claim before the completion of related settlement
negotiations or legal proceedings, the Indemnified Party may make the required
payment and the Indemnifying Party will, promptly after demand by the
Indemnified Party, reimburse the Indemnified Party for the required payment made.
If the Indemnifying Party makes that reimbursement in full, and if the amount of
any liability of the Indemnified Party under the Third Party Claim in respect of
which the required payment was made, as finally determined, is less than the
amount that was paid by the Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Party, the
Indemnified Party will, promptly after recovery of the surplus amount left over
from the required payment, pay that surplus amount to the Indemnifying Party.

(b) The Indemnified Party will promptly deliver to the Indemnifying Party copies of
all correspondence, notices, assessments or other written Communication received
by the Indemnified Party in respect of any Third Party Claim.

(©) The Indemnified Party will not negotiate, settle, compromise or pay any Third Party
Claim with respect to which it has asserted or proposes to assert an Indemnity
Claim, without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent
will not be unreasonably withheld.

(d) The Indemnified Party will not cause or permit the termination of any right of
appeal in respect of any Third Party Claim which is or might become the basis of
an Indemnity Claim without giving the Indemnifying Party written notice of the
contemplated or potential termination in time to grant the Indemnifying Party an
opportunity to contest the Third Party Claim.

(e) If the Indemnifying Party first acknowledges in writing its obligation to satisfy an
Indemnity Claim to the extent of any binding determination or settlement in
connection with a Third Party Claim (or enters into arrangements otherwise
satisfactory to the Indemnified Party), in any legal or administrative proceeding in
connection with the matters forming the basis of a Third Party Claim, the following

will apply:
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the Indemnifying Party will have the right, subject to the rights of any
Person having potential liability for it, by written notice delivered to the
Indemnified Party within ten Business Days of receipt by the Indemnifying
Party of an Indemnity Notice, to assume carriage and control of the
negotiation, defence or settlement of a Third Party Claim and the conduct
of any related legal or administrative proceedings at the expense of the
Indemnifying Party and by its own counsel,

if the Indemnifying Party elects to assume carriage and control, the
Indemnified Party will have the right to participate at its own expense in the
negotiation, defence or settlement of a Third Party Claim assisted by
counsel of its own choosing;

each of the Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party will make all
reasonable efforts to make available to the Party, who has assumed carriage
and control of the negotiation, defence or settlement of a Third Party Claim,
those employees whose assistance or evidence is necessary to assist that
Party in evaluating and defending that Third Party Claim and all documents,
records and other materials in the possession or control of that Party
required for use in the negotiation, defence or settlement of that Third Party
Claim;

despite Sections 8.9(e)(i), 8.9(e)(ii) and 8.9(e)(iii), the Indemnifying Party
will not settle a Third Party Claim or conduct any related legal or
administrative proceeding in a manner which would, in the opinion of the
Indemnified Party, acting reasonably, have a material adverse effect on the
Indemnified Party except with the Indemnified Party’s prior written
consent; and

subject to Section 8.9(e)(ii), the Indemnifying Party will indemnify and
hold harmless the Indemnified Party from and against any Loss incurred or
suffered as a result of the Indemnifying Party’s settlement of the Third Party
Claim or conduct of any related legal or administrative proceeding.

When the amount of the Loss with respect to a Third Party Claim is finally
determined in accordance with this Section 8.9, including any amount described in
Section 8.9(e)(v), the Indemnifying Party will immediately pay the full amount of
that Loss to the Indemnified Party.

If the Indemnified Party has been permitted by the Indemnifying Party to assume
the carriage and control of the negotiation, defence, or settlement of the Third Party
Claim, the Indemnifying Party will not contest the amount of that Loss.

The Indemnifying Party will have no obligation to make any payment with respect
to any Third Party Claim that is settled or contested in violation of the terms of this
Section 8.9.
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8.10 No Delay

Each Indemnifying Party will pursue any Indemnity Claim made by an Indemnified Party under
this Agreement with reasonable diligence and dispatch, and without unnecessary delay, once the
circumstances that give rise to that Indemnity Claim are known to it.

8.11 Set-off

Each Indemnified Party will be entitled to set-off the amount of any Loss for which it seeks
indemnification under this Article 8 once, if applicable, finally determined in accordance with
Section 8.8 or Section 8.9, as the case may be, as damages or by way of indemnification against
any other amounts payable by it to the Indemnifying Party whether under this Agreement or
otherwise.

8.12 Exclusive Remedy

@) Subject to Sections 2.4 and 8.12(b), the rights of indemnity in this Article 8 are the
sole and exclusive remedy of each Party for any Loss suffered in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) Nothing in this Section 8.12 will prevent a Party from seeking equitable remedies
with respect to a breach of the confidentiality covenants contained in this
Agreement.

(©) Unless otherwise specifically agreed by the Parties, this Section 8.12 will remain
in full force and effect in all circumstances and will not be terminated by any breach
(fundamental, negligent or otherwise) by any Party of its covenants, representations
or warranties in this Agreement or under any agreement or other document
delivered pursuant to this Agreement, or by any termination or rescission of this
Agreement.

ARTICLE 9
REGULATORY APPROVAL

9.1 OEB Approval and Competition Act Approval

@) Each of KWHI and WNHI will, as promptly as practicable after the execution of
this Agreement (but in no event later than 60 days after the execution of this
Agreement), file or caused to be filed with the OEB an application under the OEB
Act for the OEB Approval.

(b) The Parties will, as promptly as possible after the execution of this Agreement (but
in no event later than 5 days after the execution of this Agreement), file with the
Commissioner an application for an advance ruling certificate under Section 102 of
the Competition Act or, alternatively, a No-Action Letter, in respect of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. If an advance ruling certificate or
No-Action Letter has not been obtained by the 45™ day following such application,
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the Parties will prepare and file with the Commissioner a pre-merger notification
in respect of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under Section 114 of
the Competition Act.

(© Each of KWHI and WNHI will bear half the cost of the filing fees and professional
advisors in respect of the applications for the OEB Approval and the Competition
Act Approval. Each of KWHI and Kitchener and Wilmot and Waterloo, Woolwich
and Wellesley and WNHI will use its best efforts (which shall not be less than
commercially reasonable efforts) to co-operate and assist the other, so that the OEB
Approval and the Competition Act Approval can be obtained as soon as practicable
and in any event on or prior to June 30, 2022.

9.2 Minister of Finance Notice

@) KWHI and WNHI will as promptly as practicable after the execution of this
Agreement (but in no event later than 60 days prior to the Closing Date), jointly file
or cause to be filed with the Ontario Minister of Finance the notification required
under subsection 4(2) of Ontario Regulation 124/99 made under the EA.

(b) Each Party will be responsible for the costs incurred by it in connection with the
Minister of Finance Notice.

9.3 OEB MAADs Application and Approval

In the event that the KPC Group or Waterloo North Group, as applicable, is of the opinion, acting
reasonably, that the OEB Approval decision (i) will reduce the sitout period (i.e., the deferred
rebasing period) to less than 10 years and/or reduce the expected savings that may be allocated the
direct and indirect shareholders of LDC Amalco during the sitout period pursuant to the policies
of the OEB, and/or (ii) does not approve the continuation of Distribution Rate Zones for a
minimum period of 20 years post-Closing, which shall be expressly identified as a separate and
distinct head of relief under the order requested in the mergers, amalgamations, acquisitions and
divestitures (MAAD:S) application filed by the Parties pursuant to Section 9.1(a) (in each case, an
“Adverse Determination”), either the KPC Group or Waterloo North Group, as applicable, may
provide written notice to the other parties of such potential Adverse Determination. The Parties
agree to cooperate and negotiate any desirable or required amendments to this Agreement to
address a potential Adverse Determination. For clarity, the mergers, amalgamations, acquisitions
and divestitures (MAADSs) application filed by the Parties pursuant to Section 9.1(a) will seek,
over a minimum period of 20 years following Closing, the harmonization of Zone A and Zone B
Rates in a fair and reasonable manner for LDC Amalco’s customers.
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ARTICLE 10
CLOSING ARRANGEMENTS

10.1 Closing

The Closing will take place at the Closing Time on the Closing Date at such place or places as the
Parties may agree.

10.2  Closing Procedures

At the Closing Time, upon fulfilment of all the conditions set out in Article 7 that have not been
waived in writing, each Party shall deliver or cause to be delivered to certificates, agreements,
documents and instruments as required by the terms of the this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11
GENERAL

11.1  Submission to Jurisdiction

Each of the Parties irrevocably and unconditionally submits and attorns to the non-exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario to determine all issues, whether at law or in
equity, arising from this Agreement. To the extent permitted by applicable Law, each of the Parties:

@ irrevocably waives any objection, including any Claim of inconvenient forum, that
it may now or in the future have to the venue of any legal proceeding arising out of
or relating to this Agreement in the courts of that Province, or that the subject matter
of this Agreement may not be enforced in those courts;

(b) irrevocably agrees not to seek, and waives any right to, judicial review by any court
which may be called upon to enforce the judgment of the courts referred to in this
Section 11.1, of the substantive merits of any suit, action or proceeding; and

(©) to the extent a Party has or may acquire any immunity from the jurisdiction of any
court or from any legal process, whether through service or notice, attachment
before judgment, attachment in aid of execution, execution or otherwise, with
respect to itself or its property, that Party irrevocably waives that immunity in
respect of its obligations under this Agreement.

11.2 Tender

Any tender of documents or money under this Agreement may be made upon the Parties or their
respective counsel.

11.3 Costs and Expenses

Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, including Section 9.1(c) and Section 9.2(b), all
costs and expenses (including the fees and disbursements of accountants, financial advisors, legal
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counsel and other professional advisers) incurred in connection with this Agreement, the
obligations under this Agreement and the completion of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, are to be paid by the Party incurring those costs and expenses. If there is a breach of
this Agreement or this Agreement is terminated, the obligation of each Party to pay its own costs
and expenses is subject to each Party’s respective rights arising from such breach or termination.

11.4  Time of Essence
Time is of the essence in all respects of this Agreement.
11.5 Notices
Any Communication must be in writing and either:
@ delivered personally or by courier;
(b) sent by prepaid registered mail; or
(©) transmitted by facsimile or e-mail.
Any Communication must be sent to the intended recipient at its address as follows:

To: Kitchener

The Corporation of the City of Kitchener
200 King Street West
Kitchener, ON N2G 497

Attention: Dan Chapman, Chief Administrative Officer
Email: dan.chapman@kitchener.ca

And to: Wilmot

Township of Wilmot

60 Snyder’s Road West

Baden, ON N3A 1Al

Attention: Sandy Jackson, Acting Chief Administrative Officer

Email: sandy.jackson@wilmot.ca
And to: Waterloo

The Corporation of the City of Waterloo
100 Regina Street South
Waterloo, ON N2J 4A8
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Attention: Tim Anderson, Chief Administrative Officer
Email: Tim.Anderson@waterloo.ca

And to: Woolwich

Township of Woolwich
24 Church Street West
Elmira, ON N3B 226

Attention: David Brenneman, Chief Administrative Officer
Email: dbrenneman@woolwich.ca

And to: Wellesley

Township of Wellesley

4639 Lobsinger Line

St. Clements, ON NOB 2M0

Attention: Rik Louwagie, Chief Administrative Officer
Email: rlouwagie@wellesley.ca

And to: KPC, KWHI and KESI:

301 Victoria Street South,
Kitchener, ON N2G 4L2

Attention: Jerry Van Ooteghem, President and CEO
Email: jvanooteghem@kwhydro.ca

And to Waterloo North Holdings, WNHI and Alliance:

526 Country Squire Road,
Waterloo, ON N2J 4G8

Attention: Rene Gatien, President and CEO
Email: rgatien@wnhydro.com

or at any other address as any Party may at any time advise the other Parties by Communication
given or made in accordance with this Section 11.5. Any Communication delivered to the Party to
whom it is addressed will be deemed to have been given or made and received on the day it is
delivered at that Party’s address, provided that if that day is not a Business Day then the
Communication will be deemed to have been given or made and received on the next Business
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Day. Any Communication sent by prepaid registered mail will be deemed to have been given or
made and received on the fifth Business Day after which it is mailed. If a strike or lockout of postal
employees is then in effect, or generally known to be impending, every Communication must be
delivered personally or by courier or transmitted by facsimile or e-mail. Any Communication
transmitted by facsimile or e-mail will be deemed to have been given or made and received on the
day on which it is transmitted; but if the Communication is transmitted on a day which is not a
Business Day or after 5:00 p.m. (local time of the recipient), the Communication will be deemed
to have been given or made and received on the next Business Day.

11.6 Further Assurances

Each Party will, at that Party’s own cost and expense, execute and deliver any further agreements
and documents and provide any further assurances, undertakings and information as may be
reasonably required by the requesting Party to give effect to this Agreement and, without limiting
the generality of this Section 11.6, will do or cause to be done all acts and things, execute and
deliver or cause to be executed and delivered all agreements and documents and provide any
assurances, undertakings and information as may be required at any time by all Governmental
Authorities.

11.7 No Broker

Each Party represents and warrants to the other Parties that all negotiations relating to this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been carried on between
them directly, without the intervention of any other Person on behalf of any Party in such manner
as to give rise to any valid Claim against the KPC Group or the Waterloo North Group for a
brokerage commission, finder’s fee or other similar payment.

11.8 Public Notice

All public notices to third parties and all other announcements, press releases and publicity
concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, must be jointly
planned and co-ordinated by each member of the KPC Group, Kitchener and Wilmot, on the one
hand, and the Waterloo North Group, Waterloo, Woolwich and Wellesley, on the other hand, and
no Party will act unilaterally in this regard without the prior consent of the other Parties.

11.9 Amendment and Waiver

No amendment, discharge, modification, restatement, supplement, termination or waiver of this
Agreement or any Section of this Agreement is binding unless it is in writing and executed by the
Party to be bound. No waiver of, failure to exercise or delay in exercising, any Section of this
Agreement constitutes a waiver of any other Section (whether or not similar) nor does any waiver
constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.
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11.10 Assignment and Enurement

Neither this Agreement nor any right or obligation under this Agreement may be assigned by any
Party without the prior written consent of the other Parties, which consent will be within their sole
discretion. This Agreement enures to the benefit of and is binding upon the Parties and their
respective successors (including any successor by amalgamation or operation of law) and
permitted assigns.

11.11 Severability

Each Section of this Agreement is distinct and severable. If any Section of this Agreement, in
whole or in part, is or becomes illegal, invalid, void, voidable or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
by any court of competent jurisdiction, the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of that Section,
in whole or in part, will not affect:

@) the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining Sections of this Agreement,
in whole or in part; or

(b) the legality, validity or enforceability of that Section, in whole or in part, in any
other jurisdiction.

11.12 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed and delivered by the Parties in one or more counterparts, each
of which will be an original, and those counterparts will together constitute one and the same
instrument.

11.13 Electronic Execution

Delivery of this Agreement may be effected by one or more Parties by facsimile, e-mail or other
electronic transmission of the execution pages hereof to the other Parties. A Party or Parties so
delivering this Agreement will thereafter forthwith deliver to the other Parties original execution
pages hereof with its/their original signature(s) located thereon, provided, however, that any failure
by a Party or Parties to so deliver such original execution pages will not affect the validity or
enforceability hereof against that Party or Parties.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Each Party has executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date noted at the beginning of the

Agreement.

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
KITCHENER

"X\ NN

Per:

@me: Berry Vrbgnovic
ltle:  Mayor

Per; @J\

Name: Dianna Saunderson
Title: Deputy Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP
OF WILMOT

Per:

Name: Les Armstrong
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name: Dawn Mittelholtz

Title: Director of Information and
Legislative Services / Municipal
Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
WATERLOO

Per:

Name: Dave Jaworsky
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name: Julie Scott
Title: City Clerk

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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Each Party has executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date noted at the beginning of the
Agreement.

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
KITCHENER

Per:

Name: Berry Vrbanovic
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name: Dianna Saunderson
Title:  Deputy Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP

OF WILMOT . .
NS A el
- ) o r/,?r:f va Bl - Moe AM;Q
Per: ’

Name: Les Armstrong
Title: Mayor

Per:

Legislative Services / Municipal
Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
WATERLOO

Per:

Name: Dave Jaworsky
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name: Julie Scott
Title: City Clerk

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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Each Party has executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date noted at the beginning of the
Agreement.

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
KITCHENER

Per:

Name: Berry Vrbanovic
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name: Dianna Saunderson
Title: Deputy Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP
OF WILMOT

Per:

Name: Les Armstrong
Title: Mayor

Per:

Name; Dawn Mittelholtz
Title: Director of Information and

Legislative Services / Municipal
Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF
WATERLOO
npi::pz Dsiﬂgntd by Dave Jaworsky

v Jawoisky, 0=City of
Waterlo! f,
DG\]L Ot § emailed:
c=CA

P er. Date: 2022.01.12 11:47:57 0500

Name: Dave Jaworsky
Title: Mayor

2022.01.12

ot
J 4 09:36:50 -05'00"

Per:

Name: Julie Scott
Title:  City Clerk

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP
OF WOOLWICH

o

Per: A pA gc)/ug AN (3 -
Name: Sandy Shantz (-
Title: Mayor

Name: Jeff Smithy” /7"
Title:  Director of Corporate Services and
Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP
OF WELLESLEY

Per:

Name: Joe Nowak
Title: Mayor

Per:
Name: Grace Kosch
Title:  Municipal Clerk
KITCHENER POWER CORP.
Per:
Name: James C. Phillips
Title: Chair
Per:

Name: Jerry Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP

OF WOOLWICH
Per:
Name: Sandy Shantz
Tile: Mayor
Per:
Name: Jeff Smith
Title: Director of Corporate Services and
Clerk

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP
OF WELLESLEY

Per:

Name: Joe Nowak
Tilee Mayor

Per:

Name: Grace Kosch
Titlee Municipal Clerk

KITCHENER POWER CORP.

. ST

Name: James C. Phillips
Title: Chair

Per:

Name: Jeny Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Per:

Name: David Schnarr
Title: Chair

~

Per:

Name: Jenry Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

KITCHENER ENERGY SERVICESINC.

. sty

Name: James C. Phillips
Title: Chair
\ ) / / /

Per

Name: Jenry Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

WATERLOO NORTH HY DRO HOLDING
CORPORATION

Per

Name: W. David Petras
Titlee Chair

Per:

Name: Rene W. Gatien
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Per:

Name: David Schnarr
Title:  Chair

Per:

Name: Jerry Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

KITCHENER ENERGY SERVICES INC.

Per:

Name: James C. Phillips
Title:  Chair

Per:

Name: Jerry Van Ooteghem
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO HOLDING
CORPORATION )

WA

Per:

Name: W. David Petras
Title:  Chair

Name: Rene W. Gatien
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement



S-4

WATERLOO NORTH HYDRO INC.

m‘ci\r&d’ 53 Er'\‘

Per:

Name: Micheal J. Kelly
Title:  Chair

N (AN 7

Name: Rene W. Gatien
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

ALLIANCE METERING SOLUTIONS INC.

Per: %

Name: Stever licCartney
Title:  Chair

v (S WA

Name: Rene W. Gatien
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

Signature Page to Merger Participation Agreement



SCHEDULE 1.1
FORM OF SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT

See attached.



SCHEDULE 2.6(A)(IV)
ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE OF ADJUSTMENTS







SCHEDULE 2.6(B)
SHARE CAPITAL

A. COMMON SHARES

The following are the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Common
Shares:

1. Voting Rights: The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of
and to attend and vote at all meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation and shall be
entitled to one (1) vote per Common Share held, except meetings at which only holders of
another class of shares are entitled to vote.

2. Dividends: The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to receive dividends if, as
and when declared by the board of directors of the Corporation out of the assets of the
Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends in such amounts and payable
in such manner as the board of directors may from time to time determine.

3. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up: In the event of the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the
holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to participate rateably in any distribution
of the assets of the Corporation remaining after payment of the Total Class A Redemption
Amount to the holders of the Class A Special Shares or the payment of the Total Class B
Redemption Amount to the holders of the Class B Special Shares, as applicable.

The following are the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Class A Special
Shares:

1. Voting Rights: The holders of Class A Special Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice
of, attend or vote at any meeting of the Corporation’s shareholders.

2. No Dividends: The holders of the Class A Special Shares shall not be entitled to receive
any dividend payable by the Corporation.




“Merger Participation Agreement” means the merger participation agreement dated
January 12, 2022 among The Corporation of The City of Kitchener, The Corporation of
The Township of Wilmot, The Corporation of The City of Waterloo, The Corporation of
The Township of Woolwich, The Corporation of The Township of Wellesley, Kitchener
Power Corp., Kitchener Energy Services Inc., Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc., Waterloo
North Hydro Holding Corporation, Waterloo North Hydro Inc. and Alliance Metering
Solutions Inc.

“Net Adjustment Amount” has the meaning given to it in the Merger Participation
Agreement.
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“Pro Rata Portion” means in respect of any holder of Class A Special Shares, such
holder’s ownership percentage of Class A Special Shares reflected by a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of Class A Special Shares owned by such holder and the
denominator of which is the total number of issued and outstanding Class A Special Shares.

“Total Class A Redemption Amount” is defined in Section B.3 above.

4. Redemption by Corporation: If any holder of Class A Special Shares fails to deliver a
redemption notice as specified in Section B.3 above within 30 days following the
determination of the Net Adjustment Amount then the Corporation may, upon giving notice
as hereinafter provided, redeem at any time and from time to time all of the then outstanding
Class A Special Shares on payment of the Class A Redemption Amount for each share to
be redeemed.

Idem: In the case of redemption of Class A Special Shares by the Corporation, the Corporation
shall, at least 10 days before the intended redemption date, mail to each person who at the date of
mailing is a holder of the Class A Special Shares to be redeemed, a notice in writing of the
intention of the Corporation to redeem such shares. Such notice shall be mailed by prepaid mail,
addressed to each such holder at its address as it appears on the records of the Corporation or in
the event of the address of any such holder not so appearing, then to the last known address of
such holder; provided, however, that accidental failure to give any such notice to one or more of
such holders shall not affect the validity of such redemption. Such notice shall set out the Class A
Redemption Amount and the date on which redemption is to take place. On or after the date so
specified for redemption, the Corporation shall pay or cause to be paid to or to the order of the
holders of the Class A Special Shares to be redeemed the aggregate Class A Redemption Amount
for the Class A Special Shares called for redemption. Such payment by the Corporation shall be
made by way of a cheque payable at par at any branch of the Corporation’s bankers in Canada.
From and after the date specified for redemption in any such notice, the holders of the Class A
Special Shares called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any of the rights of holders of
Class A Special Shares in respect thereof, unless payment of the Class A Redemption Amount
for each Class A Special Share to be redeemed is not made, in which case the rights of the holders
of the said Class A Special Shares shall remain unaffected. The Corporation shall have the right
at any time after the mailing of notice of its intention to redeem the Class A Special Shares to
deposit the aggregate Class A Redemption Amount of the shares so called for redemption to a
special account in any chartered bank or in any trust company in Canada, named, in such notice,
to be paid without interest to or to the order of the respective holders of such Class A Special
Shares called for redemption, and upon such deposit being made or upon the date specified for
redemption in such notice, whichever is the later, the Class A Special Shares in respect whereof
such deposit shall have been made shall be redeemed and the rights of the holders thereof after
such deposit or such redemption date, as the case may be, shall be limited to receiving without
interest their proportionate part of the Total Class A Redemption Amount and any interest
allowed on such amount shall belong to the Corporation.

5. Notice: Where notice is required by the provisions hereof to be sent, the notice or the time
for the notice may be waived or abridged at any time with the consent in writing of the
person entitled thereto.
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Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up: In the event of the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the
holders of the Class A Special Shares will be entitled to receive from the assets of the
Corporation a sum equivalent to any then-outstanding Class A Redemption Amounts (if
any) owing to them before any amount is paid or any assets are distributed to the holders
of the Common Shares or shares of any class ranking junior to the Class A Special Shares.

The following are the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Class B Special

Shares:

1.

Voting Rights: The holders of Class B Special Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice
of, attend or vote at any meeting of the Corporation’s shareholders.

No Dividends: The holders of the Class B Special Shares shall not be entitled to receive
any dividend payable by the Corporation.




“Merger Participation Agreement” means the merger participation agreement dated
January 12, 2022 among The Corporation of The City of Kitchener, The Corporation of
The Township of Wilmot, The Corporation of The City of Waterloo, The Corporation of
The Township of Woolwich, The Corporation of The Township of Wellesley, Kitchener
Power Corp., Kitchener Energy Services Inc., Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc., Waterloo
North Hydro Holding Corporation, Waterloo North Hydro Inc. and Alliance Metering
Solutions Inc.

“Net Adjustment Amount” has the meaning given to it in the Merger Participation
Agreement.

“Pro Rata Portion” means in respect of any holder of Class B Special Shares, such
holder’s ownership percentage of Class B Special Shares reflected by a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of Class B Special Shares owned by such holder and the
denominator of which is the total number of issued and outstanding Class B Special Shares.

“Total Class B Redemption Amount” is defined in Section C.3 above.

4. Redemption by Corporation: If any holder of Class B Special Shares fails to deliver a
redemption notice as specified in Section C.3 above within 30 days following the
determination of the Net Adjustment Amount then the Corporation may, upon giving notice
as hereinafter provided, redeem at any time and from time to time all of the then outstanding
Class B Special Shares on payment of the Class B Redemption Amount for each share to
be redeemed.

Idem: In the case of redemption of Class B Special Shares by the Corporation, the Corporation
shall, at least 10 days before the intended redemption date, mail to each person who at the date of
mailing is a holder of the Class B Special Shares to be redeemed, a notice in writing of the
intention of the Corporation to redeem such shares. Such notice shall be mailed by prepaid mail,
addressed to each such holder at its address as it appears on the records of the Corporation or in
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the event of the address of any such holder not so appearing, then to the last known address of
such holder; provided, however, that accidental failure to give any such notice to one or more of
such holders shall not affect the validity of such redemption. Such notice shall set out the Class
B Redemption Amount and the date on which redemption is to take place. On or after the date so
specified for redemption, the Corporation shall pay or cause to be paid to or to the order of the
holders of the Class B Special Shares to be redeemed the aggregate Class B Redemption Amount
for the Class B Special Shares called for redemption. Such payment by the Corporation shall be
made by way of a cheque payable at par at any branch of the Corporation’s bankers in Canada.
From and after the date specified for redemption in any such notice, the holders of the Class B
Special Shares called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any of the rights of holders of
Class B Special Shares in respect thereof, unless payment of the Class B Redemption Amount for
each Class B Special Share to be redeemed is not made, in which case the rights of the holders of
the said Class B Special Shares shall remain unaffected. The Corporation shall have the right at
any time after the mailing of notice of its intention to redeem the Class B Special Shares to deposit
the aggregate Class B Redemption Amount of the shares so called for redemption to a special
account in any chartered bank or in any trust company in Canada, named, in such notice, to be
paid without interest to or to the order of the respective holders of such Class B Special Shares
called for redemption, and upon such deposit being made or upon the date specified for
redemption in such notice, whichever is the later, the Class B Special Shares in respect whereof
such deposit shall have been made shall be redeemed and the rights of the holders thereof after
such deposit or such redemption date, as the case may be, shall be limited to receiving without
interest their proportionate part of the Total Class B Redemption Amount and any interest allowed
on such amount shall belong to the Corporation.

5. Notice: Where notice is required by the provisions hereof to be sent, the notice or the time
for the notice may be waived or abridged at any time with the consent in writing of the
person entitled thereto.

6. Participation upon Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-Up: In the event of the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or other distribution of assets of
the Corporation among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, the
holders of the Class B Special Shares will be entitled to receive from the assets of the
Corporation a sum equivalent to any then-outstanding Class B Redemption Amounts (if
any) owing to them before any amount is paid or any assets are distributed to the holders
of the Common Shares or shares of any class ranking junior to the Class B Special Shares.



SCHEDULE 4.1
KW DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE

See attached.



Schedule 4.4 — Share Ownership, Etc.

(€)

Promissory Note dated November 27, 2001 issued by KWHI to Kitchener with a principal amount of
$70,997,576.00;

Promissory Note dated November 27, 2001 issued by KWHI to Wilmot with a principal amount of
$5,964,566.00;
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Schedule 4.10 — Corporate Records/Directors

(b)

KPC

Name of Director

Date of Most Recent Election

James Phillips June 1, 2021
Berry Vrbanovic June 1, 2021
Les Armstrong June 1, 2021
Dave Schnider June 1, 2021
Paul Singh June 1, 2021
Rosa Lupo June 1, 2021
Jerry Van Ooteghem | June 1, 2021

KWHI

Name of Director

Date of Most Recent Election

Dave Schnarr June 1, 2021
Berry Vrbanovic June 1, 2021
Les Armstrong June 1, 2021
Sandra MacGillivray June 1, 2021
Jim Beingessner June 1, 2021
Jacinda Reitsma June 1, 2021
Jerry Van Ooteghem June 1, 2021

i
i
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Schedule 4.12 — Financial Statements

See attached.
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Financial Statements of

Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.

And Independent Auditors’ Report thereon

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)



KPMG LLP

115 King Street South
2nd Floor

Waterloo ON N2J BA3
Canada

Tel 519-747-8800

Fax 519-747-8830

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholder of Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc.
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. (the Entity), which
comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

e the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

e the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

e and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Entity as December 31, 2020, and its financial performance and

its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“‘Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our
auditors’ report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

© 2020 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved



Page 2

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance
for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

L& y72.4
e —

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Waterloo, Canada

March 26, 2021



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Note 2020 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash 4 6,363 13,357
Accounts receivable 5 15,680 17,477
Unbilled revenue 29,865 27,648
Inventory 6 2,458 2,324
Prepaid expenses 1,146 1,347
Income taxes receivable - 131
Total current assets 55,512 62,284
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 7 275,014 259,864
Intangible assets 8 646 629
Total non-current assets 275,660 260,493
Total assets 331,172 322,777
Regulatory deferral account debit balances 10 19,661 9,400
Total assets and regulatory assets 350,833 332,177




KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Statement of Financial Position

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019

(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Note 2020 2019
Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 37,670 30,048
Income taxes payable 32 -
Current portion of long-term debt 11 - 607
Current portion customer deposits 13 8,945 9,366
Current portion of deferred revenue 1,069 952
Total current liabilities 47,716 40,973
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt 11 76,963 76,963
Employee future benefits 12 5,937 5,858
Long-term customer deposits 13 5,833 6,188
Deferred revenue 39,759 36,385
Deferred tax liability 9 4,415 2,536
Total non-current liabilities 132,907 127,930
Total liabilities 180,623 168,903
Shareholder's equity:
Share capital - common shares 14 63,689 63,689
Retained earnings 102,645 96,363
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (620) (620)
Total shareholder's equity 165,714 159,432
Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 346,337 328,335
Regulatory deferral account credit balances 10 2,276 2,307
Deferred taxes associated with regulatory accounts 2,220 1,535
Impact of COVID-19 26
Total equity, liabilities and shareholder's equity 350,833 332,177
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
Director Director




KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Note 2020 2019
Energy sales $ 239,962 $ 206,409
Cost of energy sold 245,909 207,393
(5,947) (984)
Other operating revenue
Distribution revenue 42,690 38,285
Other income 15 2,975 2,601
Net operating revenue 39,718 39,902
Expenses:
Operations and maintenance 11,112 11,253
Customer senices 5,313 4,474
Administration 5,376 4,165
Amortization 10,022 9,550
31,823 29,442
Other
Energy conservation program revenue (727) (1,676)
Energy conservation program expense 713 1,676
Net energy conservation programs (14) -
Finance income 16 (127) 417)
Finance charges 16 2,981 4,119
Net finance costs 2,854 3,702
Income before income taxes 5,055 6,758
Income tax expense 9 938 888
Income for the year before movements
in regulatory deferral account balances and OCI 4,117 5,870
Net movement in regulatory deferral account balances
related to profit or loss and the related deferred
tax movement 10 6,847 4,927
Other comprehensive loss 12 - (342)
Total comprehensive income for the year $ 10,964 $ 10,455

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated

Share capital other . Retallned Total
comprehensive earnings
income (loss)

Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 63,689 $ (278) $ 89,600 $ 153,011
Net income before other comprehensive income (loss) - - 10,797 10,797
Other comprehensive income (loss) - (342) - (342)
Dividends - - (4,034) (4,034)
Balance at December 31, 2019 63,689 (620) 96,363 159,432
Net income before other comprehensive income (loss) - - 10,964 10,964
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Dividends - - (4,682) (4,682)
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 63,689 $ (620) $ 102,645 $ 165,714

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Total comprehensive income for the year $ 10,964 $ 10,455
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used in) operations:
Amortization 10,752 10,251
Amortization of deferred revenue (1,016) (908)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (149) (36)
Income tax expense 938 888
Income taxes paid (797) (1,515)
Increase in employee future benefits 77 551
20,769 19,686
Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable 1,797 1,055
Unbilled revenue (2,216) (5,526)
Inventory (134) (375)
Prepaid expenses 201 (302)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,623 7,396
Other current liabilities (303) 1,339
Change in regulatory assets (10,261) (2,035)
Change in regulatory liabilities 654 (4,348)
Change in deferred tax 1,900 516
Net cash from operating activities 20,030 17,406
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment 151 40
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (25,536) (24,487)
Purchase of intangible assets (385) (315)
Net cash used in investing activities (25,770) (24,762)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in customer deposits (355) 52
Dividends paid out (4,682) (4,034)
Change in contributed capital received 4,390 4,383
Repayment of long-term debt (607) (1,176)
Net cash from financing activities (1,254) (775)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (6,994) (8,131)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 13,357 21,488
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,363 $ 13,357

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

1.

Reporting entity:

Kitchener-Wilmot Hydro Inc. (the “Corporation”) is a rate regulated, municipally owned hydro
distribution company incorporated under the laws of Ontario, Canada. The Corporation is located
in the City of Kitchener. The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 301 Victoria Street
South, Kitchener, Ontario, Canada.

The Corporation delivers electricity and related energy services to residential and commercial
customers in the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot. The Corporation is wholly owned
by Kitchener Power Corporation, which is itself wholly owned by the Corporation of the City of
Kitchener and the Corporation of the Township of Wilmot.

The financial statements are for the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Basis of presentation:
(a) Statement of compliance:

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). The financial statements were approved by the Board
of Directors on March 26, 2021.

(b) Basis of measurement:

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the
following:

(i) Where held, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, including those held
for trading, are measured at fair value.

(ii) Contributed assets are initially measured at fair value.
The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 22.
(c) Functional and presentation currency:

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation's
functional currency. All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded
to the nearest thousand.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from those estimates.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued):

(d)

(e)

Use of estimates and judgments (continued):

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in these financial statements is included in the
following notes:

i) Note 3(b) — Determination of the performance obligation for contributions from customers
and the related amortization period

i) Note 7 — Property, plant and equipment

iii) Note 9 — Deferred tax assets

iv) Note 12 — Employee future benefits

v) Note 17 — Commitments and contingencies

Rate regulation:

The Corporation is regulated by the Ontario Energy Board (“OEB”), under the authority granted
by the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998. Among other things, the OEB has the power and
responsibility to approve or set rates for the transmission and distribution of electricity, providing
continued rate protection for electricity consumers in Ontario, and ensuring that transmission
and distribution companies fulfill obligations to connect and service customers. The OEB may
also prescribe license requirements and conditions of service to local distribution companies
(“LDCs"), such as the Corporation, which may include, among other things, record keeping,
regulatory accounting principles, separation of accounts for distinct businesses, and filing and
process requirements for rate setting purposes.

Rate setting:
Distribution revenue and electricity rates

The OEB sets electricity prices for low-volume consumers based on an estimate of how much
it will cost to supply the province with electricity for the next year. All low volume customers
without a contract with an energy retailer are charged the OEB mandated rate for electricity. If
a customer (regardless of volume) has a retailer agreement, then retailer rates are charged
instead. All remaining consumers pay the market price for electricity. The Corporation is billed
for the cost of the electricity that its customers use and passes this cost on to the customer at
cost without a mark-up.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued):

(e) Rate regulation (continued):

For the distribution revenue included in electricity sales, the Corporation files a “Cost of Service”
(“COS”) rate application with the OEB every five years where rates are determined through a
review of the forecasted annual amount of operating and capital expenses, debt and
shareholder’s equity required to support the Corporation’s business. The Corporation
estimates electricity usage and the costs to service each customer class to determine the
appropriate rates to be charged to each customer class. The COS application is reviewed by
the OEB and intervenors and rates are approved based upon this review, including any
revisions resulting from that review.

In the intervening years, an Incentive Rate Mechanism application (“IRM”) is filed. An IRM
application results in a formulaic adjustment to distribution rates that were set under the last
COS application. The previous year’s rates are adjusted for the annual change in the Gross
Domestic Product Implicit Price Inflator for Final Domestic Demand (“GDP IPI-FDD”) net of a
productivity factor and a “stretch factor” determined by the relative efficiency of an electricity
distributor.

As a licensed distributor, the Corporation is responsible for billing customers for electricity
generated by third parties and the related costs of providing electricity service, such as
transmission services and other services provided by third parties. The Corporation is required,
pursuant to regulation, to remit such amounts to these third parties, irrespective of whether the
Corporation ultimately collects these amounts from customers.

The Corporation filed a COS application on April 30, 2019 for rates effective January 1, 2020
to December 31, 2020.

Electricity rates were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, distribution rates were unaffected,
which has been discussed further in Note 26.



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies:

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in all years presented in these
financial statements unless otherwise indicated.

(@)

Financial instruments:

At initial recognition, the Company measures its financial assets at fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of the financial asset depends on the classification determined on
initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as either amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss, depending on its business
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition,
unless the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. They
are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognized as an adjustment to interest expense over the period of the borrowings.

The Corporation has not entered into derivative instruments.
Hedge accounting has not been used in the preparation of these financial statements.

Cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturities of three months or less when
purchased.

Revenue recognition:
Sale and distribution of electricity

The performance obligations for the sale and distribution of electricity are recognized over time
using an output method to measure the satisfaction of the performance obligation. The value
of the electricity services transferred to the customer is determined on the basis of cyclical
meter readings plus estimated customer usage since the last meter reading date to the end of
the year and represents the amount that the Corporation has the right to bill. Revenue includes
the cost of electricity supplied, distribution, and any other regulatory charges. The related cost
of power is recorded on the basis of power used.

For customer billings related to electricity generated by third parties and the related costs of
providing electricity service, such as transmission services and other services provided by third
parties, the Corporation has determined that it is acting as a principal for these electricity
charges and, therefore, has presented electricity revenue on a gross basis.

10



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b)

Revenue recognition (continued):
Capital contributions

Developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction of distribution
assets in order to provide ongoing service. The developer is not a customer and therefore the
contributions are scoped out of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Cash
contributions, received from developers are recorded as deferred revenue. When an asset
other than cash is received as a capital contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair
value, with a corresponding amount recognized as deferred revenue. The deferred revenue,
which represents the Corporation's obligation to continue to provide the customers access to
the supply of electricity, is amortized to income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of
the related asset.

Certain customers are also required to contribute towards the capital cost of construction of
distribution assets in order to provide ongoing service. These contributions fall within the scope
of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The contributions are received to obtain
a connection to the distribution system in order receive ongoing access to electricity. The
Corporation has concluded that the performance obligation is the supply of electricity over the
life of the relationship with the customer which is satisfied over time as the customer receives
and consumes the electricity. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the useful
life of the related asset.

Other revenue
Revenue earned from the provision of services is recognized as the service is rendered.

Government grants and the related performance incentive payments under CDM programs are
recognized as revenue in the year when there is reasonable assurance that the program
conditions have been satisfied and the payment will be received.

Inventory:

Inventory, comprising material and supplies, the majority of which is consumed by the
Corporation in the provision of its services, is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value, with cost being determined on a weighted average cost basis, and includes expenditures
incurred in acquiring the material and supplies and other costs incurred in bringing them to their
existing location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses.

Property, plant and equipment:

Items of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) used in rate-regulated activities and acquired
prior to January 1, 2014 are measured at deemed cost established on the transition date, less
accumulated depreciation. All other items of PP&E are measured at cost, or, where the item is
transferred from customers, its fair value, less accumulated depreciation. Consistent with IFRS
1, the Corporation elected to use the carrying amount as previously

11



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued):

determined under Canadian GAAP as the deemed cost at January 1, 2014, the transition date
to IFRS.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an item of PP&E are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal, if any, with the carrying amount of the item of PP&E and are
recognized net within other income in profit or loss.

Major spare parts and standby equipment are recognized as items of PP&E.

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the
net book value of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within
the part will flow to the Corporation and its cost can be measured reliably. In this event, the
replaced part of property, plant and equipment is written off, and the related gain or loss is
included in profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment
are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount and is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part or component of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The depreciable amount is cost. Land is not depreciated.
Construction-in-progress assets are not amortized until the projects are complete and in
service.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20-50 years
Transformer station equipment 15-50 years
Distribution station equipment 15-50 years
Distribution system 25-60 years
Meters 15-25 years
SCADA equipment 15 years

Other capital assets 3-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.

12



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(e) Intangible assets
(i) Computer software:

Computer software that is acquired or developed by the Corporation, including software
that is not integral to the functionality of equipment purchased which has finite useful lives,
is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Land rights:

Payments to obtain rights to access land ("land rights") are classified as intangible assets.
These include payments made for easements, right of access and right of use over land
for which the Corporation does not hold title. Land rights are measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

(iii) Amortization:
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful

lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available
for use. The estimated useful lives are:

Computer software 3-10 years
Land rights 100 years

Amortization methods and useful lives of all intangible assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted prospectively if appropriate.

(f) Impairment:
(i) Financial assets:

A loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost
is recognized at the reporting date. The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to the lifetime expected credit losses for the asset.

13



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f)

Impairment (continued):

(i) Non-financial assets:

The carrying amounts of the Corporation's non-financial assets, other than inventories and
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount
is estimated.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating unit"). The
recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit
or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For assets other than goodwill,
impairment recognized in prior periods is assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

(g) Provisions:

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

14



KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(h) Regulatory deferral accounts:

Regulatory deferral account debit balances represent costs incurred in excess of amounts
billed to the customer at OEB approved rates. These amounts have been accumulated and
deferred in anticipation of their future recovery in electricity distribution rates. Regulatory
deferral account credit balances represent amounts billed to the customer at OEB approved
rates in excess of costs incurred by the Corporation.

Regulatory deferral account debit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings
in an amount at least equal to the capitalized cost will result from inclusion of that cost in
allowable costs for rate-making purposes. The offsetting amount is recognized in profit and
loss. The debit balance is reduced by the amount of customer billings as electricity is delivered
to the customer and the customer is billed at rates approved by the OEB for the recovery of the
capitalized costs.

Regulatory deferral account credit balances are recognized if it is probable that future billings
in an amount at least equal to the credit balance will be reduced as a result of rate-making
activities. The offsetting amount is recognized in profit and loss. The credit balance is reduced
by the amounts returned to customers as electricity is delivered to the customer at rates
approved by the OEB for the return of the regulatory account credit balance.

The probability of recovery or repayment of the regulatory account balances are assessed
annually based upon the likelihood that the OEB will approve the change in rates to recover or
repay the balance. Any resulting impairment loss is recognized in profit and loss in the year
incurred.

Regulatory deferral accounts attract interest at OEB prescribed rates. With the exception of
Pension and OEB Forecast Accrual accounts (OPEBSs), the rates from January to June 2020
were 2.18%, and July to December 2020 were 0.57%. Prior year rates from January to March
2019 were 2.45%, April to December 2019 were 2.18%.

In 2020, OPEBs were 2.88% for the period January to March, 2.48% for the period April to
September and 2.03% for period October to December. In 2019, OPEBs were 3.82% for the
period January to March, 3.39% for the period April — June and 2.88% for the period July to
December.
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(i) Employee future benefits:

(i)

Pension plan:

The Corporation provides a pension plan for all its full-time employees through Ontario
Municipal Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”). OMERS is a multi-employer
pension plan which operates as the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund (“the
Fund”), and provides pensions for employees of Ontario municipalities, local boards and
public utilities. The Fund is a contributory defined benefit pension plan, which is financed
by equal contributions from participating employers and employees, and by the investment
earnings of the Fund. To the extent that the Fund finds itself in an under-funded position,
additional contribution rates may be assessed to participating employers and members.

OMERS is a defined benefit plan. However, as OMERS does not segregate its pension
asset and liability information by individual employers, there is insufficient information
available to enable the Corporation to directly account for the plan. Consequently, the plan
has been accounted for as a defined contribution plan. Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in net
income when they are due.

Post-employment benefits, other than pension:

The Corporation provides some of its retired employees with life insurance and medical
benefits beyond those provided by government sponsored plans.

The cost of these benefits is expensed as earned by employees through employment
service. The accrued benefit obligations and the current service costs are actuarially
determined by applying the projected unit credit method and reflect management’s best
estimate of certain underlying assumptions. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
defined benefit plans are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income and
reported in retained earnings. When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the
increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognized in net income on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. In
circumstances where the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized
immediately in net income.
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):

()

Deferred revenue and assets transferred from customers:

Certain customers and developers are required to contribute towards the capital cost of
construction in order to provide ongoing service. When an asset is received as a capital
contribution, the asset is initially recognized at its fair value, with the corresponding amount
recognized as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue represents the Corporation's obligation to
continue to provide customers access to the supply of electricity, and is amortized to income
on a straight-line basis over the economic useful life of the acquired or contributed asset, which
represents the period of ongoing service to the customer.

Leased assets:

This policy is effective for periods before January 1, 2019. Refer to Note 24 for the change in
accounting policy to IFRS 16.

Leases, where the terms cause the Corporation to assume substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased
asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

All other leases are classified as operating leases and the leased assets are not recognized on
the Corporation’s balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognized in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance income and finance costs:

Finance income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance income comprises interest earned on cash and cash equivalents and on regulatory
assets.

Finance charges comprise interest expense on borrowings, finance lease obligations,
regulatory liabilities and unwinding of the discount on provisions and impairment losses on
financial assets. Finance costs are recognized as an expense unless they are capitalized as
part of the cost of qualifying assets.
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(m) Income taxes:

The income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in
equity, in which case, it is recognized in equity.

The Corporation is currently exempt from taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the
Ontario Corporations Tax Act (collectively the “Tax Acts”). Under the Electricity Act, 1998, the
Corporation makes payments in lieu of corporate taxes to the Ontario Electricity Financial
Corporation (“OEFC”). These payments are calculated in accordance with the rules for
computing taxable income and taxable capital and other relevant amounts contained in the
Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Corporations Tax Act (Ontario) as modified by the Electricity
Act, 1998, and related regulations. Prior to October 1, 2001, the Corporation was not subject
to income or capital taxes. Payments in lieu of taxes are referred to as income taxes.

Current tax is the tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method. Under this method, deferred
income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for accounting purposes, as well as for tax losses
available to be carried forward to future years that are likely to be realized. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates, at the reporting
date, expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment or
substantive enactment.

4. Cash:
2020 2019
Cash $ 6,363 $ 13,357
5. Accounts receivable:
2020 2019
Customer and other trade receivables $ 15,588 $ 17,252
Trade receivables from related parties 92 225
$ 15,680 $ 17,477

6. Inventory:

The amount of inventory consumed by the Corporation and recognized as an expense during 2020
was $279 (2019 - $363).
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KITCHENER-WILMOT HYDRO INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

7. Property, plant and equipment:

(a) Cost or deemed cost:

Land and Distribution  Other fixed Construction-

buildings equipment assets in-progress Total
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 24,729 $ 260,009 $ 12,976 $ 5487 $ 303,201
Additions 1,709 17,846 5,631 350 25,536
Transfers - - - - -
Disposals/Retirements (5) (62) (1,182) - (1,249)
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 26,433 $ 277,793 $ 17,425 $ 5837 $ 327,488

Land and Distribution  Other fixed Construction-

buildings equipment assets in-progress Total
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 24,463 $ 242,418 $ 8,850 $ 3622 $ 279,353
Additions 279 17,723 4,614 1,865 24,481
Transfers - - - - -
Disposals/Retirements (13) (132) (488) - (633)
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 24,729 $ 260,009 $ 12,976 $ 5,487 $ 303,201

(b) Accumulated depreciation:

Land and Distribution Other fixed Construction-

buildings equipment assets in-progress Total
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 2,718 $ 37,766 $ 2,853 $ - $ 43,337
Depreciation charge 716 8,317 1,351 - 10,384
Disposals/Retirements (5) (62) (1,180) - (1,247)
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 3,429 §$ 46,021 $ 3,024 § - $ 52,474

Land and Distribution  Other fixed Construction-

buildings equipment assets in-progress Total
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 2,053 $ 30,012 $ 2,069 $ - $ 34,124
Depreciation charge 678 7,886 1,282 - 9,846
Disposals/Retirements (13) (132) (488) - (633)
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2,718 $ 37,766 $ 2853 $ - $ 43,337
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

7. Property, plant and equipment (continued):

(c)

(e)

Carrying amounts:

Land and Distribution  Other fixed Construction-

buildings equipment assets in-progress Total
At December 31, 2020 $ 23,004 $ 231,772 $ 14,401 $ 5837 §$ 275,014
At December 31, 2019 $ 22,011 $ 222,243 $ 10,123 $ 5,487 §$ 259,864

Leased plant and equipment:

The Corporation does not have leases for plant or equipment.

Security:

At December 31, 2019, the Corporation had zero properties subject to a general security
agreement.

Borrowing costs:

During the year, borrowing costs of $ nil (2019 - $ nil) were capitalized as part of the cost of
property, plant and equipment.

Allocation of depreciation and amortization:

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment and the amortization of intangible assets
has been allocated to profit or loss as follows:

Operationsand Customer General and Energy
maintenance services administration Conservation
expense expense expense expense Other Total

December 31, 2020:
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment $ 717 $ 6 $ - 8 798 9,654 $ 10,384
Amortization of intangible
assets - - - - 368 368

$ 717 $ 6 $ - 8 7% 10,022 $ 10,752
December 31, 2019:
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment $ 688 $ 6 $ -8 78 9,145 § 9,846
Amortization of intangible
assets - - - - 405 405

$ 688 $ 6 $ - $ 7% 9,550 $ 10,251
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

8. Intangible assets:

(a) Cost or deemed cost:

Computer Land
Software  Rights Total

Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 3,120 $ 8 $ 3,128
Additions 385 - 385
Disposals - - -
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 3,505 $ 8 $ 3,513
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 2,802 $ 8 $ 2810
Additions 321 - 321
Disposals 4 - 4
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 3,119 § 8 $ 3127
(b) Accumulated amortization:

Computer Land

Software Rights Total
Balance at January 1, 2020 $ 2,491 § 8 $ 2499
Additions 368 - 368
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 2,859 § 8 $§ 2867
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 2,086 $ 8 $ 2,09
Additions 404 - 404
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2490 $ 8 $ 2498
(c) Carrying amounts:

Computer Land

Software Rights Total
At December 31, 2020 $ 646 $ - $ 646
At December 31, 2019 $ 629 $ - $ 629
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Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

9. Income tax expense:

2020 2019
Current period 1,292 $ 1,129
Adjustment for prior periods (332) (194)
960 $ 935
Deferred tax expense:
2020 2019
Original & reversal of temporary differences 1) $ 47)
Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences (1) -
(22) $ 47)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
2020 2019
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,964 $ 10,455
Total income tax expense 938 888
Comprehensive income before income taxes 11,902 11,343
Income tax using the Corporation's statutory tax rate of 26.5% 3,154 3,006
Temporary differences not benefitted (1,884) (1,924)
Under (over) provided in prior periods (332) (194)
938 $ 888
Significant components of the Corporation's deferred tax balances are as follows:
2020 2019
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Plant and equipment (16,989) $ (14,168)
Non-vested sick leave 168 168
Employee benefits 1,573 1,429
Ontario refundable tax credits 14 18
Actuarial gain/loss - 123
Deferred revenue - contributed capital 10,819 9,894
(4,415) $ (2,536)
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Year ended December 31, 2020
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

10. Regulatory deferral account balance:

The following is a reconciliation of the carrying amount for each class of regulatory deferral
account balances:

Balances Remaining
arising in the Recovery/ recovery/ reversal
2019 period Reversal Other 2020 period (years)
Regulatory deferral account debit balances
Group 1 deferred accounts $ 1,239 $ 2,202 $ 5428 $ (153) $ 8,716 Note 1, Note 3
Regulatory asset recovery account 630 285 (141) - 774 Note 1
Smart meter recovery 13 - (13) - - 1 Year
Deferred tax asset 5790 2,585 - - 8,375 Note 2
LRAM 837 1,728 (837) - 1,728 1 Year
Other 891 69 (892) - 68 1 Year
Total amount related to regulatory
deferral account debit balances $ 9,400 $ 6,869 $ 3,545 $ (153) $ 19,661
Balances Remaining
arising in the Recovery/ recovery/ reversal
2019 period Reversal Other 2020 period (years)
Regulatory deferral account credit balances
Group 1 deferred accounts $ 1,057 $ 975 $ (160) $ (152) $ 1,720 Note 1
Regulatory asset recovery account - - - - - Note 1
Other 1,250 2 (696) - 556 1 Year
Total amount related to regulatory
deferral account credit balances $ 2,307 $ 977 $ (856) $ (152) $ 2,276
2020 2019

Movements in regulatory accounts
Net change in regulatory deferral account
debit and credit balances $ 10,292 $ 6,677
Less movement related to the balance sheet

Deferred income tax (2,585) (933)

Deferred revenue (860) (817)

Net movement in regulatory deferral account balances related to profit or loss and the
related deferral tax movement

$ 6,847 $ 4,927

Note 1

Note 2

Note 3

KWHI expects to be approved for collection of these amounts in its 2021 filing for 2022
rates

KWHI has not sought approval for the disposition of this amount as changes in
underlying assumptions may reduce the amounts recorded in the account. KWHI may
seek refunds in the future.

In December 2020, KWHI was informed that beginning June 2015 charges were not
included in the monthly power bill for one delivery point for Transmission Network
Charges. KWHI has accrued a payable of $6 million, offset by a regulatory
asset. These monies are expected to begin being collected through a Board approved
rate rider in 2022.
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10. Regulatory deferral account balance (continued):

Note 4 COVID-19 Emergency Deferral

The COVID-19 emergency deferral account comprises of five sub-accounts
established to track incremental costs and lost revenues related to the COVID-19
pandemic: (i) Billing and System Changes as a Result of the Emergency Order
Regarding Time-of-Use Pricing, (ii) Lost Revenues Arising from the COVID-19
Emergency, (iii) Other Incremental Costs, (iv) Foregone Revenues from Postponing
Rate Implementation, and (v) Bad Debt.

On December 16, 2020, the OEB Staff released their proposal on the COVID-19
deferral accounts which introduces certain criteria to that may need to be satisfied for
amounts to be eligible for recovery. Based on this information, management believes
there is high uncertainty in regards to the recoverability of costs and lost revenues
related to government and OEB customer relief actions, and therefore a low probability
of recovery. Costs directly related to the implementation of safety measures as a result
of the COVID-19 pandemic were tracked. $69k has been recorded in the COVID-19
Emergency Deferral Account as at December 31, 2020.

11. Long-term debt:

Effective August 1, 2000, the Corporation incurred unsecured promissory notes payable to the
Corporation of the City of Kitchener and the Corporation of the Township of Wilmot, and have an
interest rate of 3.23% per annum. Interest is payable in quarterly installiments, in arrears, on March
31st, June 30™, September 30" and December 315t In 2019 the interest rate was 4.88%

Effective February 1, 2010, the Corporation incurred a ten year senior unsecured debenture
payable to Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation. An initial payment of $7,000 was received
February 1, 2010, followed by a second payment of $3 million on May 17, 2010. The debenture
had an interest rate of 4.28%, and interest was payable in equal semi-annual installments, in
arrears, on May 17" and November 17" each year commencing November 17, 2010. The
debenture was paid off in 2020 in accordance with the payment schedule.

2020 2019

Senior unsecured debentures:
City of Kitchener $ 70,998 $ 70,998
Township of Wilmot 5,965 5,965
Ontario Infrastructure Projects Corporation - 607
Senior unsecured debentures, net proceeds $ 76,963 $ 77,570
Less: current portion of long-term debt - $ (607)

L

Total long-term debt 76,963 $ 76,963
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12. Employee future benefits:

The Corporation pays certain medical and life insurance benefits on behalf of some of its retired
employees. The Corporation recognizes these post-retirement costs in the period in which
employees’ services were rendered. The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2020 of $5,937
was based on an actuarial valuation completed in 2020 using a discount rate of 3.1% (3.1% in
2019).

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit unfunded obligation and the accrued benefit
liability:

2020 2019
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 5,858 $ 5,305
Current senvice cost 192 160
Interest cost 178 202
Benefits paid during the year (291) (274)
Actuarial loss recognized in other - 465

comprehensive income

Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 5,937 $ 5,858
Components of net benefit expense recognized are as follows:

2020 2019
Current senice cost $ 192§ 160
Interest cost 178 202
Net benefit expense recognized $ 370 $ 362
Actuarial losses recognized in other comprehensive income:

2020 2019
Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (620) $ (278)
Recognized during the year (net of tax) - (342)
Cumulative amount at December 31 $ (620) $ (620)
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12. Employee future benefits (continued):

The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation are as follows (weighted average):

2020 2019
Accrued benefit obligation:
Discount rate 3.1% 3.1%
Benefit cost for the year: Age
Withdrawal rate 18-29 3.50% 3.50%
30-34 2.00% 2.00%
35-39 1.7% 1.7%
40-49 1.3% 1.3%
50-54 1.0% 1.0%
Assumed health care cost trend rates:
Initial health care cost trend rate Health 4.4% 4.2%
Dental 4.7% 4.5%

The approximate effect on the accrued benefit obligation of the entire plan and the estimated net benefit
expense of the entire plan if the health care trend rate assumption was increased or decreased by 1%,
and all other assumptions were held constant, is as follows:

Benefit Periodic
Obligation Benefit Cost

1% increase in health care trend rate $ 215 $ 22
1% decrease in health care trend rate $ (193) $ (19)

Historical Information
Amounts for the current and previous year, for the entire plan, are as follows:

2020 2019
Defined benefit obligation $ 5,937 $ 5,858
Experience adjustments $ - $ (342)
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12,

13.

Employee future benefits (continued):
The main actuarial assumptions utilized for the valuation are as follows:

General inflation - future general inflation levels, as measured by the changes in the Consumer
Price Index, were assumed at 2% in 2020, and thereafter (2019 - 2%).

Discount (interest) rate - the discount rate used to determine the present value of future liabilities
and the expense for the year ended December 31, 2020, was 3.1% (2019 - 3.1%).

Salary levels - future general salary and wage levels were assumed to increase at 3.3% (2019 -
3.3%) per annum.

Medical costs - medical costs were assumed to be 4.4% for 2020, (2019 - 4.5%) increasing annually
to 4.9% in 2022.

Dental costs - dental costs were assumed to be 4.7% for 2020 increasing annually to 5.1% in 2022.

Customer and IESO deposits:

Customer deposits represent cash deposits from electricity distribution customers and retailers, as
well as construction deposits.

Deposits from electricity distribution customers are refundable to customers who demonstrate an
acceptable level of credit risk as determined by the Corporation in accordance with policies set out
by the OEB or upon termination of their electricity distribution service.

Construction deposits represent cash prepayments for the estimated cost of capital projects
recoverable from customers and developers. Upon completion of the capital project, these deposits
are transferred to deferred revenue.

The Corporation delivers conservation and demand management programs for its customers on
behalf of the IESO. Prepayments received from the IESO have been recorded and will be
transferred to revenue as programs are delivered and the revenue is earned.

The deposits comprise:

2020 2019
Customer deposits $ 6,424 $ 7,414
Construction deposits 7,196 6,982
IESO deposit for energy conservation programs 1,158 1,158
Total customer deposits $ 14,778 $ 15,554
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14. Share capital:

2020 2019
Authorized:
Unlimited number of common shares
Issued:
10,000 common shares 63,689 $ 63,689

Dividends:

The holders of the common shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time.
The Corporation paid aggregate dividends in the year on common shares of $4,682 (2019 -

$4,034).

15. Other operating revenue:

Other income comprises:

2020 2019
Specific senice charges 1,552 $ 1,375
Deferred revenue 1,016 908
Scrap sales 101 190
Net gain on disposal of capital assets 149 36
Retailer senices 48 44
Sundry 109 48
Total other income 2975 $ 2,601
16. Finance income and expense:
2020 2019
Interest income on bank deposits 127 $ 417
Finance income 127 417
Interest expense on long-term debt 2,496 3,816
Interest expense on short-term debt 271 -
Interest expense on BMO letter of credit 123 122
Interest expense on deposits 9 170
Other - 11
2,981 4,119
Net finance costs recognized in profit or loss 2854 $ 3,702
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17. Commitments and contingencies:

18.

19.

20.

Contractual Obligations
There are no contractual obligations.
General

From time to time, the Corporation is involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary
course of its business. The Corporation has no reason to believe that the disposition of any such
current matter could reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse impact on the
Corporation’s financial position, results of operations or its ability to carry on any of its business
activities.

General Liability Insurance:

The Corporation is a member of the Municipal Electric Association Reciprocal Insurance Exchange
(MEARIE). MEARIE is a pooling of public liability insurance risks of many of the LDCs in Ontario.
All members of the pool are subjected to assessment for losses experienced by the pool for the
years in which they were members, on a pro-rata basis based on the total of their respective service
revenues. As at December 31, 2020, no assessments have been made.

Guarantees:

Guarantees are not applicable to the Corporation.

Pension agreement:

The Corporation provides a pension plan for its employees through OMERS. The plan is a multi-
employer, contributory defined pension plan with equal contributions by the employer and its
employees. In 2020, the Corporation made employer contributions of $1,723 to OMERS (2019 -
$1,661). The Corporation’s net benefit expense has been allocated as follows:

(a) $449 (2019 - $459) capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment;
(b) $1,274 (2019 - $1,202) charged to net income.

The Corporation estimates that a contribution of $1,739 to OMERS will be made during the next
fiscal year.

Employee benefits:

2020 2019
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 19,684 $ 19,022
CPP and El remittances 732 722
Contributions to OMERS 1,723 1,661
Expenses related to defined benefit plans 370 361

$ 22,509 $ 21,766
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21. Related party transactions:
(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party:

The sole shareholder of the Corporation is Kitchener Power Corp., which in turn is wholly-
owned by the Corporation of the City of Kitchener and the Corporation of the Township of
Wilmot. The City and the Township produce financial statements that are available for public
use.

(b) Entity with significant influence:

The Corporation of the City of Kitchener exercises significant influence over the Corporation
through its 92.25% ownership interest in the Corporation.

(c) Key management personnel:

The key management personnel of the Corporation have been defined as members of its board
of directors and executive management team members, and is summarized below.

2020 2019
Directors' fees $ 67 $ 58
Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,061 993
Post employment benefits 19 18
Other long-term benefits (OMERS) 90 84

$ 1,237 $ 1,153

(d) Transactions with entity with significant influence:

In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation delivers electricity to the Corporation of the
City of Kitchener. Electricity is billed to the Corporation of the City of Kitchener at prices and
under terms approved by the OEB.

(e) Transactions with ultimate parent (the Corporation of the City of Kitchener):
In 2020, the Corporation had the following significant transactions with its ultimate parent, a
government entity:

e construction

o streetlight maintenance services under contract through a related party, Kitchener
Energy Services Inc.
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22. Financial instruments and risk management:
Fair value disclosure

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. The carrying values of receivables, and
accounts payable and accrued charges approximate fair value because of the short maturity of
these instruments. The carrying value of the customer deposits approximates fair value because
the amounts are payable on demand.

The fair value of the long term debt (senior unsecured debentures issued by the shareholders
(Corporation of the City of Kitchener and Corporation of the Township of Wilmot) approximates the
carrying value due to the short term nature of the loan.

The fair value of the long term debt (senior unsecured debentures) issued by Ontario Infrastructure
Projects Corporation at December 31, 2020 is zero (2019 - $607). The final loan balance was paid
in full in 2020. The fair value prior to 2020 was calculated based on the present value of future
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the current rate of interest at the reporting date.
The interest rate used to calculate fair value at was 4.28%.

Financial risks

The Corporation understands the risks inherent in its business and defines them broadly as
anything that could impact its ability to achieve its strategic objectives. The Corporation’s exposure
to a variety of risks such as credit risk, interest rate risk, and liquidity risk, as well as related
mitigation strategies are discussed below.

(a) Credit risk:

Financial assets carry credit risk that a counterparty will fail to discharge an obligation which
could result in a financial loss. Financial assets held by the Corporation, such as accounts
receivable, expose it to credit risk. The Corporation earns its revenue from a broad base of
customers located in the City of Kitchener and the Township of Wilmot. As of December 31,
2020, two customers accounted for more than 1% of total accounts receivable, totaling $341
(or 2.2%) out of a total accounts receivable of $15,680.

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for
impairment and the amount of the related impairment loss is recognized in net income.
Subsequent recoveries of receivables previously provisioned are credited to net income. The
balance of the allowance for impairment at December 31, 2020 is $500 (2019 - $250). The
allowance was increased due to an expected increase in Covid-19 related bad debt. An
impairment loss of $793 (2019 - $44) was recognized during the year. This included a
significant loss of $385 as a result of the bankruptcy of a single customer in 2020, in addition
to a general increase due to the pandemic lockdowns. The future impact of the pandemic
remains uncertain.
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued):

(a) Credit risk (continued):

The Corporation’s credit risk associated with accounts receivable is primarily related to
payments from distribution customers. At December 31, 2020, approximately $314 (2019 -
$245) is considered 60 days past due. The Corporation has over 99 thousand customers, the
majority of whom are residential. Credit risk is managed through collection of security deposits
from customers in accordance with directions provided by the OEB. As at December 31, 2020,
the Corporation holds security deposits in the amount of $14,800 (2019 - $15,600).

Market risk:

Market risks primarily refer to the risk of loss resulting from changes in commaodity prices,
foreign exchange rates, and interest rates. The Corporation currently does not have any
material commodity or foreign exchange risk. The Corporation is exposed to fluctuations in
interest rates as the regulated rate of return for the Corporation’s distribution business is
derived using a complex formulaic approach which is in part based on the forecast for long-
term Government of Canada bond yields. This rate of return is approved by the OEB as part of
the approval of distribution rates.

A 1% increase in the interest rate at December 31, 2020 would have increased interest
expense on the long-term debt by $nil (2019 - $6), assuming all other variables remain constant
as the Infrastructure Ontario loan was paid in full during the year. A 1% decrease in the interest
rate would have an equal but opposite effect.

Liquidity risk:

The Corporation monitors its liquidity risk to ensure access to sufficient funds to meet
operational and investing requirements. The Corporation’s objective is to ensure that sufficient
liquidity is on hand to meet obligations as they fall due while minimizing interest exposure. The
Corporation has access to a $35,000 credit facility and monitors cash balances daily to ensure
that a sufficient level of liquidity is on hand to meet financial commitments as they come due.
As at December 31, 2020, no amounts had been drawn under Bank of Montreal credit facility
(2019 - $nil).

The Corporation also has a bilateral facility for $35,000 (the “LC” facility) for the purpose of
issuing letters of credit mainly to support the prudential requirements of the IESO, of which
$35,000 has been drawn and posted with the IESO (2019 - $35,000).

The maijority of accounts payable, as reported on the balance sheet, are due within 30 days.

The Company’s currently available liquidity is also expected to be sufficient to address any
reasonably foreseeable impacts that the COVID-19 pandemic may have on the Company’s
cash requirements.
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22. Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
(d) Capital disclosures:

The main objectives of the Corporation, when managing capital, are to ensure ongoing access
to funding to maintain and improve the electricity distribution system, compliance with
covenants related to its credit facilities, prudent management of its capital structure with regard
for recoveries of financing charges permitted by the OEB on its regulated electricity distribution
business, and to deliver the appropriate financial returns.

The Corporation’s definition of capital includes shareholder’s equity and long-term debt. As at
December 31, 2020, shareholder’s equity amounts to $165,714 (2019 - $159,432) and long-
term debt amounts to $76,963 (2019 - $76,963).

23. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Corporation generates revenue primarily from the sale and distribution of electricity to its
customers. Other sources of revenue include performance incentive payments under CDM

programs
2020 2019
Revenue from Contracts with Customers $ 284,230 $ 246,092
Other Revenue:
CDM programs 727 1,676
Other 1,524 1,620
Total $ 286,481 $ 249,388

In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by type of

customer.

2020 2019
Residential $ 127,780 $ 93,701
Commercial 153,515 149,386
Large Users 1,346 1,448
Other 1,589 1,557
Total Revenue $ 284,230 $ 246,092
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24,

25.

Change in Accounting Policy

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued the following Standards,
Interpretations and Amendments to Standards that were adopted by the Company effective
January 1, 2020:

e Amendments to Hedge Accounting Requirements - IBOR Reform and its Effects on Financial
Reporting (Phase 1)

¢ Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
o Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

e Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

e Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16)

The amendments and clarifications did not have an impact on the financial statements.

Future accounting pronouncements:

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective,
Standards and amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the
IASB. None of these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted early by
the Company and it is still to be determined if any will have a material impact on the Company's
financial statements.

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment -- Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)

On May 14, 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment -- Proceeds before Intended
Use (Amendments to IAS 16). The amendments clarify that proceeds from selling items before
the related item of Property, Plant and Equipment is available for use should be recognised in
profit or loss, together with the cost of producing those items. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early adoption is permitted.

(b) Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37)

On May 14, 2020, the IASB issued Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a Contract
(Amendments to IAS 37). This amendment clarifies which costs are included as a cost of
fulfilling a contract when determining whether a contract is onerous. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and apply to contracts
existing at the date when the amendments are first applied. Early adoption is permitted.
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25. Future accounting pronouncements (continued):

(c) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 -2020

On May 14, 2020, the IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 -2020.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early
adoption is permitted.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Clarifies which fees are included for the purpose of performing the 10 per cent test' for
derecognition of financial liabilities.

IFRS 16 Leases

Removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements.

The impact of adoption of these improvements is not expected to have an impact on the
business.

(d) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16)

On August 27, 2020, the IASB finalized its response to the ongoing reform of inter-bank o